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This Grant Thornton LLP document provides information and comments on current accounting issues and 

developments as of December 31, 2018. It is not a comprehensive analysis of the subject matter covered 

and is not intended to provide accounting or other advice with respect to the matters addressed. This 

document supports Grant Thornton LLPôs marketing of professional services, and is not written 

accounting or tax advice directed at the particular facts and circumstances of any person. If you are 

interested in the subject of this document we encourage you to contact us or an independent accounting 

or tax adviser to discuss the potential application to your particular situation. All relevant facts and 

circumstances, including the pertinent authoritative literature, need to be considered to arrive at 

conclusions that comply with matters addressed in this document. 

Moreover, nothing herein shall be construed as imposing a limitation on any person from disclosing the 

tax treatment or tax structure of any matter addressed herein. To the extent this document may be 

considered to contain written tax advice, any written advice contained in, forwarded with, or attached to 

this document is not intended by Grant Thornton LLP to be used, and cannot be used, by any person for 

the purpose of avoiding penalties that may be imposed under the Internal Revenue Code.  

For additional information on topics covered in this document, contact your Grant Thornton LLP Adviser.  
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Preface 

Over 120 countries currently require or permit the use of International Financial Reporting Standards, or 

IFRS® Standards. Although public entities in the United States are required to apply U.S. GAAP, certain 

foreign private issuers apply IFRS Standards to their financial information filed with the Securities and 

Exchange Commission (SEC). 

While the SEC accepts the financial statements of foreign private issuers prepared using IFRS Standards 

as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (Board), a difference in reporting 

requirements with domestic issuers remains, and there is currently no plan for bridging this gap. Standard 

setters and regulators continue to emphasize the value of converged accounting standards, citing the 

revenue recognition and leasing standards issued in the past few years as an example of convergence at 

work. However, consistency and comparability of published financial results for domestic versus foreign 

private issuers remains a topic of discussion. 

Thus, it is incumbent on preparers, auditors, and regulators to be aware of the differences that currently 

exist between IFRS Standards and U.S. GAAP. 

We have prepared the Comparison between U.S. GAAP and IFRS® Standards (Comparison) to help 

readers grasp some of the major similarities and differences between IFRS Standards and U.S. GAAP. 

More emphasis is placed on recognition, measurement, and presentation guidelines, and less emphasis 

is placed on disclosure requirements. As more fully explained in Section 1, ñIntroduction,ò this 

Comparison covers only those differences that we believe are most commonly encountered in practice. 

The Comparison includes standards issued as of December 31, 2018. Recently issued guidance 

included in this Comparison but that is not yet effective has been shaded in the tables below for 

those entities that may wish to early adopt the guidance, if permitted. We have included Appendices 

that list the titles of all IFRS Standards and U.S. GAAP standards, as well as SEC rules, regulations, and 

practices, that are referred to in this document. 

The Comparison is written by the Accounting Principles Group of Grant Thornton LLP. The contributors 

are Sheri Fabian, Partner and Carolyn Warger, Senior Manager. 

Portions of FASB Accounting Standards Codification® material included in this work are copyrighted by 

the Financial Accounting Foundation, 401 Merritt 7, Norwalk, CT 06856, and are reproduced with 

permission. 
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1. Introduction 

1.1  International standards and the Board  

The International Accounting Standards Board (the Board) is responsible for the preparation and 

issuance of IFRS Standards. Upon its inception in 2001, the Board adopted the body of International 

Accounting Standards (IAS®) issued by its predecessor, the International Accounting Standards 

Committee (IASC). 

The IFRS Interpretations Committee assists the Board in establishing and improving standards of 

financial accounting and reporting for the benefit of users, preparers, and auditors of financial statements. 

The IFRS Interpretations Committee was established in 2002 when it replaced its predecessor, the 

Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC®). 

Under IFRS Standards, when a standard or an interpretation specifically applies to a transaction, other 

event, or condition, an entity would apply that guidance as well as any relevant implementation guidance 

issued by the Board. In this document, the term ñIFRS Standardsò refers collectively to standards issued 

by the Board, IAS® Standards issued by the IASC, and IFRIC® Interpretations issued by the IFRS 

Interpretations Committee and the SIC. A summary of each type of authoritative standard and its issuing 

body is provided in the table below 

Name of standard Abbreviation Issuing body 

International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 
International Accounting Standards 

Board 

International Accounting Standards IAS 
International Accounting Standards 

Committee 

IFRIC Interpretation IFRIC 
International Financial Reporting 

Interpretations Committee 

SIC Interpretation SIC Standing Interpretations Committee 

 

The Board uses the guidance in the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting to develop or revise 

IFRS Standards as it establishes the underlying concepts for the preparation and presentation of financial 

statements and the recognition and measurement requirements in IFRS Standards. 

In March 2018, the Board issued a revised version of Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, 

which includes a new chapter on measurement, guidance on reporting financial performance, improved 

definitions (including the definition of a liability) and guidance, and clarifications in other areas. At the 

same time, the Board issued Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS 

Standards to update references in IFRS Standards that currently apply to the previous version of the 

Conceptual Framework.  
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In September 2017, the Board issued Practice Statement 2, Making Materiality Judgements to provide 

non-mandatory guidance to assist management in applying the concept of materiality to general purpose 

financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS Standards. The Statement discusses a four step 

model to apply to materiality judgments and provides guidance for application of materiality concepts in 

specific situations, such as prior period information, errors, and interim financial reporting.   

In October 2018 the Board issued Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8), which amends 

IAS 1 and IAS 8 to clarify the definition of ñmaterialò that entities should apply when making judgments 

about materiality. The amendments define ñmaterialò as ñInformation is material if omitting, misstating or 

obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions that the primary users of general 

purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which provide financial 

information about a specific reporting entity.ò In contrast, existing guidance states that ñOmissions or 

misstatements of items are material if they could, individually or collectively, influence the economic 

decisions that users make on the basis of the financial statements.ò Entities should apply the 

amendments prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020. Earlier application is 

permitted, with disclosure required. Differences remain between the Boardôs definition of materiality and 

the definition for U.S. GAAP issued by the FASB in August (see discussion in next Section).  

1.2  Financial accounting and reporting in the United States  

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) is the designated private-sector body responsible for 

establishing and improving standards of financial accounting and reporting in the United States for 

nongovernmental public and private enterprises, including small businesses and not-for-profit 

organizations. Those standards, collectively referred to as U.S. GAAP, govern the preparation of financial 

reports and are provided for the guidance and education of the public, including issuers, auditors, and 

users of financial information. The FASB Accounting Standards CodificationTM is the sole source of 

authoritative nongovernmental GAAP, except SEC guidance. 

SEC registrants must also comply with the Commissionôs financial reporting requirements, including those 

promulgated in SEC Regulations S-X and S-K, Financial Reporting Releases (FRR), and Staff Accounting 

Bulletins (SAB). The SABs represent practices followed by the staff in administering SEC disclosure 

requirements. 

In 1984, the FASB formed the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) to assist the FASB in timely 

identification, discussion, and resolution of financial accounting issues within the framework of U.S. 

GAAP. The EITF was designed to minimize the need for the FASB to spend time and effort addressing 

narrow implementation, application, or other emerging issues that can be analyzed within existing U.S. 

GAAP. Items discussed by the EITF that cannot be resolved within the existing standards are referred to 

the FASB for discussion and potential rulemaking activity.  

In 2012, the Financial Accounting Foundation established the Private Company Council (PCC) to improve 

the standard setting process in the U.S. for private companies. The PCC is responsible for working with 

the FASB to establish criteria to decide whether and when to make exceptions or modifications to U.S. 

GAAP for private companies, and serves as the primary advisory body on private companies to the 

FASB. 
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The final Accounting Standards Updates (ASUs) related to changes to U.S. GAAP for private companies 

are listed in Appendix C. 

In December 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-12, Definition of a Public Business Entity, which adds a 

definition of a public business entity to the Master Glossary. The definition is used by the FASB, the EITF, 

and the PCC in setting the scope of future financial accounting and reporting guidance in U.S. GAAP. The 

amendments, however, do not impact GAAP that existed prior to the effective date of ASU 2013-12. The 

definition of a public business entity is different than the definitions of small and medium-sized entities 

used by the Board in providing financial accounting and reporting alternatives for those entities. The 

definition of small and medium-sized entities under IFRS for SMEs® focuses on whether an entity has 

public accountability rather than on a cost-benefit basis as used by the FASB in setting accounting and 

reporting guidance for private entities. 

The FASB uses the guidance in the Conceptual Framework (or ñConcept Statementsò) in selecting 

transactions, events, and circumstances to be accounted for, how they should be recognized, and how 

they should be summarized and reported under U.S. GAAP. The Concept Statements provide a 

framework that the FASB uses in creating new accounting standards or changing existing U.S. GAAP. 

In August 2018 the FASB issued two updates to Concept Statements. The first is Concepts Statement 8, 

Conceptual Framework for Financial ReportingðChapter 8, Notes to Financial Statements, which 

discusses the information that the FASB should consider when determining items to include in the notes 

to financial statements. This new chapter describes the purpose of the notes to financial statements, 

limitations on the information in the notes to financial statements, and the general types of information to 

be included in the notes to financial statements. It also considers disclosures in financial statements for 

interim periods, as well as disclosures in annual financial statements. The second is an amendment to 

Concepts Statement 8, Conceptual Framework for Financial ReportingðChapter 3, Qualitative 

Characteristics of Useful Financial Information, which reinstates the definition of materiality from in 

Concepts Statement 2, Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information, and adds language similar 

to that in Concepts Statement 2 discussing 

¶ How materiality differs from relevance 

¶ That materiality assessments can be properly made only by those with an understanding of the 

reporting entityôs pertinent facts and circumstances 

The FASBôs updates bring the definition of materiality in the Concept Statements in line with the definition 

of materiality used by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), the auditing standards of the 

Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) and the American Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants (AICPA), and the United States judicial system. Differences remain between the FASBôs 

definition of materiality and the definition for IFRS issued by the Board in October (see discussion in 

previous Section). 

The FASBôs agenda includes projects to build on existing concepts in the Conceptual Framework in the 

areas of measurement, financial statement elements, and presentation. The FASB is developing 

concepts to establish standards for determining measurements, including the definitions of key terms and 

what the objectives and qualitative characteristic imply for measurement, identifying appropriate types of 
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measurement, and determining which measurements to use in specific circumstances. As a result of this 

project, an additional project to revisit the definitions of financial statement elements was started. Both of 

these projects remain in the initial deliberations phase. In August 2016, the FASB issued proposed 

Concepts Statement 8, Conceptual Framework for Financial ReportingðChapter 7, Presentation, on how 

recognized items are to be presented in a financial statement. The proposed ASU includes guidance on 

how to group information in the financial statements, updates to the association between changes in 

assets, liabilities and equity instruments, and related financial presentation. 

1.3  IFRS Standards and U.S. GAAP comparison  

This Comparison highlights some significant U.S. GAAP and IFRS Standards requirements, as well as 

the major similarities and differences between the two sets of standards. While not an exhaustive listing, 

this document highlights some of the more significant differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS 

Standards that we believe are most commonly encountered in practice. The Comparison may be helpful 

to individuals that are new to IFRS Standards who are trying to gain an appreciation of the more 

significant requirements of IFRS Standards and how these requirements differ from those in the United 

States. Disclosure requirements are not addressed, except in some exceptional cases where those 

requirements constitute major differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS Standards. This Comparison 

has been updated for standards issued as of December 31, 2018. Effective dates for standards 

vary and are generally noted where relevant. 

Companies reporting under requirements established for the European Union must comply with IFRS 

Standards as adopted by the European Commission (EC). Those standards may differ from IFRS 

Standards as issued by the Board because of the timing or scope of endorsement by the EC. Other 

jurisdictions may have similar endorsement-related differences. Such differences are not addressed in 

this document. 

This Comparison does not address industry-specific requirements for banks, other financial institutions, 

insurance companies, not-for-profit organizations, retirement benefit plans, extractive industries, rate 

regulated activities, or agriculture. In particular, the following IFRS Standards have not been included in 

the document due to their specialized nature: 

¶ IFRS 4, Insurance Contracts 

¶ IFRS 6, Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources 

¶ IFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts 

¶ IFRS 17, Insurance 

¶ IAS 26, Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans 

¶ IAS 41, Agriculture 

¶ IFRIC 20, Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine 
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In addition, the Comparison does not include IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International Financial 

Reporting Standards, as well as International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized 

Entities (IFRS for SMEs). IFRS 1 covers the requirements for applying IFRS Standards in a companyôs 

first financial statements prepared using IFRS Standards. It starts with the basic premise that an entity 

applies IFRS Standards for the first time on a fully retrospective basis. However, acknowledging the cost 

and complexity of that approach, the standard then establishes various exemptions for topics where 

retrospective application would be too burdensome or impractical (for example, business combinations 

and pension liabilities). The Board has undertaken a project titled Subsidiary as a First-time Adopter 

(IFRS 1) that tentatively proposes to require a subsidiary applying IFRS for the first time to measure 

cumulative translation differences using the amounts reported by its parent, based on the parentôs date of 

transition to IFRS standards. The next step is expected to be the issuance of an exposure draft of the 

proposed amendment.  

IFRS 14, Regulatory Deferral Accounts permits a first-time adopter of IFRS Standards who recognized 

regulatory deferral account balances in their financial statements to continue to account for regulatory 

deferral account balances under its previous GAAP. IFRS 14 is an interim standard enacted while the 

Board continues to consider the development of guidance for rate-regulated entities, as none currently 

exists. Guidance on accounting for rate-regulated entities under U.S. GAAP is found in ASC 980 

Regulated operations. 

IFRS for SMEs is designed to meet the financial reporting needs of entities that (a) do not have public 

accountability and (b) publish general purpose financial statements for external users. The term ñsmall 

and medium-sized entitiesò is not associated with any size criteria. The standard has essentially been 

designed to work as a stand-alone document, with no mandatory cross-references to full IFRS Standards. 

IFRS for SMEs often permits simplified recognition and measurement requirements and reduces the 

amount of disclosures compared to full IFRS Standards. In May 2015, the Board issued amendments to 

the IFRS for SMEs, based on the results of an initial comprehensive review of the guidance. The most 

significant changes to the guidance are to: 

¶ Allow an option to use the revaluation model for property, plant and equipment  

¶ Align the recognition and measurement requirements for deferred income tax with IAS 12 

¶ Align the recognition and measurement requirements for exploration and evaluation assets with 

IFRS 6 

The amendments to the IFRS for SMEs became effective for annual periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2017. 

This Comparison is only a guide; it is not all-encompassing. For the complete details of IFRS Standards 

and U.S. GAAP requirements, as well as SEC rules, regulations, and practices, readers should refer to 

the complete text of the standards, rules, regulations, and practices themselves.  
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2. Overall financial statement presentation 

2.1  General  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance: IAS 1 Relevant guidance: ASC 205 and 505; SEC 

Regulation S-X, Article 3 

An entity applies IAS 1 in preparing and presenting 

general purpose f inancial statements in accordance w ith 

IFRS Standards (IAS 1.2). 

The guidance on the presentation of f inancial 

statements is primarily included in the FASB 

Codif ication (ASC 205 through 280). SEC registrants 

are also required to follow  the guidance in SEC 

Regulations, such as Regulation  

S-X and S-K. 

Financial statements comprise (IAS 1.10): 

¶ Statement of f inancial position as at the end of the 

period 

¶ Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income for the period 

¶ Statement of changes in equity for the period 

¶ Statement of cash f low s for the period 

¶ Notes, comprising a summary of signif icant 

accounting policies and other explanatory information 

¶ Comparative information for the preceding period as 

specif ied in IAS 1.38 and .38A 

¶ An additional statement of f inancial position at 

beginning of preceding period w hen an entity applies 

an accounting policy retrospectively or makes a 

retrospective restatement of items in its f inancial 

statements, or reclassif ies items in its f inancial 

statements in accordance w ith IAS 1.40A through 

.40D 

Financial statements comprise (ASC 205-10-45-1A): 

¶ Statement of f inancial position / balance sheet 

¶ Income statement 

¶ Statement that displays total comprehensive 

income either in a single continuous f inancial 

statement or in tw o separate but consecutive 

f inancial statements (ASC 220-10-45-1). 

¶ Statement of changes in stockholdersô equity. 

Alternatively, disclosure of changes in the 

separate accounts comprising stockholdersô 

equity (in addition to retained earnings) could be 

made in the notes to f inancial statements (ASC 

505-10-50-2). 

¶ Statement of cash f low s (limited exemptions; 

see Section 2.5, ñStatement of cash flowsò) 

¶ Notes to f inancial statements 

¶ Unlike IFRS Standards, no similar requirement 

for a third balance sheet 

Except w hen IFRS Standards permit or require otherw ise, 

present comparative information for the preceding period 

for all amounts reported in current periodôs financial 

statements. Include comparative information for narrative 

and descriptive information if relevant to understanding 

current periodôs financial statements (IAS 1.38 and .38B). 

Present, at a minimum, tw o statements of f inancial 

position, tw o statements of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income, tw o separate statements of profit 

or loss (if  presented), tw o statements of cash f low s, tw o 

statements of changes in equity, and related notes (IAS 

1.38A). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, there is no specif ic 

requirement to provide comparative statements but it 

is desirable to do so (ASC 205-10-45-2). 

SEC rules require balance sheets for the tw o most 

recent f iscal years and three years of statements of 

income and cash f low s (SEC Regulation S-X;  

Rule 3-01(a) and Rule 3-02(a)). 

When financial statements comply w ith IFRS Standards, 

make an explicit and unreserved statement of such in the 

notes. An entity does not describe f inancial statements as 

No similar requirement. 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

complying w ith IFRS Standards unless they comply w ith 

all the requirements of IFRS Standards (IAS 1.16). 

An entity may present comparative information in addition 

to minimum comparative f inancial statements noted above 

as long as information prepared in accordance w ith IFRS 

Standards. The comparative information may consist of 

one or more statements referred to in IAS 1.10, but need 

not be a complete set of f inancial statements. Include 

related note information for those additional f inancial 

statements (IAS1.38C and D). 

In any one year it is ordinarily desirable that the 

statement of f inancial position, income statement, 

and statement of changes in equity be presented for 

one or more preceding years, as w ell as for the 

current year (ASC 205-10-45-2). 

An entity cannot rectify inappropriate accounting policies 

by disclosure of the accounting policies used or by notes 

or explanatory material (IAS 1.18). 

Similar to IFRS Standards. 

Clearly identify each f inancial statement and the notes. 

Display the follow ing prominently, and repeat w hen 

necessary for information presented to be understandable 

(IAS 1.51): 

¶ Name of reporting entity or other means of 

identif ication, and any change in information from the 

end of the preceding reporting period 

¶ Whether f inancial statements are of an individual 

entity or a group of entities 

¶ Date of end of reporting period or period covered by 

the set of f inancial statements or notes 

¶ Presentation currency; as defined in IAS 21 

¶ Level of rounding used in presenting amounts in 

f inancial statements 

Similar to IFRS Standards. 
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2.2  Statement of financial position / balance sheet  

The Board has undertaken a research project on targeted improvements to the structure and content of the primary 

f inancial statements, w ith a focus on the statement of f inancial performance.  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 1 Relevant guidance : ASC 210, 470, 505, and 740; 

SEC Regulation S-X, Rule 5-02 

Introduction 

IAS 1.54 specif ies the line items that are to be presented 

on the face of the statement of f inancial position. 

Unlike IFRS Standards, U.S. GAAP does not 

prescribe a standard format. How ever, SEC 

Regulation S-X, Rule 5-02 does require specif ic line 

items to appear on the face of the balance sheet, 

w here applicable. 

Classification 

Present current and non-current assets, and current and 

non-current liabilities, as separate classif ications in 

statement of f inancial position in accordance w ith IAS 

1.66-.76, except w hen a presentation based on liquidity 

provides information that is reliable and more relevant. 

When that exception applies, present all assets and 

liabilities in order of liquidity (IAS 1.60). 

Note : In February 2015, the Board issued an Exposure 

Draft, Classification of Liabilities - Proposed amendments 

to IAS 1. The proposed amendments clarify that the 

classif ication of liabilities as current or non-current is 

based on the rights in existence at the end of the reporting 

period. The proposals also clarify the link betw een the 

settlement of the liability and the outf low  of resources from 

the entity by indicating that settlement refers to the transfer 

to the counterparty of  cash, equity instruments, other 

assets, or services. A f inal amendment is expected during 

2019. 

The balance sheets of most entities show  separate 

classif ications of current assets and liabilities (ASC 

210-10-05-4). In certain specialized industries an 

unclassif ied balance sheet is used w hen the 

distinction betw een current and noncurrent assets 

and liabilities is deemed to have little or no 

relevance. 

Note : In January 2017, the FASB issued proposed 

ASU, Debt (Topic 470): Simplifying the Classification 

of Debt in a Classified Balance Sheet (Current 

versus Noncurrent). The proposed principle requires 

an entity to classify an instrument as noncurrent if  

either 

¶ The liability is contractually due to be settled 

more than one year after the balance-sheet date 

¶ The entity has a contractual right to defer 

settlement of the liability for at least one year 

after the balance-sheet date 

Similar to existing guidance, the proposed guidance 

includes an exception requiring an entity to classify, 

and present separately, debt as noncurrent w hen 

there has been a debt covenant violation at the 

balance-sheet date and the entity receives a w aiver 

of that violation after the balance-sheet date, but 

before the f inancial statements are issued.  

When a borrow er violates a provision of  a long-term 

debt agreement and the creditor provides a specif ied 

grace period for the borrow er to cure the violation, 

w hich makes the debt no longer callable at the 

balance sheet date, the borrow er should classify the 

debt as a noncurrent liability. 

Certain amendments in the proposal w ould 

supersede existing classif ication guidance, w hich 

could change how  certain debt arrangements are 
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classif ied, including short term debt that is 

refinanced and debt that contains subjective 

acceleration clauses.    

Entities w ould also be required to make certain 

disclosures related to any events of default, such as 

violations of a loan covenant or triggers of a 

subjective acceleration clause.  

The FASB completed deliberations on the exposure 

draft of the ASU, and w ill conduct additional 

research on a potential alternative considering the 

contractual link betw een certain debt arrangements 

and unused long-term financing arrangements in 

place at the balance sheet date. 

Except w hen deemed relevant to an understanding of the 

entityôs financial position, no subtotals are specified as 

requirements in IAS 1 (IAS 1.55 and .55A). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, non-SEC reporting entities 

are required to present a total of current liabilities if  

they present a classif ied balance sheet. In practice, 

these entities also present a subtotal for current 

assets (ASC 210-10-45-5). 

SEC rules explicitly require subtotals for current 

assets and current liabilities (Regulation S-X, Rule 5-

02). 

When an entity presents current and non-current assets 

and current and non-current liabilities as separate 

classif ications in its statement of f inancial position, it does 

not classify deferred tax assets (liabilities) as current 

assets (liabilities) (IAS 1.56). 

Similar to IFRS standards, deferred tax assets 

(liabilities) are presented as noncurrent assets 

(liabilities).  

(ASC 740-10-45-4). (See Section 5.3, ñTaxationò) 

 

An entity classif ies an asset as current w hen any of the 

follow ing apply (IAS 1.66): 

¶ It expects to realize the asset, or intends to sell or 

consume it, in its normal operating cycle. The normal 

operating cycle w here not clearly identif iable is 

assumed to be 12 months (IAS 1.68) 

¶ It holds the asset primarily for the purpose of trading 

¶ It expects to realize the asset w ithin 12 months after 

the reporting period 

¶ The asset is cash or a cash equivalent (as defined in 

IAS 7) unless the asset is restricted from being 

exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 

12 months after the reporting period 

Current assets are cash and other assets or 

resources commonly identif ied as those reasonably 

expected to be realized in cash or sold or consumed 

during the normal operating cycle of the business 

(ASC Master Glossary, ñCurrent Assetsò). 

In businesses w here the period of the operating 

cycle is more than 12 months, the longer period is 

required to be used. Where a particular business has 

no clearly defined operating cycle, the one-year rule 

governs (ASC 210-10-45-3). 

An entity classif ies a liability as current w hen any of the 

follow ing apply (IAS 1.69): 

¶ It expects to settle the liability in its normal operating 

cycle. The normal operating cycle w here not clearly 

identif iable is assumed to be 12 months (IAS 1.70). 

¶ It holds the liability primarily for the purpose of trading 

Current liabilities are obligations w hose liquidation is 

reasonably expected to require the use of existing 

resources properly classif iable as current assets, or 

the creation of other current liabilities (ASC Master 

Glossary, ñCurrent Liabilitiesò). 
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¶ The liability is due to be settled w ithin 12 months after 

the reporting period 

¶ The entity does not have an unconditional right to 

defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 

after the reporting period 

Classify f inancial liabilities as current w hen they are due to 

be settled w ithin 12 months after the reporting period, even 

if (IAS 1.72): 

¶ The original term w as for a period longer than 

12 months, and 

¶ An agreement to refinance, or to reschedule 

payments, on a long-term basis is completed after the 

reporting period and before the f inancial statements 

are authorized for issue 

If an entity expects, and has the discretion, to refinance or 

roll over an obligation for at least 12 months after the 

reporting period under an existing loan facility, it classif ies 

the obligation as noncurrent, even if it w ould otherw ise be 

due w ithin a shorter period. If refinancing or rolling over the 

obligation is not at the discretion of the entity, the entity 

does not consider the potential to refinance the obligation 

and classif ies the obligation as current (IAS 1.73). 

Short-term obligations, are excluded from current 

liabilities if  the entity intends to refinance the 

obligation on a long-term basis and (ASC 470-10-45-

14): 

¶ Before the balance sheet is issued or available 

to be issued there is a post-balance sheet 

issuance of a long-term obligation or equity 

securities for the purpose of refinancing the 

short-term obligation on a long-term basis; or 

¶ Before the balance sheet is issued or available 

to be issued the entity has entered into a 

f inancing agreement that permits it to refinance 

the short-term obligation on a long-term basis 

and certain conditions are met 

An entity classif ies a liability as current at the end of the 

reporting period if it does not have an unconditional right to 

defer its settlement for at least 12 months after that date. 

When an entity breaches a provision of a long-term loan 

arrangement on or before the end of the reporting period 

w ith the effect that the liability becomes payable on 

demand, it classif ies the liability as current, even if  the 

lender has agreed, after the reporting period and before 

authorization of the f inancial statements for issue, not to 

demand payment as a consequence of the breach 

(IAS 1.74). 

An entity classif ies as current a long-term obligation 

that is or w ill be callable by a creditor because of the 

entityôs violation of a provision of the debt agreement 

at the balance sheet date or because the violation, if  

not cured w ithin a specif ied grace period, w ill make 

the obligation callable unless (ASC 470-10-45-11): 

¶ The creditor has w aived or subsequently lost the 

right to demand repayment for more than one 

year (or operating cycle, if  longer) from the 

balance sheet date; or 

¶ For long-term obligations containing a grace 

period w ithin w hich the entity may cure the 

violation, it is probable that the violation w ill be 

cured w ithin that period 

Unlike IFRS Standards, the debt w ould be classif ied 

as noncurrent if  the lender has agreed, after the 

reporting period and before the f inancial statements 

are issued or are available to be issued, not to 

demand payment as a consequence of the violation 

(ASC 470-10-45-14). 

Offsetting 

An entity does not offset assets and liabilities or income 

and expenses, unless required or permitted by IFRS 

Standards (IAS 1.32). See Section 7, ñFinancial 

instrumentsò for further information on offsetting. 

Unlike IFRS Standards, offsetting is permitted only 

w hen a right of set-off exists. A right of set-off exists 

w hen (ASC 210-20-45-1): 
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¶ The parties ow e each other determinable 

amounts 

¶ There is a right and intention to set-off 

¶ The right of set-off is enforceable by law  

See Section 7, ñFinancial instrumentsò for further 

information on offsetting. 

Disclosure 

An entity discloses, either in the statement of f inancial 

position or in the notes, further subclassif ications of the 

line items presented, classif ied in a manner appropriate to 

the entityôs operations (IAS 1.77). 

Similar to IFRS Standards. 

An entity discloses the follow ing information, either in the 

statement of f inancial position or the statement of changes 

in equity, or in the notes (IAS 1.79): 

¶ For each class of share capital: 

- The number of shares authorized 

- The number of shares issued and fully paid, and 

issued but not fully paid 

- Par value per share, or that the shares have no 

par value 

- A reconciliation of the number of shares 

outstanding at the beginning and at the end of the 

period 

- The rights, preferences, and restrictions attaching 

to that class including restrictions on the 

distributions of dividends and the repayment of 

capital 

- Shares in the entity held by the entity or by its 

subsidiaries or associates 

- Shares reserved for issue under options and 

contracts for the sale of shares, including terms 

and amounts 

¶ A description of the nature and purpose of each 

reserve w ithin equity 

Disclosure of changes in the separate accounts 

comprising stockholders' equity (in addition to 

retained earnings) and the changes in the number of 

shares of equity securities is required. These 

disclosures may be made in the notes to the 

f inancial statements or through a separate f inancial 

statement (ASC 505-10-50-2). 

An explanation of the pertinent rights and privileges 

of the various securities outstanding is disclosed. 

Disclosure of the number of shares issued upon 

conversion, exercise, or satisfaction of required 

conditions during at least the most recent annual 

f iscal period and any subsequent interim period 

presented is also required (ASC 505-10-50-3). 
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2.3  Statement of comprehensive income / income statement  

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments w as effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, and sets out 

requirements for recognizing and measuring f inancial instruments, replacing IAS 39. The impact of adopting IFRS 9 

on the statement of comprehensive income/income statement has been incorporated into the follow ing section. For 

more information about the standard, refer to Section 7. 

The guidance in ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments ī Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 

Instruments, codif ied in ASC 326 Financial Instruments - Credit Losses supersedes certain areas of presentation for 

the statement of comprehensive income / income statement. The areas that w ill be superseded upon the effective 

date of that guidance are noted below . For more information about the standard and the effective date, refer to 

Section 7.  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 1 Relevant guidance : ASC 220, 225, 320, 715, and 810; 

SEC Regulation S-X, Rule 5-03 

Statement format and presentation 

An entity may present either a single statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income or tw o separate 

statements (IAS 1.10A). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, an entity may report 

comprehensive income either in a single continuous 

statement or in tw o separate but consecutive f inancial 

statements (ASC 220-10-45-1). 

Single statement of comprehensive income 

If  a single statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income (statement of comprehensive 

income) is presented, profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income are presented in tw o sections w ith 

the profit or loss section presented f irst follow ed directly by 

the other comprehensive income section (IAS 1.10A). 

In addition to the profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income sections, the statement of comprehensive income 

presents (IAS 1.81A): 

¶ Profit or loss 

¶ Total other comprehensive income 

¶ Comprehensive income for the period, being the total 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

An entity also presents the follow ing items, in addition to 

the profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

sections, as allocation of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income for the period (IAS 1.81B): 

¶ Profit or loss for the period attributable to: 

- Non-controlling interests 

- Ow ners of the parent 

¶ Comprehensive income for the period attributable to: 

- Non-controlling interests 

- Ow ners of the parent 

Single statement of comprehensive income 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 220-10-45-1A and 45-5). 

Two separate statements Two separate statements 
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If  an entity presents tw o separate statements, the separate 

statement of profit or loss immediately precedes the 

statement presenting comprehensive income, w hich 

begins w ith profit or loss (IAS 1.10A). 

The separate statement of profit or loss includes the 

follow ing as allocation of profit or loss for the period 

(IAS 1.81B): 

¶ Profit or loss for the period attributable to: 

- Non-controlling interests 

- Ow ners of the parent 

The separate statement presenting comprehensive income 

includes the follow ing as allocation of other comprehensive 

income for the period: 

¶ Comprehensive income for the period attributable to: 

- Non-controlling interests 

- Ow ners of the parent 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 220-10-45-1B and 45-5). 

General 

IAS 1 does not require a specif ic format for the statement 

of comprehensive income; how ever, it does require certain 

minimum line items to be presented for the period in 

addition to those required by other IFRS Standards (IAS 

1.82). 

Expenses recognized in profit or loss are presented based 

on either their nature or function w ithin the entity 

depending on w hich is reliable and more relevant 

(IAS1.99). If  an entity classif ies expenses by function, it 

discloses additional information on the nature of expenses, 

including depreciation and amortization expense and 

employee benefits expense (IAS 1.104). 

The other comprehensive income section presents line 

items for the amounts for the period of (IAS 1.82A): 

¶ Items of other comprehensive income, including 

amounts below , classif ied by nature and grouped into 

those that 

- Will not be reclassif ied subsequently to profit or 

loss 

- Will be reclassif ied subsequently to profit or loss 

w hen specif ic conditions are met 

¶ The share of the other comprehensive income of 

associates and joint ventures accounted for using the 

equity method separated into the share of items that 

- Will not be reclassif ied subsequently to profit or 

loss 

General 

U.S. GAAP does not prescribe a standard format for the 

income statement. Either the single-step format 

(expenses are classif ied by function) or multiple-step 

format (operating and nonoperating items are displayed 

separately) is acceptable. How ever, SEC Regulation  

S-X, Rule 5-03 requires specif ic line items to appear on 

the face of the income statement, w here applicable. 
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- Will be reclassif ied subsequently to profit or loss 

w hen specif ic conditions are met 

Other comprehensive income 

Other comprehensive income comprises items of income 

and expense (including reclassif ication adjustments) that 

are not recognized in profit or loss as required or permitted 

by IFRS Standards. Examples of items in other 

comprehensive income (OCI) include (IAS 1.7): 

¶ Changes in revaluation surplus (IAS 16 and IAS 38) 

¶ Remeasurements of defined benefit pension plans 

(IAS 19) 

¶ Exchange differences on translating foreign 

operations (IAS 21) 

¶ Gains and losses from investments in equity 

instruments measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (IFRS 9.5.7.5) 

¶ Gains and losses on f inancial assets measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income (IFRS 

9.4.1.2A) 

¶ Effective portion of gains and losses on hedging 

instruments in cash f low  hedges and the gains and 

losses on hedging instruments that hedge 

investments in equity instruments measured at fair 

value through other comprehensive income 

(IFRS 9.5.7.5) 

¶ For particular liabilities designated as at fair value 

through profit or loss, the amount of the change in fair 

value that is attributable to changes in the liabilityôs 

credit risk (IFRS 9.5.7.7) 

¶ Changes in value of the time value of options w hen 

separating intrinsic value and time value of an option 

contract and designating as hedging instrument only 

the changes in intrinsic value (IFRS 9.6.2.4(a)) 

¶ Changes in value of forw ard elements of forw ard 

contracts w hen separating forw ard and spot elements 

and designating as hedging instrument only changes 

in spot elements and changes in value of foreign 

currency basis spread of f inancial instrument, 

excluding it as a hedging instrument (IFRS 9.6.2.4(b)) 

 

Other comprehensive income 

Other comprehensive income comprises revenues, 

expenses, gains, and losses that are included in 

comprehensive income but excluded from net income 

(see Master Glossary, ñOther Comprehensive Incomeò). 

Examples of items that are required to be reported as 

other comprehensive income include (ASC 220-10-45-

10A through 10B): 

¶ Foreign currency translation adjustments (ASC 830-

30-45-12) 

¶ Gains and losses on foreign currency transactions 

designated as and effective as, economic hedges of 

a net investment in a foreign entity (ASC 830-20-35-

3(a)) 

¶ Gains and losses on intra-entity foreign currency 

transactions that are of a long-term investment 

nature w hen the entities to the transaction are 

consolidated, combined or accounted for by the 

equity method (ASC 830-20-35-3(b)) 

¶ Gains or losses associated w ith pension or other 

postretirement benefits (ASC 715-20-50-1(j)) 

¶ Prior service costs or credits associated w ith pension 

or other postretirement benefits (ASC 715-20-50-

1(j)) 

¶ Transition assets or obligations associated w ith 

pension or other postretirement benefits (ASC 715-

20-50-1(j)) 

¶ Unrealized holding gains and losses on available-for-

sale securities (ASC 320-10-45-1, ASC 326-30-25-2) 

¶ Unrealized holding gains and losses from a debt 

security transferred into the available-for-sale 

category from the held-to-maturity category (ASC 

320-10-35-10(c)) 

¶ Amounts recognized in OCI for debt securities 

classif ied as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity 

related to an other-than-temporary impairment (ASC 

320-10-35) Note : This guidance is superseded w ith 

the effective date of ASU 2016-13, Financial 

Instruments-Credit Losses, Measurement of Credit 

Losses on Financial Instruments.  

¶ Subsequent decreases (if  not other-than-temporary 

impairment) or increases in the fair value of 

available-for-sale securities previously w ritten dow n 

as impaired (ASC 320-10-35-18) Note : This 

guidance is superseded w ith the effective date of 
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ASU 2016-13. Some of the guidance w as moved to 

ASC 326. 

¶ Effective portion of gains and losses on derivative 

instruments in cash f low  hedges (ASC 815-20-35-

1(c)) 

Other comprehensive income ï reclassification 

adjustments 

Reclassif ication adjustments are amounts reclassif ied to 

profit or loss in the current period that w ere recognized in 

OCI in the current or previous periods (IAS 1.7). 

Reclassif ication adjustments may be presented either in 

the statement(s) of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income or in the notes (IAS 1.94 and .112-.138). 

An entity discloses reclassif ication adjustments relating to 

components of OCI (IAS 1.92). 

Other IFRS Standards specify w hether and w hen amounts 

previously recognized in OCI are reclassif ied to profit or 

loss. Such reclassif ications are referred to in IAS 1 as 

reclassif ication adjustments. A reclassif ication adjustment 

is included w ith the related component of OCI in the period 

that the adjustment is reclassif ied to profit or loss. These 

amounts may have been recognized in OCI as unrealized 

gains in the current or previous periods. Those unrealized 

gains are deducted from OCI in the period the realized 

gains are reclassif ied to profit or loss to avoid including 

them in total comprehensive income tw ice (IAS 1.93). 

Entities using IFRS Standards report few er amounts in 

OCI, and they are not required to subsequently reclassify 

all amounts of accumulated OCI to net income (profit or 

loss). How ever, the disclosure requirements under IAS 1 

do not include the specif ic presentation requirements of 

ASC 220-10-45. 

Other comprehensive income ï reclassification 

adjustments 

Reclassif ication adjustments are made to avoid double 

counting in comprehensive income items displayed as 

part of net income for a period that also have been 

displayed as part of OCI in that period or earlier periods 

(ASC Master Glossary, ñReclassification adjustmentsò). 

An entity presents reclassif ication adjustments out of 

accumulated OCI either on the face of the statement 

w here OCI is presented or in the notes (ASC 220-10-45-

17). 

Nonpublic entities are required to (1) comply w ith the 

requirements for annual reporting periods and (2) report 

information about the amounts reclassif ied out of 

accumulated OCI by component for each reporting 

period. How ever, nonpublic entities are not required to 

report the effects of reclassif ications on net income in 

interim reporting periods (ASC 220-10-45-18B). Not-for-

profit entities that report under ASC 958-205 are 

excluded from the scope of these requirements (ASC 

220-10-15-3). 

Other comprehensive income ï income tax 

An entity may present components of other 

comprehensive income either (a) net of related tax effects, 

or (b) before related tax effects w ith one amount show n for 

the aggregate amount of income tax relating to those 

components. If an entity elects alternative (b), it allocates 

the tax betw een the items that might be reclassif ied 

subsequently to the profit or loss section and those that 

w ill not be reclassif ied subsequently to the profit or loss 

section (IAS 1.91). 

Other comprehensive income ï income tax 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 220-10-45-11). 

Presentation and disclosure  

An entity does not present any items of income or expense 

as extraordinary items, in the statement(s) presenting 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income or in the 

notes (IAS 1.87). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, under U.S. GAAP an entity 

does not present any items of income or expense as 

extraordinary items in the statements(s) presenting profit 

or loss and other comprehensive income or in the notes 

(ASC 225-20-45). 
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When items of income or expense are material, an entity 

discloses their nature and amount separately (IAS 1.97). 

A material event or transaction that an entity considers to 

be of an unusual nature or of a type that indicates 

infrequency of occurrence or both is reported as a 

separate component of income from continuing 

operations. The nature and f inancial effects of each event 

or transaction is presented as a separate component of 

income from continuing operations or, alternatively, 

disclosed in notes to the f inancial statements (ASC 225-

20-45-16). 
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2.4  Statement of changes in equity  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 1 Relevant guidance : ASC 505 and 810 

Introduction 

An entity presents a statement of changes in equity that 

displays (IAS 1.106): 

¶ Total comprehensive income for the period, show ing 

separately the total amounts attributable to ow ners of 

the parent and to non-controlling interests 

¶ For each component of equity, the effects of 

retrospective application or retrospective restatement 

recognized in accordance w ith IAS 8 

¶ For each component of equity, a reconciliation 

betw een the carrying amount at the beginning and the 

end of the period, separately disclosing changes 

resulting from (This paragraph is amended by IFRS 9, 

effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 

after Jan 1, 2018. The amended text reads as follow s: 

for each component of equity, a reconciliation 

betw een the carrying amount at the beginning and 

end of the period, separately (as a minimum) 

disclosing changes resulting from): 

- Profit or loss 

- Each item of OCI 

- Transactions w ith ow ners in their capacity as 

ow ners, show ing separately contributions by and 

distributions to ow ners and changes in ow nership 

interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss 

of control.  

An entity presents, either in the statement of changes in 

equity or in the notes: 

¶ The amount of dividends recognized as distributions 

to ow ners during the period and the amount per share 

(IAS 1.107) 

¶ For each component of equity, an analysis of OCI by 

item (IAS 1.106A) 

If  both f inancial position and results of operations are 

presented, an entity discloses changes in the separate 

accounts comprising shareholderôs equity (in addition to 

retained earnings) and changes in the number of shares 

of equity securities in either a statement of changes in 

stockholdersô equity, the basic statements, or in the notes 

to financial statements (ASC 505-10-50-2). 

A parent w ith one or more less-than-w holly-ow ned 

subsidiaries discloses for each reporting period either in 

the consolidated statement of changes in equity, if  

presented, or in the notes to consolidated f inancial 

statements, a reconciliation at the beginning and the end 

of the period of the carrying amount of total equity, equity 

attributable to the parent, and equity attributable to the 

noncontrolling interest. That reconciliation separately 

discloses (ASC 810-10-50-1A): 

¶ Net income 

¶ Each component of OCI 

¶ Transactions w ith ow ners acting in their capacity as 

ow ners, show ing separately contributions from and 

distributions to ow ners 
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2.5  Statement of cash flows  

The FASB has a research project on its agenda Targeted Improvements to the Statement of Cash Flows, w ith an 

objective of reducing diversity in how  certain cash receipts and cash payments are presented in the statement of 

cash f low s. 

  

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 7; IFRS 5 Relevant guidance : ASC 230 and 830 

Introduction 

All entities are required to present a statement of cash 

f low s that provides information about its historical changes 

in cash and cash equivalents (IAS 7.1 and .4).  

Similar to IFRS Standards, except a statement of cash 

f low s is not required to be provided by (ASC 230-10-15-

4): 

¶ Defined benefit pension plans and certain other 

employee benefit plans that present f inancial 

information in accordance w ith ASC 960 

¶ Certain investment companies that meet specif ied 

criteria 

Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits (IAS 

7.6). 

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments 

that are readily convertible to know n amounts of cash and 

w hich are subject to an insignif icant risk of changes in 

value (IAS 7.6). Cash equivalents are held for the purpose 

of meeting short-term cash commitments rather than for 

investment or other purposes. An investment normally 

qualif ies as a cash equivalent only w hen it has a short 

maturity of, say, three months or less from the date of 

acquisition (IAS 7.7). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC Master Glossary, ñCashò 

and ñCash Equivalentsò). 

In some countries, bank overdrafts w hich are repayable 

on demand form an integral part of an entity's cash 

management. Those bank overdrafts are included as a 

component of cash and cash equivalents. A characteristic 

of such banking arrangements is that the bank balance 

often f luctuates from being positive to overdraw n. Bank 

borrow ings are generally considered to be f inancing 

activities (IAS 7.8). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, bank overdrafts are included in 

liabilities and excluded from cash equivalents. Changes 

in overdraft balances are f inancing activities. (ASC 230-

10 and 305-10) 

Presentation and disclosure  

The statement of cash f low s reports cash f low s during the 

period classif ied by the follow ing (IAS 7.10): 

¶ Operating activities 

¶ Investing activities 

¶ Financing activities 

Cash f low s from operating activities are reported using 

either the direct or the indirect method (IAS 7.18). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 230-10-45-10, 45-25, 

and 45-28). 

Unlike IFRS standards, an entity is required to include 

restricted cash and cash equivalents w ith cash and cash 

equivalents w hen reconciling changes to cash f low s. 

(ASC 230-10-50-7 and 50-8). 

U.S. GAAP provides specif ic guidance about the cash 

f low  classif ication of certain types of transactions for 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

An entity provides disclosures that enable users of 

f inancial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities 

arising from financing activities, including both changes 

arising from cash f low s and non-cash changes 

(IAS 7.44A). 

An entity shall disclose, together w ith a commentary by 

management, the amount of signif icant cash and cash 

equivalent balances held by the entity that are not 

available for use by the group. (IAS 7.48) 

w hich no specif ic guidance exists in IFRS Standards. 

These transactions include  

¶ Debt prepayment or debt extinguishment costs 

¶ Settlement of zero-coupon debt instruments or other 

debt instruments w ith coupon interest rates that are 

insignif icant in relation to the effective interest rate of 

the borrow ing 

¶ Contingent consideration payments made after a 

business combination 

¶ Proceeds from the settlement of insurance claims 

¶ Proceeds from the settlement of corporate-ow ned life 

insurance policies, including bank-ow ned life 

insurance policies 

¶ Distributions received from equity method investees 

¶ Beneficial interests in securitization transactions 

¶ Separately identif iable cash f low s and application of 

the predominance principle 

Cash flow s arising from the follow ing operating, investing, 

or f inancing activities may be reported on a net basis (IAS 

7.22): 

¶ Cash receipts and payments on behalf of customers 

w hen the cash f low s reflect the activities of the 

customer rather than those of the entity 

¶ Cash receipts and payments for items in w hich the 

turnover is quick, the amounts are large, and the 

maturities are short 

Receipts and payments are generally show n gross. 

Certain items may be presented net because their 

turnover is quick, the amounts are large, and the 

maturities are short. Items that qualify for net reporting 

are cash f low s pertaining to (a) investments (other than 

cash equivalents), (b) loans receivable, and (c) debt, 

provided that the original maturity of the asset or liability 

is three months or less (ASC 230-10-45-7 through 45-9). 

Interest and dividends received and paid are classif ied in 

a consistent manner from period to period as operating, 

investing, or f inancing activities (IAS 7.31 and .33). 

Interest paid and interest and dividends received are 

usually classif ied as operating cash f low s for a f inancial 

institution (IAS 7.33). 

Interest and dividends received and interest paid (and 

expensed) are classif ied as operating activities  

(ASC 230-10-45-25b and 45-25e). 

Dividends paid are classif ied as f inancing activities  

(ASC 230-10-45-15). 

Taxes paid are classif ied as cash f low s from operating 

activities unless they can be specif ically identif ied w ith 

f inancing and investing activities (IAS 7.35-.36). 

Taxes are generally classif ied as operating activities  

(ASC 230-10-45-17c). 

Disclose in the notes or in the f inancial statements the 

amount of the net cash f low s attributable to the operating, 

investing, and f inancing activities of discontinued 

operations (IFRS 5.33(c)). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, separate disclosure of cash f lows 

related to discontinued operations is not required to be 

presented in net cash provided or used by operating, 

investing, and f inancing activities and the net effect of 

those cash f low s on cash and cash equivalents. An entity 

that nevertheless chooses to report separately operating 

cash f low s of discontinued operations does so 

consistently for all periods affected, w hich may include 

periods long after sale or liquidation of the operation. 

(ASC 230-10-45-24). 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Disclose either on the face of the cash f low s statement or 

in the notes to the f inancial statements, related to 

discontinued operations on the statement of cash f low s 

(ASC 230-10-45-24 and 205-20-50-5B(c)): 

¶ Total operating and investing cash f low s of the 

discontinued operation for the periods in w hich the 

results of operations of the discontinued operation 

are presented in the statement w here net income is 

reported 

¶ Depreciation, amortization, capital expenditures, and 

signif icant operating and investing noncash items of 

the discontinued operation for the periods w here the 

results of operations of the discontinued operation 

are presented in statement w here net income is 

reported 

An entity discloses the components of cash and cash 

equivalents and presents a reconciliation of the amounts 

in its statement of cash f low s w ith the equivalent items in 

the statement of f inancial position (IAS 7.45). 

An entity discloses its policy for determining w hich items 

are treated as cash equivalents (ASC 230-10-50-1). Total 

cash and cash equivalents at the beginning and end of 

the period show n in the statement of cash f low s are to be 

the same as similarly titled line items or subtotals in the 

balance sheet (ASC 230-10-45-4). 
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2.6  Non -current assets he ld for sale and discontinued operations  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IFRS 5 and 13 Relevant guidance : ASC 205, 230, 360, and 810 

Introduction 

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that 

either has been disposed of, or is classif ied as held for 

sale, and (IFRS 5.32): 

¶ Represents a separate major line of business or 

geographical area of operations 

¶ Is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a 

separate major line of business or geographical area 

of operations; or 

¶ Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively w ith a view  to 

resale 

A component of an entity comprises operations and cash 

f low s that can be clearly distinguished, operationally and 

for f inancial reporting purposes, from the rest of the entity. 

A component of an entity w ill have been a cash-

generating unit or a group of cash-generating units w hile 

being held for use (IFRS 5.31). 

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identif iable group of 

assets that generates cash inflow s that are largely 

independent of the cash inflow s from other assets or 

groups of assets (IFRS 5, Appendix A). 

A discontinued operation may include a component of an 

entity or group of components of an entity, or a business 

or nonprofit activity (ASC 205-20-45-1A). 

A component of an entity or a group of components of an 

entity is reported in discontinued operations if the 

disposal represents a strategic shift that has, or w ill 

have, a major effect on an entityôs operations and 

financial results w hen any of the follow ing occur (ASC 

205-20-45-1B): 

¶ The component or group of components of an entity 

meets the criteria in ASC 205-20-45-1E as held for 

sale 

¶ The component or group of components of an entity 

is disposed of by sale 

¶ The component or group of components of an entity 

is disposed of other than by sale (by abandonment 

or in a distribution to ow ners in a spinoff) ( ASC 360-

10-45-15) 

A strategic shift that has, or w ill have a major effect on 

an entityôs operations and financial results could include 

a disposal of a major geographical area, major line of 

business, major equity method investment or other major 

parts of an entity (ASC 205-20-45-1C). 

A component of an entity comprises operations and cash 

f low s that can be clearly distinguished, operationally and 

for f inancial reporting purposes, from the rest of the 

entity. Unlike IFRS Standards, a component of an entity 

may be a reportable segment or an operating segment; a 

reporting unit; a subsidiary; or an asset group (all as 

defined in the ASC Master Glossary) (ASC Master 

Glossary, ñComponent of an Entityò). 

Held for sale 

Classify a non-current asset (disposal group) as held for 

sale if  its carrying amount w ill be recovered principally 

through a sale transaction rather than through continuing 

use (IFRS 5.6). 

The asset (disposal group) must be available for 

immediate sale in its present condition subject only to 

terms that are usual and customary for sales of such 

assets (disposal groups) and its sale must be highly 

probable (IFRS 5.7). 

For the sale to be highly probable (IFRS 5.8): 

An entity classif ies a component or group of components 

of an entity or a long lived asset (disposal group) as held 

for sale w hen it satisf ies the criteria listed below  that 

demonstrate that the entity is suff iciently committed to a 

plan to sell (ASC 205-20-45-1E and 360-10-45-9 through 

45-14): 

¶ Management, having the authority to approve the 

action, commits to a plan to sell the asset (disposal 

group) 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

¶ The appropriate level of management must be 

committed to a plan to sell the asset (disposal group) 

¶ An active program to locate a buyer and complete the 

plan must have been initiated 

¶ The asset (disposal group) must be actively marketed 

for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to its 

current fair value 

¶ The sale is expected to qualify for recognition as a 

completed sale w ithin one year from the date of 

classif ication (the one year limit is extended if 

conditions in IFRS 5, Appendix B apply) 

¶ Actions required to complete the plan are required to 

indicate that it is unlikely that signif icant changes to 

the plan w ill be made or that it w ill be w ithdraw n 

The probability of shareholdersô approval (if required in the 

jurisdiction) is considered as part of the assessment of 

w hether the sale is highly probable (IFRS 5.8). 

A disposal group is a group of assets to be disposed of, by 

sale or otherw ise, together as a group in a single 

transaction, and liabilities directly associated w ith those 

assets that w ill be transferred in the transaction  

(IFRS 5, Appendix A). 

An entity that is committed to a sale plan involving loss of 

control of a subsidiary classif ies all the assets and 

liabilities of that subsidiary as held for sale w hen the 

criteria in IFRS 5.6-.8 are met, regardless of w hether the 

entity w ill retain a non-controlling interest in its former 

subsidiary after the sale (IFRS 5.8A). 

¶ The asset (disposal group/entity) is available for 

immediate sale in its present condition subject only 

to terms that are usual and customary for sales of 

such assets (disposal groups) 

¶ An active program to locate a buyer and other 

actions required to complete the plan to sell the 

asset (disposal group) has been initiated 

¶ The sale of the asset (disposal group) is probable, 

and transfer of the asset (disposal group) is 

expected to qualify for recognition as a completed 

sale w ithin one year except as permitted by  

ASC 360-10-45-11 

¶ The asset (disposal group) is being actively 

marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in 

relation to its current fair value 

¶ Actions required to complete the plan indicate it is 

unlikely that signif icant changes to the plan w ill be 

made or that it w ill be w ithdraw n 

A disposal group for long-lived asset(s) to be disposed of 

by sale or otherw ise represents assets to be disposed of 

together as a group in a single transaction and liabilities 

directly associated w ith those assets that w ill be 

transferred in the transaction. A disposal group may 

include a discontinued operation along w ith other assets 

and liabilities that are not part of the discontinued 

operation (ASC Master Glossary, ñDisposal groupò). 

Measurement 

Measurement of non-current assets (disposal groups) 

classified as held for sale 

An entity measures a non-current asset (disposal group) 

classif ied as held for sale (held for distribution) at the 

low er of its carrying amount and fair value less costs to 

sell (distribute) (IFRS 5.15 and .15A). 

Recognition of impairment losses and reversals 

An impairment loss is recognized for any initial or 

subsequent w rite-dow n of the asset (disposal group) to 

fair value less costs to sell, to the extent that it has not 

been recognized in accordance w ith IFRS 5.19 

(IFRS 5.20). 

A gain is recognized for any subsequent increase in fair 

value less costs to sell of an asset, but not in excess of 

the cumulative impairment loss that has been recognized 

either in accordance w ith IFRS 5 or previously in 

accordance w ith IAS 36 (IFRS 5.21). 

Measurement of long-lived assets (disposal groups) 

classified as held for sale 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 360-10-35-38 through 

35-43). 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

A gain is recognized for any subsequent increase in fair 

value less costs to sell of a disposal group (IFRS 5.22): 

¶ To the extent that it has not been recognized in 

accordance w ith IFRS 5.19, but 

¶ Not in excess of the cumulative impairment loss that 

has been recognized, either in accordance w ith IFRS 

5 or previously in accordance w ith IAS 36, on the 

non-current assets that are w ithin the scope of the 

measurement requirements of IFRS 5 

An entity does not depreciate (or amortize) a non-current 

asset w hile it is classif ied as held for sale or w hile it is part 

of a disposal group classif ied as held for sale. Interest and 

other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal 

group classif ied as held for sale continue to be recognized 

(IFRS 5.25). 

Changes to a plan of sale 

For situations w here assets or disposal groups previously 

classif ied as held for sale no longer meet those criteria, 

the asset or disposal group is no longer classif ied as held 

for sale and disclosure of the circumstances surrounding 

the change is required (IFRS 5.26-.29 and .42). 

After the change, the assets are remeasured at the low er 

of their carrying amount prior to the classif ication as held 

for sale, adjusted for any depreciation, amortization or 

revaluations, or their recoverable amount at the date of 

the subsequent decision not to sell (IAS 36), at the 

amounts that w ould have been recognized had the asset 

(or disposal group) not been classif ied as held for sale 

(IFRS 5.27). 

If  an entity reclassif ies an asset or disposal group directly 

from being held for sale to being held for distribution to 

ow ners or vice versa, then the change in classif ication is 

considered a continuation of the original plan of disposal 

(IFRS 5.26A and 44L). 

Changes to a plan of sale 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 360-10-35-44 through 

35-45; ASC 360-10-45-7). 

Non-current assets to be abandoned 

An entity does not classify as held for sale a non-current 

asset (disposal group) that is to be abandoned. This is 

because its carrying amount w ill be recovered principally 

through continuing use. How ever, if  the disposal group to 

be abandoned meets the criteria in IFRS 5.32(a)-(c), the 

entity presents the results and cash f low s of the disposal 

group as discontinued operations in accordance w ith IFRS 

5.33-.34 at the date it ceases to be used  

(IFRS 5.13). 

Long-lived assets to be abandoned 

Similar to IFRS Standards, except long-lived assets to be 

abandoned continue to be classif ied as long-lived assets 

to be held and used. Report those long-lived assets as 

discontinued operations if they meet the conditions in 

ASC 205-20-45-1A through 45-1C (ASC 360-10-45-15, 

ASC 360-10-35-47 through 35-48). 

Timing considerations 

If  the held for sale criteria in IFRS 5.7-.8 are met after the 

reporting period, an entity does not classify a non-current 

asset (disposal group) as held for sale in those f inancial 

Similar to IFRS Standards, except for those situations 

w here the criteria are met after the balance sheet date 

but before issuance of the f inancial statements, 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

statements w hen issued. How ever, w hen those criteria are 

met after the reporting period but before the authorization 

of the f inancial statements for issue, the entity discloses 

the information specif ied in  

IFRS 5.41(a), (b), and (d) in the notes (IFRS 5.12). 

disclosure is required of the carrying amounts of the 

major classes of assets and liabilities included as part of 

a disposal group if not separately presented on the face 

of the balance sheet (ASC 360-10-45-13 and ASC 205-

20-50-1(a)). 

Presentation ï discontinued operations 

The key disclosures required for discontinued operations 

are (IFRS 5.33): 

¶ A single amount in the statement of comprehensive 

income comprising the total of: 

- The post-tax profit or loss of discontinued 

operations; and 

- The post-tax gain or loss recognized on the 

measurement to fair value less costs to sell or on 

the disposal of the assets or disposal group(s) 

constituting the discontinued operation 

¶ An analysis of the above single amount (in the 

statement of comprehensive income or in the notes) 

into: 

- The revenue, expenses, and pre-tax profit or loss 

of discontinued operations 

- The related income tax expense as required by 

IAS 12.81(h) 

- The gain or loss recognized on the measurement 

to fair value less costs to sell or on the disposal 

of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the 

discontinued operation 

If the analysis is show n in the statement of 

comprehensive income it is presented in a section 

identif ied as relating to discontinued operations. 

¶ Net cash f low s attributable to the operating, investing, 

and f inancing activities of discontinued operations. 

These disclosures may be presented either in the 

notes or in the f inancial statements. 

¶ The amount of income from continuing operations 

and from discontinued operations attributable to 

ow ners of the parent, presented either in the notes or 

in the statement of comprehensive income. 

If an entity presents items of profit or loss in a separate 

statement, a section identif ied as relating to discontinued 

operations is presented in that statement (IFRS 5.33A). 

The follow ing is reported (net of income taxes (benefit)) 

separately on the face of the income statement for 

discontinued operations for current and prior periods in 

the period a discontinued operation has been disposed 

of or classif ied as held for sale (ASC 205-20-45-3 and 

45-3A): 

¶ Results of operations of the component 

¶ Gain or loss recognized in accordance w ith  

ASC 205-20-45-3C 

A gain or loss on disposal or a loss recognized on 

classif ication as held for sale, is presented separately on 

the face of the income statement w here net income is 

reported or disclosed in the notes (ASC 205-20-45-3B). 

Adjustments to amounts previously reported in 

discontinued operations (See ASC 205-20-45-5 for 

examples) in a prior period are presented separately in 

discontinued operations in the current period (ASC 205-

20-45-4). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, an entity discloses either in 

the notes or on the face of the consolidated income 

statement, amounts attributable to the parent for the 

follow ing, if  reported in the consolidated f inancial 

statements  

(ASC 810-10-50-1A(b)): 

¶ Income from continuing operations 

¶ Discontinued operations 

Unlike IFRS Standards, the separate disclosure of cash 

f low s related to discontinued operations is not required to 

be presented. How ever, if  an entity chooses to 

separately report cash f low s from discontinued 

operations, then it does not aggregate operating, 

investing, and f inancing cash f low s from discontinued 

operations into a single line item but displays them 

separately (ASC 230-10-45-24). 

Disclosure of  major classes of assets and liabilities is not 

required for disposal groups that are new ly acquired 

subsidiaries that meet the criteria to be classif ied as held 

for sale on acquisition,  

(IFRS 5.39). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, there is no similar requirement 

for a disclosure exemption for a disposal group that is a 

new ly acquired subsidiary. 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

For prior periods presented in the f inancial statements an 

entity re-presents the statement of comprehensive income 

and cash f low  disclosures that are set out in IFRS 5.33 so 

that the disclosures relate to all operations that have been 

discontinued by the end of the reporting period for the 

latest period presented (IFRS 5.34). 

An entity does not reclassify or re-present amounts 

presented for non-current assets or for the assets and 

liabilities of disposal groups classif ied as held for sale in 

the statements of f inancial position for prior periods to 

reflect the classif ication in the statement of f inancial 

position for the latest period presented (IFRS 5.40). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 205-20-45-3 and 45-4). 

Presentation ī held for sale assets or disposal group 

Where a non-current asset or a disposal group qualif ies as 

held for sale, the assets and liabilities are presented 

separately from other assets and liabilities (both as 

separate single lines). The assets and liabilities are not 

offset in the statement of f inancial position (IFRS 5.38). 

The major classes of assets and liabilities classif ied as 

held for sale are separately disclosed either in the 

statement of f inancial position or in the notes (except 

w here the disposal group is a new ly acquired subsidiary 

that meets the criteria to be classif ied as held for sale on 

acquisition). An entity presents separately any cumulative 

income or expense recognized in OCI relating to a non-

current asset (disposal group) classif ied as held for sale 

(IFRS 5.38-.39). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 205-20-45-1D, 45-10 

and 45-11). 

Additional disclosures are required related to a long-lived 

asset or disposal group w hich includes an individually 

signif icant component of an entity that either has been 

disposed of or is classif ied as held for sale but does not 

qualify for presentation and disclosure as a discontinued 

operation (ASC 360-10-45-14 and 50-3A). 
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3. General accounting policies  

3.1  Accounting policies  

 

IFRS Standards  U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 1, 8, and 10 Relevant guidance : ASC 105, 235, and 275; SEC 

Regulation S-K, Item 303 

Disclosure of accounting policies  

An entity discloses both of the follow ing in the summary of 

signif icant accounting policies (IAS 1.117): 

¶ The measurement basis (or bases) used in preparing 

the f inancial statements 

¶ The other accounting policies used that are relevant 

to an understanding of the f inancial statements 

Similar to IFRS Standards, a description of all signif icant 

accounting policies is included as an integral part of the 

f inancial statements w hen those f inancial statements 

purport to present fairly f inancial position, cash f low s, 

and results of operations (ASC 235-10-50-1). These 

disclosures identify and describe the accounting 

principles follow ed by the entity and the methods of 

applying those principles that materially affect the 

determination of f inancial position, cash f low s, or results 

of operations (ASC 235-10-50-3). 

An entity w hose f inancial statements comply w ith IFRS 

Standards makes an explicit and unreserved statement of 

such compliance in the notes. Financial statements are 

not described as complying w ith IFRS Standards unless 

they comply w ith all the requirements of IFRS Standards 

(IAS 1.16). 

No similar requirement. 

An entity discloses, in the summary of signif icant 

accounting policies or other notes, the judgments, apart 

from those involving estimations that management has 

made in the process of applying the entityôs accounting 

policies and that have the most signif icant eff ect on 

amounts recognized in the f inancial statements 

(IAS 1.122). 

An entity discloses that the preparation of f inancial 

statements requires the use of managementôs estimates 

(ASC 275-10-50-4). Other ASC Topics require entities to 

disclose information regarding estimates used in 

determining the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 

or in disclosure of gain or loss contingencies (ASC 275-

10-50-7). 

SEC registrants disclose critical accounting policies in 

managementôs discussion and analysis of financial 

condition and results of operations; how ever, that 

information is outside of the f inancial statements. There 

is no similar requirement for non-SEC reporting entities 

(SEC Regulation S-K, Item 303). 

An entity discloses information about the assumptions it 

makes about the future, and other major sources of 

estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, 

that have a signif icant risk of resulting in a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities w ithin the next f inancial year. The notes include 

details of the nature and carrying amount as at the end of 

the reporting period of those assets and liabilities 

(IAS 1.125). 

An entity discloses information about a material change 

in the amount of an estimate if it is at least reasonably 

possible (more than remote but less than likely) that a 

change in the estimate w ill occur in the near term  

(ASC 275-10-50-8 through 50-9). 
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IFRS Standards  U.S. GAAP 

An entity discloses information that w ill enable users of its 

financial statements to evaluate the entityôs objectives, 

policies, and processes for managing capital (IAS 1.134). 

No similar requirement. 

Selection and application of accounting policies  

When an IFRS Standard specif ically applies to a 

transaction, other event, or condition, the accounting 

policy or policies applied to that item is determined by 

applying the IFRS Standards (IAS 8.7). 

In a situation in w hich no specif ic IFRS Standard applies 

to a transaction, other event, or condition, management 

uses its judgment in developing and applying an 

accounting policy that results in information that is both 

(IAS 8.10): 

¶ Relevant to the economic decision-making needs of 

users 

¶ Reliable, i.e. represents faithfully; reflects the 

economic substance; and is neutral, prudent, and 

complete in all material respects 

In making the judgment described in IAS 8.10, 

management refers to, and considers the applicability of 

the follow ing in this order (IAS 8.11 and .12): 

¶ IFRS Standards dealing w ith similar and related 

issues 

¶ IASB Conceptual Framew ork definitions, recognition 

criteria, and measurement concepts for assets, 

liabilities, income, and expenses 

¶ Most recent pronouncements of other standard-

setting bodies that use a similar conceptual 

framew ork to develop accounting standards, other 

accounting literature, and accepted industry practices 

(to the extent that these do not conflict w ith the f irst 

tw o bullets above) 

The FASB Codif ication is the source of authoritative 

generally accepted accounting principles for 

nongovernmental entities. The SEC also provides 

authoritative generally accepted accounting principles for 

SEC registrants (ASC 105-10-05-1). 

If  guidance for a transaction or event is not specif ied 

w ithin a source of authoritative GAAP for that entity, an 

entity f irst considers accounting principles for similar 

transactions or events w ithin a source of authoritative 

GAAP for that entity and then considers nonauthoritative 

guidance from other sources. An entity does not follow  

the accounting treatment specif ied in accounting 

guidance for similar transactions or events in cases in 

w hich those accounting principles either prohibit the 

application of the accounting treatment to the particular 

transaction or event or indicate that the accounting 

treatment is not to be applied by analogy (ASC 105-10-

05-2). 

ASC 105-10-05-3 provides examples of non-authoritative 

guidance and literature. 

An entity may depart from a requirement in an IFRS 

Standard only in extremely rare circumstances w here 

management concludes that compliance w ith that 

requirement w ould be so misleading that it w ould conflict 

w ith the objective of f inancial statements set out in the 

IASB Conceptual Framew ork, if  the relevant regulatory 

framew ork requires, or otherw ise does not prohibit, such a 

departure (IAS 1.19). 

In the extremely rare circumstances in w hich compliance 

w ith a requirement in an IFRS Standard w ould be so 

misleading, but departing from the IFRS Standard is 

prohibited by the relevant regulatory framew ork, certain 

disclosures are required (IAS 1.23). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, an entity is not permitted to 

depart from generally accepted accounting principles. 
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Going concern 

Management makes an assessment of an entityôs ability 

to continue as a going concern, w hen preparing the 

entityôs financial statements. An entity prepares financial 

statements on a going concern basis unless management 

either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease trading, or 

has no realistic alternative but to do so (even if 

management did not determine this until after the 

reporting period). When management is aw are, in making 

its assessment, of material uncertainties related to events 

or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entityôs 

ability to continue as a going concern, the entity discloses 

those uncertainties (IAS 1.25-.26 and IAS 10.14-.16). 

Management has a responsibility to evaluate w hether 

there is substantial doubt about an entityôs ability to 

continue as a going concern and any related disclosure 

requirements. In connection w ith preparing f inancial 

statements for each annual and interim reporting period, 

an entityôs management evaluates whether there are 

conditions and events, considered in the aggregate, that 

raise substantial doubt about an entityôs ability to 

continue as a going concern w ithin one year after the 

date that the f inancial statements are issued or w ithin 

one year after the date that the f inancial statements are 

available to be issued. Managementôs evaluation is 

based on relevant conditions and events that are know n 

and reasonably know able at the date that the f inancial 

statements are issued (ASC 205-40-05 and 205-40-50). 

Under IFRS, the assessment period is at least one year 

from the f inancial statement date (balance sheet date) 

w ith no upper time limit. 

Under IFRS, disclosures are required w hen 

management is aw are of material uncertainties related to 

events and conditions that may cast signif icant doubt 

about an entityôs ability to continue as a going concern. 

Under U.S. GAAP, disclosures are required w hen there 

is substantial doubt about an entityôs ability to continue 

as a going concern or, unlike IFRS Standards, w hen 

substantial doubt is alleviated as a result of 

consideration of managementôs plans. 

Liquidation basis of accounting 

IFRS Standards state that an entity prepares f inancial 

statements on the going concern basis of accounting 

ñunless management either intends to liquidate the entity 

or to cease trading, or has no realistic alternative but to do 

soò (IAS 1.25). However, unlike U.S. GAAP, IFRS 

Standards currently do not provide explicit guidance on 

w hen or how  to apply the liquidation basis of accounting. 

An entity prepares its f inancial statements using the 

liquidation basis of accounting in ASC 205-30 w hen 

liquidation is imminent unless the liquidation follow s a 

plan for liquidation that was specified in the entityôs 

governing documents at the entityôs inception (ASC 205-

30-25-1). 
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3.2  Changes in accounting policies and correction of errors  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 1, 8 and 33 Relevant guidance : ASC 250, 260; SEC SAB  

Topic 11.M 

Introduction 

The objective of IAS 8 is to prescribe the criteria for 

selecting and changing accounting policies along w ith the 

accounting treatment and disclosure of changes in 

accounting policies, changes in estimates, and correction 

of errors (IAS 8.1). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 250-10-05-1). 

Change in accounting policy / accounting principle  

A change in accounting policy is made only if  the change 

(a) is required by an IFRS Standard, or (b) results in the 

f inancial statements providing reliable and more relevant 

information about the effects of transactions, other events, 

or conditions on the entityôs financial position, financial 

performance, or cash f low s (IAS 8.14).  

 

The initial application of a policy to revalue assets in 

accordance w ith IAS 16 or IAS 38 is a change in an 

accounting policy. How ever, that change is accounted for 

as a revaluation under IAS 16 or IAS 38 rather than in 

accordance w ith IAS 8 (IAS 8.17). 

Unless included in the specif ic transitional provisions, a 

change in accounting policy upon initial application of an 

IFRS Standard is applied retrospectively. This change is 

accounted for by adjusting the relevant opening equity 

balance and prior-period comparative amounts presented 

(IAS 8.19 and .22). When retrospective application is 

required by IAS 8.19(a) or (b), a change in accounting 

policy is applied retrospectively except to the extent that it 

is impracticable to determine either the period-specif ic or 

cumulative effects of the change (IAS 8.23). 

When it is impracticable to determine the period-specif ic 

effects on comparative information, the entity applies the 

new  accounting policy from the earliest date practicable 

(IAS 8.24-.27). IAS 8.5 contains a def inition of 

impracticable and IAS 8.50-.53 contains further guidance 

on impracticability in respect of retrospective application 

and retrospective restatement. 

IAS 8.30 requires disclosure of a new  IFRS Standard that 

has been issued but is not yet effective, together w ith the 

know n or reasonably estimable information relevant to 

assessing the possible impact the application of the new  

IFRS Standard will have on the entityôs financial 

statements in the period of initial application. 

Similar to IFRS Standards, a change in accounting 

principle is made only if  (a) the change is required by a 

new ly issued Codif ication update or (b) the entity can 

justify the use of an allow able alternative accounting 

principle on the basis that it is preferable (ASC 250-10-

45-2).  

 

Unlike IFRS Standards, f ixed assets and intangibles are 

not revalued in a manner similar to that provided by 

IAS 16 or IAS 38.  

 

 

Similar to IAS 8 (ASC 250-10-45-5 through 45-8). 

How ever, retrospective application includes only the 

direct effects of a change in accounting principle. IAS 8 

does not include specif ic guidance on this area. Similar 

to IAS 8, except that the accounting for and disclosure of 

the indirect effects of a change in accounting principle is 

specif ically addressed (ASC 250-10-45-5 and 45-8). 

 

 

 

ASC 250-10-45-9 through 45-10 lists the conditions that 

must be met before an entity can conclude that it is 

impracticable to apply the effects of a change in 

accounting principle retrospectively.  

 

 

 

SEC SAB Topic 11.M contains similar disclosure 

requirements for SEC registrants. 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Correction of errors 

Prior period errors (IAS 8.41) are corrected retrospectively 

in the f irst set of f inancial statements authorized for issue 

after their discovery by (IAS 8.42): 

¶ Restating the comparative amounts for prior periods 

in w hich the error occurred 

¶ If  the error occurred before the earliest prior period 

presented, restating the opening balances of assets, 

liabilities, and equity for the earliest prior period 

presented 

A prior period error is corrected by retrospective 

restatement except to the extent that it is impracticable to 

determine either the period-specif ic effects or the 

cumulative effect of the error. When it is impracticable to 

determine the period specif ic effects, an entity shall 

restate the opening balances of assets, liabilities, and 

equity for the earliest period for w hich retrospective 

restatement is practicable (w hich may be the current 

period) ).(IAS 8.43-.48). 

Note : In March 2018, the Board issued an Exposure Draft, 

Accounting Policy Changes ï Proposed amendments to 

IAS 8. The proposed amendments w ould low er the 

impracticability threshold regarding retrospective 

application of voluntary changes in accounting policies 

that result from agenda decisions. The proposed threshold 

w ould include a consideration of the costs and benefits of 

applying such changes retrospectively.  

A correction of an error in previously issued f inancial 

statements is reported as a prior-period adjustment by 

restating the prior-period f inancial statements (ASC 250-

10-45-23). Restatement requires: 

¶ The cumulative effect of the error on periods prior to 

those presented is reflected in the carrying amounts 

of assets and liabilities as of the beginning of the 

f irst period presented 

¶ An offsetting adjustment, if  any, is made to the 

opening balance of retained earnings for that period  

¶ Financial statements for each individual prior period 

presented are adjusted to reflect correction of the 

period-specif ic effects of the change 

In determining materiality for the purpose of reporting the 

correction of an error, amounts are related to the 

estimated income for the full f iscal year and also to the 

effect on the trend of earnings. Changes that are 

material w ith respect to an interim period but not material 

w ith respect to the estimated income for the full f iscal 

year or to the trend of earnings are separately disclosed 

in the interim period (ASC 250-10-45-27). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, there is no similar requirement 

for an impracticability exception w ith respect to a 

correction of an error. 

Change in estimates 

Changes in estimates are accounted for prospectively 

other than for a change to w hich IAS 8.37 applies  

(IAS 8.34-.38). 

To the extent that a change in an accounting estimate 

gives rise to changes in assets and liabilities, or relates to 

an item of equity, it is recognized by adjusting the carrying 

amount of the related asset, liability, or equity item in the 

period of the change (IAS 8.37). 

Note : In September 2017, the Board issued Exposure 

Draft, Accounting Policies and Accounting Estimates ï 

Proposed amendments to IAS 8. The proposed 

amendments explain that accounting estimates are used 

in applying accounting policies and make the definition of 

accounting policies more clear and concise, as w ell as 

clarifying further situations that constitute making an 

accounting estimate or that represent an accounting 

policy.   

Changes in accounting estimate are accounted for in (a) 

the period of change if the change affects that period 

only or (b) the period of change and future periods if the 

change affects both.  

Changes in accounting estimate are not accounted for 

by restating or retrospectively applying the change to 

prior periods or by reporting pro forma amounts for prior 

periods. (ASC 250-10-45-17). 
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Presentation 

Basic and diluted earnings per share of all periods 

presented are adjusted for the effects of errors and 

adjustments resulting from changes in accounting policies 

accounted for retrospectively (IAS 33.64). 

When an entity applies an accounting policy 

retrospectively or makes a retrospective restatement of 

items in its f inancial statements, or w hen it reclassif ies 

items in its f inancial statements, and those changes have 

a material effect on the information in the statement of 

f inancial position at the beginning of the preceding period, 

it is required to present a third statement of f inancial 

position as of the beginning of the preceding period in 

addition to the minimum comparative f inancial statements 

(IAS 1.40A through .40D). 

When an additional statement of f inancial position is 

required to be presented, an entity discloses the 

information required by IAS 1.41-.44 and IAS 8. How ever, 

the related notes to the opening statement of f inancial 

position at the beginning of the preceding period are not 

required (IAS 1.40C). 

If prior period results of operations are restated, then 

earnings per share data for the prior period are restated 

(ASC 260-10-55-15 through 55-16). 

 

Unlike IFRS Standards, there is no similar requirement 

for a third balance sheet as of the beginning of the 

preceding period. 
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4. Assets 

4.1  Property, plant and equipment  

 

IFRS Standards  U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 16, 23, and 36; IFRS 13 Relevant guidance : ASC 360, 410, 820, 835, 845, and 

908; Concepts Statement 5; SEC SAB Topic 5:CC 

Introduction 

The objective of IAS 16 is to prescribe the accounting 

treatment for property, plant and equipment, including 

bearer plants, so that users of the f inancial statements 

can discern information about an entityôs investment in its 

property, plant and equipment and the changes in such 

investment. The principal issues in accounting for 

property, plant and equipment are the recognition of the 

assets, the determination of their carrying amounts, and 

the depreciation charges and impairment losses to be 

recognized in relation to them (IAS 16.1). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 360-10-05-2). 

The accounting for development costs for land, orchards, 

groves, vineyards, intermediate-life plants, trees and 

vines, breeding and production animals and f ield or row  

crops is in ASC 905-360 and is similar to the guidance 

under IFRS Standards except the revaluation approach 

is not permitted. 

Property, plant and equipment are tangible items that are 

(IAS 16.6): 

¶ Held for use in the production or supply of goods or 

services, for rental to others, or for administrative 

purposes; and are 

¶ Expected to be used during more than one period 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 360-10-05-3). 

Initial recognition 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 

recognized as an asset if , and only if  (IAS 16.7): 

¶ It is probable that future economic benefits 

associated w ith the item w ill f low  to the entity; and 

¶ The cost of the item can be measured reliably 

IAS 16.16-.22 contains detailed rules on the elements of 

cost. 

IAS 23 establishes criteria for the recognition of interest as 

a component of the carrying amount of a self -constructed 

item of property, plant and equipment (IAS 16.22). 

Note : In June 2017, the Board issued Exposure Draft, 

Property, Plant and Equipment ī Proceeds before 

Intended Use (Proposed amendments to IAS 16). IAS 16 

establishes principles for recognizing and measuring 

items of property, plant and equipment as assets. The 

proposed amendments w ould prohibit deducting from the 

cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any 

proceeds from selling items produced w hile bringing that 

asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be 

capable of operating in the manner intended by 

Similar to IFRS Standards. 

Historical cost of acquiring an asset includes the costs 

necessarily incurred to bring it to the condition and 

location necessary for its intended use. If an asset 

requires a period of time in w hich to carry out the 

activities necessary to bring it to that condition and 

location, the interest cost incurred during that period as a 

result of expenditures for the asset is a part of the 

historical cost of acquiring the asset (ASC 360-10-30-1 

and 835-20-05-1). 

 

An interest in the residual value of a leased asset shall 

be measured initially at the amount of cash disbursed, 

the fair value of other consideration given, and the 

present value of liabilities assumed. (ASC 360-10-30-3) 

 

Refer to ASC 805 and 845 for guidance on accounting 

for other assets in a business combination or 

nonmonetary transaction respectively. 
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IFRS Standards  U.S. GAAP 

management. Instead, an entity w ould recognize those 

sales proceeds in profit or loss.  

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the 

cash price equivalent at the recognition date. If payment is 

deferred beyond normal credit terms, the difference 

betw een the cash price equivalent and the total payment 

is recognized as interest over the period of credit unless 

such interest is capitalized in accordance w ith IAS 23 (IAS 

16.23). 

Historical cost is the amount of cash, or its equivalent, 

paid to acquire an asset, commonly adjusted after 

acquisition for amortization or other allocations 

(Concepts Statement 5.67a). 

IAS 16.16(c) requires the initial recognition to include an 

estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item 

and site restoration. This applies w hen the entity has an 

obligation as a consequence of using the item for a 

purpose other than production of inventory. 

Upon initial recognition of a liability for an asset 

retirement obligation, an entity capitalizes an asset 

retirement cost by increasing the carrying amount of the 

related long-lived asset by the same amount as the 

liability (ASC 410-20-25-5). 

Asset exchanges 

IAS 16.24-.26 deal w ith assets acquired in an exchange 

for non-monetary asset(s), or a combination of monetary 

and non-monetary assets (and w hether the new  asset is 

recognized at its fair value or the carrying amount of the 

asset given up ï the emphasis is on substance over form). 

Exchanges of nonmonetary assets are generally 

recorded at fair value. How ever, if  the exchange lacks 

commercial substance, fair value is not determinable, or 

itôs an exchange transaction to facilitate sales to 

customers, the exchange is recorded using a carryover 

basis (ASC 845-10-30-1 through 30-3). 

Subsequent costs 

IAS 16.13 requires that subsequent expenditure on 

components is added to cost (and the replaced element 

derecognized) (IAS 16.67-.72). Day-to-day servicing costs 

are expensed (IAS 16.12). Costs of major periodic 

inspections are capitalized (IAS 16.14) and any remaining 

carrying amount of the previous inspection cost is 

derecognized. 

Cost of routine maintenance is expensed as incurred. 

Major inspections and overhauls may be expensed as 

incurred (direct expensing method) or capitalized and 

amortized to the next major inspection or overhaul (built-

in overhaul and deferral methods)  

(ASC 908-720-25-3; ASC 908-360-35-4 through 35-6). 

Revaluations 

Revaluations are permitted (as an alternative to the cost 

model), but not required, but if  revalued are done on a 

class-by-class basis (IAS 16.29): 

¶ Revalue to fair value (usually market value) if  fair 

value can be measured reliably (IAS 16.31) 

¶ Revaluations are to be suff iciently regular that the 

carrying amount does not differ materially from fair 

value at the end of the reporting period  

(IAS 16.31 and .34) 

If an item of property, plant and equipment is revalued, the 

entire class of property, plant and equipment to w hich that 

asset belongs is revalued (IAS 16.36). 

When property, plant and equipment is revalued, the 

carrying amount of the asset is adjusted to the revalued 

amount. At the date of revaluation, the asset is treated by 

either: 

Unlike IFRS Standards, revaluation is not permitted 

except for impairment (see Section 4.4, ñImpairmentò). 

Reversals of impairment losses are not permitted (ASC 

350-20-35-13, ASC 350-30-35-20, and ASC 360-10-35-

20). 

Property, plant and equipment is not w ritten up by an 

entity to reflect appraisal, market, or current values 

w hich are above cost to the entity, except in special 

cases such as quasi-reorganizations  

(ASC 852-740-45-3). 
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¶ Adjusting gross carrying amount, consistent w ith the 

revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset, or 

¶ Eliminating the accumulated depreciation against the 

gross carrying amount of the asset 

The amount of the adjustment of accumulated 

depreciation forms part of the increase or decrease in 

carrying amount in IAS 16.39 and .40, noted below  

(IAS 16.35). 

If an assetôs carrying amount is increased as a result of a 

revaluation, the increase is recognized in OCI and 

accumulated in equity under the heading of revaluation 

surplus. How ever, the increase is recognized in profit or 

loss to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease 

of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss 

(IAS 16.39). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, revaluation is not permitted 

except for impairment (see Section 4.4, ñImpairmentò). 

Reversals of impairment losses are not permitted (ASC 

350-20-35-13, ASC 350-30-35-20, and ASC 360-10-35-

20). 

If an assetôs carrying amount is decreased as a result of a 

revaluation, the decrease is recognized in profit or loss. 

How ever, the decrease is recognized in OCI to the extent 

of any credit balance existing in the revaluation surplus in 

respect of that asset. The decrease recognized in OCI 

reduces the amount accumulated in equity under the 

heading of revaluation surplus (IAS 16.40). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, revaluation is not permitted 

except for impairment (see Section 4.4, ñImpairmentò). 

Reversals of impairment losses are not permitted (ASC 

350-20-35-13, ASC 350-30-35-20, and ASC 360-10-35-

20). 

The revaluation surplus included in equity in respect of an 

item of property, plant and equipment may be transferred 

directly to retained earnings w hen the asset is 

derecognized. This may involve transferring the w hole 

amount of the surplus w hen the asset is retired or 

disposed of. How ever, some of the surplus may be 

transferred as the asset is used by an entity. In such a 

case, the amount of the surplus transferred w ould be the 

difference betw een depreciation based on the revalued 

carrying amount of the asset and depreciation based on 

the assetôs original cost. Transfers from revaluation 

surplus to retained earnings are not made through profit or 

loss (IAS 16.41). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, revaluation is not permitted 

except for impairment (see Section 4.4, ñImpairmentò). 

Reversals of impairment losses are not permitted (ASC 

350-20-35-13, ASC 350-30-35-20, and ASC 360-10-35-

20). 

Depreciation 

Depreciation is recognized as long as the asset's residual 

value does not exceed its carrying amount in w hich case 

the depreciation charge is zero unless its residual value 

subsequently decreases to an amount below the assetôs 

carrying amount (IAS 16.52-.54). Land is generally not 

depreciated (IAS 16.58). 

A depreciation method that is based on revenue that is 

generated by an activity that includes the use of an asset 

is not appropriate. The revenue generated by an activity 

that includes the use of an asset generally reflects factors 

other than the consumption of the economic benefits of 

the assets (IAS 16.62A). 

Property, plant and equipment (less estimated salvage 

value) are depreciated over their expected useful lives. 

(ASC 360-10-35-4). Land is not depreciated. 

 

 

 

ASC 360-10-35 addresses acceptable methods of 

depreciation. 
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The residual value and the useful life of an asset is 

review ed at least at each f inancial year-end and, if  

expectations differ from previous estimates, the change(s) 

is accounted for as a change in an accounting estimate in 

accordance w ith IAS 8 (IAS 16.51). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, there is no requirement that 

residual values and useful life be review ed annually. 

How ever, for SEC registrants, there is an expectation of 

a continual evaluation of the appropriateness of useful 

lives of long-lived assets and to changes to estimated 

residual values (SEC SAB Topic 5: CC). 

The asset management policy of the entity may involve 

the disposal of assets after a specif ied time or after 

consumption of a specif ied proportion of the future 

economic benefits embodied in the asset. Therefore, the 

useful life of an asset may be shorter than its economic 

life. The estimation of the useful life of the asset is a 

matter of judgment based on the experience of the entity 

w ith similar assets (IAS 16.57). 

ASC 360-10-35-4 requires depreciation over the 

expected useful life of the facility in such a w ay as to 

allocate it as equitably as possible to the periods during 

w hich services are obtained from the use of the facility.  

Component depreciation is required w hereby each part of 

an item of property, plant and equipment w ith a cost that 

is signif icant in relation to the total cost of the item is 

depreciated separately (IAS 16.43). 

The carrying amounts of parts or components that are 

replaced are derecognized (IAS 16.70). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, component depreciation is not 

required but is allow ed. Depreciation method is to be 

systematic and rational (ASC 360-10-35-4). 

Depreciation ceases in accordance w ith IFRS 5 if the 

asset qualifies as held for sale (see Section 2.6, ñNon-

current assets held for sale and discontinued operationsò) 

(IAS 16.3). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 360-10-35-43). 

Borrowing costs 

Borrow ing costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition, construction, or production of a qualifying 

asset form part of the cost of that asset. Other borrow ing 

costs are recognized as an expense (IAS 23.1). 

IAS 23 applies to a qualifying asset w hich is an asset that 

necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready 

for its intended use or sale (IAS 23.5). 

Financial assets, and inventories that are manufactured, 

or otherw ise produced, over a short period of time are not 

qualifying assets. Assets that are ready for their intended 

use or sale w hen acquired are not qualifying assets 

(IAS 23.7). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, the definition of a qualifying 

asset does not include the term substantial (ASC 835-

20-15-5 through 15-6). 

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs that an entity 

incurs in connection w ith the borrow ing of funds (IAS 

23.5). Borrow ing costs may be interpreted more broadly 

than interest costs (e.g. exchange differences arising from 

foreign currency borrow ings to the extent that they are 

regarded as an adjustment to interest costs) (IAS 23.6(e)). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, borrow ing costs are generally 

limited to interest cost (ASC 835-20-05-1). Interest cost 

includes interest recognized on obligations having 

explicit interest rates, interest imputed on certain types of 

payables in accordance w ith ASC 835-30, and interest 

related to a capital lease determined in accordance w ith 

ASC 840ï30. With respect to obligations having explicit 

interest rates, interest cost includes amounts resulting 

from periodic amortization of discount or premium and 
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issue costs on debt (ASC Master Glossary, ñInterest 

Costò). 

An entity capitalizes borrow ing costs that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 

of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. An 

entity recognizes other borrow ing costs as an expense in 

the period in w hich it incurs them (IAS 23.8). 

Interest costs are capitalized as part of the historical cost 

of qualifying assets w hen those assets require a period 

of time (e.g. a construction period) to get them ready for 

their intended use (ASC 835-20-05-1 and ASC 360-10-

30-1). 

When an entity borrow s funds specif ically for the purpose 

of obtaining a qualifying asset, the entity determines the 

amount of borrow ing costs eligible for capitalization as the 

actual borrow ing costs incurred on that borrow ing during 

the period less any investment income on the temporary 

investment of those borrow ings (IAS 23.12). 

When an entity borrow s funds specif ically for the 

purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, an entity may 

use the rate of that borrow ing (ASC 835-20-30-3). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, a deduction for income earned is 

generally not permitted, unless particular tax-exempt 

borrow ings are involved (ASC 835-20-30-10). 

When an entity borrow s funds generally and uses them for 

the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the entity 

determines the amount of borrow ing costs eligible for 

capitalization by applying a capitalization rate to the 

expenditures on that asset. The capitalization rate is the 

w eighted average of the borrow ing costs applicable to all 

borrow ings of the entity that are outstanding during the 

period. How ever, an entity excludes from this calculation 

borrow ing costs applicable to borrow ings made 

specif ically for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset 

until substantially all the activities necessary to prepare 

that asset for its intended use or sale are complete. The 

amount of borrow ing costs that an entity capitalizes during 

a period cannot exceed the amount of borrow ing costs it 

incurred during that period (IAS 23.14). 

In identifying the borrow ings to be included in the 

w eighted average rate, the objective is a reasonable 

measure of the cost of f inancing acquisition of the asset 

in terms of the interest cost incurred that otherw ise could 

have been avoided. Judgment is required to make a 

selection of borrow ings that best accomplishes that 

objective in the circumstances. How ever, the use of 

judgment in determining capitalization rates does not 

circumvent the requirement that a capitalization rate be 

applied to all capitalized expenditures for a qualifying 

asset to the extent that interest cost has been incurred 

during an accounting period (ASC 835-20-30-4). 

IAS 23 begins capitalizing borrow ing costs as part of the 

cost of a qualifying asset on the commencement date. 

The commencement date for capitalization is the date 

w hen the entity f irst meets all of these conditions 

(IAS 23.17-.19): 

¶ Incurs expenditures for the asset  

¶ Incurs borrow ing costs  

¶ Undertakes activities necessary to prepare the asset 

for its intended use or sale  

Interest cost capitalization is required w hen activities to 

get the asset ready for intended use are in progress, 

expenditures have been made, and interest cost is being 

incurred (ASC 835-20-25-3). 

In cases involving qualifying assets f inanced w ith the 

proceeds of tax-exempt borrow ings that are externally 

restricted, the capitalization begins at the date of the 

borrow ing (ASC 835-20-25-8). 

An entity suspends capitalization of borrow ing costs 

during extended periods in w hich it suspends active 

development of a qualifying asset (IAS 23.20). 

An entity ceases capitalizing borrow ing costs w hen 

substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the 

qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are complete 

(IAS 23.22). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, an entity suspends 

capitalization of borrow ing costs during extended delays 

in construction (ASC 835-20-25-4) and ceases 

capitalization of borrow ing costs once the asset is ready 

for use (ASC 835-20-25-5). 

When the carrying amount or the expected ultimate cost 

of the qualifying asset exceeds its recoverable amount or 

net realizable value, the carrying amount is w ritten dow n 

Accumulation of costs signif icantly in excess of the 

amount originally expected for the acquisition or 

construction of a long-lived asset is an indicator that the 
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or w ritten off in accordance w ith the requirements of other 

standards. In certain circumstances, the amount of the 

w rite dow n or w rite-off is w ritten back in accordance w ith 

those other standards (IAS 23.16). 

asset is to be tested for impairment (ASC 360-10-35-

21(d)). 

Impairment 

There is no requirement for annual impairment review s of 

property, plant and equipment. How ever, IAS 36 contains 

rules on impairment and may require an impairment 

review  if an indication of impairment exists (IAS 16.63). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, there is no requirement for 

annual impairment review s of property, plant and 

equipment. How ever, ASC 360-10, Impairment or 

Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, subsections contain rules 

on impairment and may require an impairment review  if 

an indication of impairment exists (ASC 360-10-35-21). 
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4.2  Investment property  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 40 and 16; IFRS 5 and 13 Relevant guidance: See Section 4.1, ñProperty, plant 

and equipmentò and ASC 360, 845, 970, and 976 

Introduction 

Investment property is property (land or a building ï or 

part of a building ï or both) held (by the ow ner or by the 

lessee under a f inance lease) to earn rentals or for capital 

appreciation or both, rather than for (IAS 40.5): 

¶ Use in the production or supply of goods or services 

or for administrative purposes; or 

¶ Sale in the ordinary course of business 

Also, see IAS 40.7-.15, w hich supplements the basic 

definition. 

In February 2016, the Board issued IFRS 16, Leases, 

w hich requires all lessees to classify all leases as f inance 

leases and ref lect them on the balance sheet. IFRS 16 

amends and supersedes portions of IAS 40, and those 

areas have been noted w ith shaded text below . For more 

information on IFRS 16, refer to Section 5.1 and 5.2. 

Unlike IFRS Standards, there is no equivalent 

requirement. Property held for investment purposes is 

treated the same as other property, plant and equipment 

(see Section 4.1, ñProperty, plant and equipmentò). Real 

estate guidance is included in ASC 970, and ASC 976. 

Note: In May 2014, the Board and the FASB issued, 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

(IFRS 15 and ASC 606). The guidance establishes 

principles that entities w ould apply to provide f inancial 

statement users w ith useful information about the nature, 

amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash 

f low s from contracts w ith customers. Upon adoption of 

the new  guidance on revenue recognition, the guidance 

in ASC 360-20 w ill relate only to guidance on sale-

leaseback accounting. 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, 

Leases, w hich supersedes the guidance in ASC 360-20 

upon its effective date, for public business entities in 

f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 and for 

most other entities f iscal years beginning after December 

15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for all entities. 

Examples of investment property are (IAS 40.8): 

¶ Land held for long-term capital appreciation rather 

than short-term sale in the ordinary course of 

business 

¶ Land held for a currently undetermined future use. (If 

an entity has not determined that it w ill use the land 

as ow ner-occupied property or for short-term sale in 

the ordinary course of business, the land is regarded 

as held for capital appreciation.) 

¶ A building ow ned by the entity (or held by the entity 

under a f inance lease) and leased out under one or 

more operating leases 

¶ A building that is vacant but is held to be leased out 

under one or more operating leases 

¶ Property that is being constructed or developed for 

future use as investment property 

IAS 40 excludes ow ner-occupied property f rom being 

investment property (IAS 40.7 and .9(c)). IAS 16 applies to 

ow ner-occupied property. (Upon adoption of IFRS 16, this 

guidance is amended.) 

No similar requirement. 
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A property interest that is held by a lessee under an 

operating lease may be classif ied and accounted for as 

investment property if , and only if , the property w ould 

otherw ise meet the definition of an investment property 

and the lessee uses the fair value model set out in 

IAS 40.33-.55 for the asset recognized (IAS 40.6). 

This classif ication alternative is available on a property-by-

property basis. How ever, once this classif ication 

alternative is selected for one such property interest held 

under an operating lease, all property classif ied as 

investment property is accounted for using the fair value 

model. When this classif ication alternative is selected, any 

interest so classif ied is included in the disclosures 

required by IAS 40.74-.78 (IAS 40.6). (Upon adoption of 

IFRS 16, this guidance is superseded.) 

Unlike IFRS Standards, any property held under an 

operating lease is not capitalized. Rent is expensed as 

incurred. 

Note : In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, 

Leases, w hich requires lessees to recognize most leases 

on the balance sheet. The Board issued IFRS 16, 

Leases, in w hich lessees w ill treat all leases as f inance 

leases, w hich w ill be recorded on the balance sheet. The 

standard is effective for public business entities for f iscal 

years beginning after December 15, 2018. For most 

other entities, the standard is effective for f iscal years 

beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is 

permitted for all entities.  

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn 

rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that 

is held for use in the production or supply of goods or 

services or for administrative purposes. If these portions 

could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a 

f inance lease), an entity accounts for the portions 

separately. If  the portions could not be sold separately, the 

property is investment property only if  an insignif icant 

portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods 

or services or for administrative purposes (IAS 40.10). 

IAS 40.11-.14 contains guidance w here other services 

provided to property ï particularly relevant for situations 

like a hotel-ow ning company that subcontracts hotel 

management elsew here. 

Judgment is needed to determine w hether the acquisition 

of investment property is the acquisition of an asset or 

group of assets or a business combination w ithin the 

scope of IFRS 3. The guidance in IFRS 3, not IAS 40.7-

.14, w ould be applied to determine if the acquisition 

qualif ies as a business combination (IFRS 40.14A). 

No similar requirement. 

In some cases, an entity ow ns property that is leased to, 

and occupied by, its parent or another subsidiary. The 

property does not qualify as investment property in the 

consolidated f inancial statements, because the property is 

ow ner-occupied from the perspective of the group. 

How ever, from the perspective of the entity that ow ns it, 

the property is investment property if  it meets the definition 

in IAS 40.5. Therefore, the lessor treats the property as 

investment property in its individual f inancial statements 

(IAS 40.15). 

No similar requirement. 
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Measurement at recognition 

An investment property is measured initially at its cost. 

Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement 

(IAS 40.20). (Upon adoption of IFRS 16, this guidance is 

amended.) 

The initial cost of a property interest held under a lease 

and classif ied as an investment property is the same as 

that for a f inance lease (IAS 17.20), i.e. the asset is 

recognized at the low er of the fair value of the property 

and the present value of the minimum lease payments. An 

equivalent amount is recognized as a liability (IAS 40.25).  

(Upon adoption of IFRS 16 Leases, this guidance is 

superseded.) 

No similar requirement. 

IAS 40.27-.29 contains guidance w here the asset is 

acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset(s), or a 

combination of monetary and non-monetary assets 

(similar to IAS 16). 

An investment property held by a lessee as a right-of-use 

asset shall be initially measured at its cost in accordance 

w ith IFRS 16 (40.29A, effective upon the adoption of IFRS 

16). 

Exchanges of nonmonetary assets are covered by 

ASC 845. 

Measurement after recognition 

Except for IAS 40.32A, IAS 40 permits tw o recognition 

approaches. An entity chooses as its accounting policy 

one of the follow ing models and applies that policy to all of 

its investment property (IAS 40.30): 

¶ Fair value model, w ith annual remeasurement w here 

movements are recognized in profit or loss 

(IAS 40.33-.55) 

¶ Cost model, i.e. carry at cost less depreciation 

(measure under IAS 16 after initial recognition). 

Investment property that meets the criteria to be 

classif ied as held for sale (or is included in a disposal 

group that is classif ied as held for sale) is measured 

in accordance w ith IFRS 5 (IAS 40.56). (Upon 

adoption of IFRS 16, this guidance is amended.) 

Change from one model to the other is permitted only if  it 

results in more appropriate presentation. This is 

considered highly unlikely in the case of moving from fair 

value model to cost model (IAS 40.31). 

If  the cost model is adopted, certain fair value disclosures 

are still required (IAS 40.79(e)). (Upon adoption of IFRS 

16, this guidance is amended.) 

No similar requirement. Investment property 

measurement is similar to the IFRS Standards cost 

model (but fair value disclosure is not required). 

Fair value model 

Where the fair value model is adopted, a gain or loss from 

a change in the fair value of investment property is 

Fair value model is not permitted (except at impairment). 
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recognized in profit or loss for the period in w hich it arises 

(IAS 40.35). 

IAS 40.40-.41, .48, and .50 provides guidance on 

determining fair value, w hich is determined in accordance 

w ith IFRS 13. (Upon adoption of IFRS 16, this guidance is 

amended.) 

Fair value model is not permitted (except at impairment). 

An entity is encouraged, but not required, to determine the 

fair value of investment property on the basis of a 

valuation by an independent valuer w ho holds a 

recognized and relevant professional qualif ication and has 

recent experience in the location and category of the 

investment property being valued (IAS 40.32). 

Fair value model is not permitted (except at impairment). 

There may be an inability for an entity to determine fair 

value reliably, such as w hen the market for comparable 

properties is inactive (for example, few  recent 

transactions, price quotes are not current or observed 

transaction prices indicate seller w as forced to sell) and 

alternative reliable measurements of fair value (for 

example, based on discounted cash f low  projections) are 

not available. If  an entity determines that the fair value of 

an investment property under construction is not reliably 

determinable but expects the fair value of the property to 

be reliably determinable w hen construction is complete, it 

measures that investment property under construction at 

cost until either its fair value becomes reliably 

determinable or construction is completed (w hichever is 

earlier). If  an entity determines that the fair value of an 

investment property (other than an investment property 

under construction) is not reliably measurable on a 

continuing basis, the entity measures that investment 

property using the cost model in IAS 16 (IAS 40.53). 

(Upon adoption of IFRS 16, this guidance is amended.) 

Fair value model is not permitted (except at impairment). 

Transfers 

Transfers to, or from, investment property are made w hen, 

and only w hen, there is a change in use. A change in use 

occurs w hen a property meets or ceases to meet, the 

definition of an investment property and there is evidence 

of the change of use. In isolation, managementôs 

intentions for the use of a property does not provide 

evidence of a change in use. A change in use may be 

evidenced by (IAS 40.57): 

¶ Commencement of ow ner-occupation, for a transfer 

from investment property 

¶ Commencement of development w ith a view  to sale, 

for a transfer from investment property to inventories 

¶ End of ow ner-occupation, for a transfer from ow ner-

occupied property to investment property; or 

No similar requirement. 
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¶ Commencement of an operating lease to another 

party, for a transfer from inventories to investment 

property 

For a transfer from investment property carried at fair 

value to ow ner-occupied property or inventories, the 

propertyôs deemed cost for subsequent accounting in 

accordance w ith IAS 16 or IAS 2 is its fair value at the 

date of change in use (IAS 40.60). 

If  an ow ner-occupied property becomes an investment 

property that w ill be carried at fair value, an entity applies 

IAS 16 up to the date of change in use. The entity treats 

any difference at that date betw een the carrying amount of 

the property and its fair value in accordance w ith the 

revaluation provisions of IAS 16 (IAS 40.61). 

(Upon adoption of IFRS 16, this guidance is amended.) 

For a transfer from inventories to investment property that 

w ill be carried at fair value, any difference betw een fair 

value of the property at that date and its previous carrying 

amount is recognized in profit or loss  

(IAS 40.63). 

When an entity completes the construction or 

development of a self -constructed investment property 

that w ill be carried at fair value, any difference betw een 

the fair value of the property at that date and its previous 

carrying amount is recognized in profit or loss (IAS 40.65). 

Disposals 

An investment property is derecognized (eliminated from 

the statement of f inancial position) on disposal or w hen 

the investment property is permanently w ithdraw n from 

use and no future economic benefits are expected from its 

disposal (IAS 40.66). 

The disposal of an investment property may be achieved 

by sale or by entering into a f inance lease (IAS 40.67). 

(Upon adoption of IFRS 16, this guidance is amended.) 

Gains or losses arising from retirement or disposal of 

investment property is determined as the difference 

betw een the net disposal proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss 

(unless IAS 17 requires otherw ise on a sale and 

leaseback) in the period of the retirement or disposal 

(IAS 40.69). (Upon adoption of IFRS 16, this guidance is 

amended.) 

No similar requirement. 

Held for sale 

See Section 2.6, ñNon-current assets held for sale and 

discontinued operations.ò IFRS 5 only applies where the 

cost model is used. Other investment properties are out of 

the scope of IFRS 5 (IFRS 5.5(d)). 

For public entities, investment property held for sale is 

carried at fair value less cost to sell pursuant to  

ASC 360-10-S55 and S99 subsections on impairment or 

disposal of long-lived assets. 
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4.3  Intangible assets  

Note : This section does not cover goodw ill ï see Section 9, ñBusiness combinationsò for a discussion of goodwill. 

In August 2018 the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Customerôs Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud 

Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force), to 

address how  a customer should account for the costs of implementing a cloud computing service arrangement (also 

referred to as a ñhosting arrangementò). 

Under ASU 2018-15, entities should account for costs associated w ith implementing a cloud computing arrangement 

that is considered a service contract in the same w ay as accounting for implementation costs incurred to develop or 

obtain softw are for internal use using the guidance in ASC 350-40. The amendments address w hen costs should be 

capitalized rather than expensed, the term to use w hen amortizing capitalized costs, and how  to evaluate the 

unamortized portion of these capitalized implementation costs for impairment. The ASU also includes guidance on 

how  to present implementation costs in the f inancial statements and creates additional disclosure requirements. 

There is no similar guidance in IFRS Standards.  

The amendments are effective for public business entities in f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, 

including interim periods w ithin those f iscal years, and for all other entities in f iscal years beginning after December 

15, 2020 and in interim periods w ithin f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted for 

all entities in any annual or interim period if the f inancial statements have not been issued or made available for 

issuance. 

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 36 and 38; IFRS 3, 5, and 13; 

SIC 32 

Relevant guidance : ASC 340, 350, 360, 720, 730, 805, 

and 985; Concepts Statement 5 

Introduction 

The objective of IAS 38 is to prescribe the accounting 

treatment for intangible assets that are not dealt w ith 

specif ically in another Standard. IAS 38 requires an entity 

to recognize an intangible asset if  specif ied criteria are 

met. IAS 38 also specif ies how  to measure the carrying 

amount of intangible assets (IAS 38.1). 

An intangible asset is an identif iable non-monetary asset 

w ithout physical substance (IAS 38.8). 

An asset is identif iable if  it either is (IAS 38.12): 

¶ Separable ï capable of being separated or divided 

from the entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented, 

or exchanged, either individually or together w ith a 

related contract, identif iable asset or liability, 

regardless of w hether the entity intends to do so, or  

¶ Arises from contractual or other legal rights, 

regardless of w hether those rights are transferable or 

separable from the entity or from other rights and 

obligations 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 350-30-05-1). 

Intangible assets are defined as assets (not including 

f inancial assets) that lack physical substance  

(ASC Master Glossary, ñIntangible Assetsò). 

If intangible assets qualify as held for sale then IFRS 5 

measurement and presentation rules apply (IAS 38.3(h)). 

If  intangible assets qualify as held for sale then  

ASC 360-10-35-15 through 35-49, Impairment or 

Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, subsections on 

measurement and presentation rules apply. 
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Intangible assets arising from contracts w ith customers 

are accounted for in accordance w ith IFRS 15  

(IAS 38.3 (i)), w ith an effective date of  January 1, 2018. 

The guidance on the transfer or sale of intangible assets, 

upon the adoption of ASC 606 is addressed in ASC 350-

10-40. 

Recognition and measurement 

If  an item meets the definition of an intangible asset, it is 

recognized if: 

¶ The cost of the asset can be measured reliably 

(IAS 38.21) or acquired in a business combination 

(IAS 38.33) 

¶ It is probable that the expected future economic 

benefits (IAS 38.17) w ill f low  to the entity (IAS 38.21) 

ï this criterion is alw ays considered to be satisf ied if 

the intangible asset is separately acquired (IAS 

38.25)  

An intangible asset that is acquired individually or w ith a 

group of other assets (other than those acquired in a 

business combination) is recognized if it meets the 

asset-recognition criteria in Concepts Statement 5. It 

does not have to meet the contractual-legal criterion or 

the separability criterion (ASC 350-30-25-4). 

The cost of separately acquired intangible assets (not as 

part of a business combination) includes (IAS 38.27): 

¶ Purchase price, including import duties and non-

refundable purchase taxes, after deducting trade 

discounts and rebates 

¶ Directly attributable costs of preparing the asset for its 

intended use 

An intangible asset that is acquired individually or w ith a 

group of other assets (but not those acquired in a 

business combination) is measured based on the 

guidance included in ASC 805-50-15-3 and ASC 805-50-

30-1 through 30-4. The cost of a group of assets 

acquired in a transaction (other than those acquired in a 

business combination) is allocated to the individual 

assets based on their relative fair values and does not 

give rise to goodw ill (ASC 805-50-30-3). 

Research and development (internally generated intangible assets) 

No intangible asset arising from research (or from the 

research phase of an internal project) is recognized. 

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an 

internal project) is recognized as an expense w hen 

incurred (IAS 38.54). 

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the 

development phase of an internal project) is recognized if 

an entity can demonstrate all of the follow ing (IAS 38.57): 

¶ Technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset 

so it w ill be available for use or sale 

¶ Intention to complete the intangible asset and use or 

sell it 

¶ Ability to use or sell the intangible asset 

¶ How  the intangible asset w ill generate probable future 

economic benefits 

¶ Availability of adequate technical, f inancial, and other 

resources to complete development and to use or sell 

the intangible asset 

¶ Ability to reliably measure the expenditure attributable 

to the intangible asset during its development 

Expenditures related to research and development 

activities are expensed as incurred (ASC 730-10-25-1). 

Costs related to computer softw are are discussed below . 

Costs of internally developing, maintaining, or restoring 

intangible assets (including goodw ill) that are not 

specif ically identif iable, that have indeterminate lives, or 

that are inherent in a continuing business and related to 

an entity as a w hole, are expensed w hen incurred  

(ASC 350-20-25-3). 
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Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, 

customer lists and items similar in substance are not 

recognized as intangible assets (IAS 38.63). 

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset is the 

sum of all expenditures incurred from the date the 

recognition criteria in IAS 38.21, .22, and .57 are f irst met 

(IAS 38.65). 

IAS 38.66-.67 provides examples of costs of internally 

generated intangible assets that are and are not 

capitalizable ï for instance, identif ied ineff iciencies, initial 

operating losses, and training costs are all specif ically  

excluded from capitalization. 

Acquisition as part of a business combination 

IAS 38.33-.37 provides guidance for the initial 

measurement and recognition of an intangible asset 

acquired in a business combination: 

¶ In accordance w ith IFRS 3, if  an intangible asset is 

acquired in a business combination, the cost of that 

intangible asset is its fair value at the acquisition date. 

Both the probability recognition criterion and the 

reliable measurement criterion in IAS 38.21 are 

alw ays considered to be satisf ied for intangible assets 

acquired in a business combination. 

¶ In accordance w ith IFRS 3 and IAS 38, an acquirer 

recognizes at the acquisition date, separately from 

goodw ill, an intangible asset of the acquiree, 

irrespective of w hether the asset had been 

recognized by the acquiree before the business 

combination. The in-process research and 

development project of the acquiree must meet the 

definition of an intangible asset and be identif iable. 

Similar to IFRS Standards, an intangible asset acquired 

in a business combination is recognized at fair value 

separately f rom goodw ill if  it is separable or it arises from 

contractual or other legal rights, regardless of w hether 

those rights are transferable or separable (ASC 805-20-

25-10 and ASC Master Glossary, ñIdentifiableò). 

An acquired in-process research and development 

project is recognized as an indefinite-lived intangible 

asset at its acquisition-date fair value  

(ASC 350-30-35-17A, 18B and ASC 730-10-15-4). 

Recognition of an expense 

An expenditure on an intangible item is not capitalized 

unless it forms part of the cost of an intangible asset that 

meets the recognition criteria in IAS 38 or is acquired in a 

business combination and cannot be recognized as an 

intangible asset, in w hich case it is recognized as part of 

the goodw ill (IAS 38.68). 

Some expenditures may be incurred to provide a future 

economic benefit, but an intangible asset or other asset is 

not created or acquired that can be recognized 

(IAS 38.69). In these situations, the expenditure is 

recognized as an expense w hen it is incurred. Examples 

of such expenditures include: 

¶ Start-up activities unless the expenditure is included 

in the cost of property, plant and equipment under 

IAS 16 

Similar to IFRS Standards, except for certain advertising 

expenditures, w hich are expensed as incurred (similar to 

IFRS Standards) or the f irst time the advertising takes 

place (unlike IFRS Standards), except as noted below  

(ASC 720-35-25-1). 

 

When an entity assumes an obligation to reimburse 

customers for some of all of the customersô advertising 

costs (cooperative advertising), the revenue related to 

the transactions creating those obligations is recognized 

before the expenditures are made, those obligations are 

accrued and the related advertising costs are expensed 

w hen the related revenues are recognized (ASC 720-35-

25-1A). 
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¶ Training activities 

¶ Advertising and promotional activities 

¶ Relocation or reorganization activities 

Expenditure on an intangible item that w as initially 

recognized as an expense is not recognized as part of the 

cost of an intangible asset at a later date (IAS 38.71). 

Measurement after recognition 

An entity chooses either the cost model in IAS 38.74 or 

the revaluation model in IAS 38.75 as its accounting policy 

(IAS 38.72). 

If  the revaluation model is selected, all the other assets in 

that class are also accounted for using the same model, 

unless there is no active market for those assets  

(IAS 38.72). 

Revaluation is not permitted (ASC 350-30-35-14). 

Cost model: After initial recognition, an intangible asset is 

carried at its cost less any accumulated amortization and 

any impairment losses (IAS 38.74). 

Revaluation model: After initial recognition, an intangible 

asset is carried at a revalued amount, being its fair value 

at the date of the revaluation less any subsequent 

accumulated amortization and any subsequent 

accumulated impairment losses. Fair value is measured 

by reference to an active market for the purpose of 

revaluations under IAS 38. Revaluations are made w ith 

such regularity that at the end of the reporting period, the 

carrying amount of the asset does not differ materially 

from its fair value (IAS 38.75). 

When an intangible asset is revaluated, the carrying 

amount of the asset is adjusted to the revalued amount. At 

the date of the revaluation, either: 

¶ The gross carrying amount is adjusted consistent w ith 

the revaluation of the carrying amount of the assets, 

or  

¶ The accumulated amortization is eliminated against 

the gross carrying amount of the asset 

The amount of the adjustment of accumulated 

amortization forms part of the increase or decrease in the 

carrying amount that is accounted for in IAS 38.85 or .86 

(IAS 38.80). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 350-30-35). 

 

 

Revaluation is not permitted (ASC 350-30-35-14). 

Useful life and amortization 

An entity assesses w hether the useful life of an intangible 

asset is f inite or indefinite and, if  f inite, the length of, or 

number of production or similar units constituting, that 

useful life. An intangible asset is regarded by the entity as 

having an indefinite useful life w hen, based on an analysis 

of all the relevant factors, there is no foreseeable limit to 

Similar to IFRS Standards, intangible assets are 

amortized over their useful life unless that life is 

determined to be indefinite (ASC 350-30-35-6 through 

35-7).  
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the period over w hich the asset is expected to generate 

net cash inflow s for the entity (IAS 38.88). 

The term indefinite does not mean infinite (IAS 38.91). 

Intangible assets are amortized over their useful life 

unless that life is determined to be indefinite (IAS 38.97). 

 

 

Indefinite does not mean infinite (ASC 350-30-35-4).  

Intangible assets subject to amortization are review ed for 

impairment in accordance w ith ASC 360-10, ñImpairment 

or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,ò subsections 

(ASC 350-30-35-14). 

Impairment 

An intangible asset w ith a f inite useful life is amortized and 

then tested for impairment in accordance w ith IAS 36.7-

.17. An entity assesses at the end of each reporting period 

w hether there is any indication that an asset may be 

impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates 

the recoverable amount of the asset (IAS 36.9). 

An intangible asset w ith an indefinite useful life is not 

amortized (IAS 38.107). Irrespective of w hether there is 

any indication of impairment , an entity also tests an 

intangible asset w ith an indefinite useful life for impairment 

by comparing its recoverable amount w ith its carrying 

amount annually and w henever there is an indication that 

the intangible asset may be impaired  

(IAS 36.10(a) and IAS 38.108). 

See Section 4.4, ñImpairmentò for a detailed discussion of 

the IFRS guidance on the analysis for impairment. 

An intangible asset that is amortized and other long-lived 

assets (a long-lived asset or asset group) are tested for 

impairment using a tw o-step process. If the carrying 

amount of the asset or group is not recoverable and it is 

greater than its fair value, an impairment loss is 

recognized (ASC 360-10-35-17). 

An intangible asset w ith an indefinite useful life is not 

amortized. It is tested for impairment annually and, more 

frequently, if  events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that it is more likely than not that the asset is 

impaired (ASC 350-30-35-18). 

 

 

See Section 4.4, ñImpairmentò for a discussion of the 

U.S. GAAP guidance on the analysis for impairment. 

Other matters 

Computer softw are is an intangible asset subject to the 

guidance in IAS 38 unless it is an integral part of related 

hardw are in w hich case IAS 16 w ould apply (IAS 38.4). 

Computer softw are costs may be capitalized as an 

intangible asset in certain specif ic circumstances. 

Separate guidelines are provided for internal-use 

softw are (ASC 350-40) and softw are to be sold, leased, 

or marketed (ASC 985-20). 

A w eb site developed for internal or external access is an 

internally generated intangible asset that is subject to the 

guidance in IAS 38. SIC 32 provides interpretive guidance 

on the application of IAS 38 for w eb site development 

costs. For example, SIC 32 discusses the different stages 

in the development of a w eb site and the accounting for 

the costs incurred in those stages. 

Similar to IFRS Standards, w eb site development costs 

are capitalized as an intangible asset in certain specif ic 

circumstances. Generally, ASC 350-50 discusses the 

different stages in the development of a w eb site and the 

accounting for the costs incurred in those stages. For 

example, ASC 350-50 refers to ASC 350-40 for internal-

use softw are and ASC 985-20 for softw are to be 

marketed externally (ASC 350-50-25-4). 
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4.4  Impairment  

Accounting for goodwill impairment 

The Board has undertaken a research project on goodw ill and impairment w ith an objective to consider how  to 

address certain areas of focus identif ied in the Post-implementation Review  of IFRS 3. 

The FASB has undertaken a research project to consider w hether to make changes to the subsequent accounting for 

goodw ill other than the changes to the guidance on impairment noted below . 

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 36; IFRS 13 Relevant guidance : ASC 350, 360, and 820 

Introduction 

The objective of IAS 36 is to prescribe the procedures that 

an entity applies to ensure that its assets are carried at no 

more than their recoverable amount. An asset is carried at 

more than its recoverable amount if  its carrying amount 

exceeds the amount to be recovered through use or sale 

of the asset. If  this is the case, the asset is described as 

impaired and IAS 36 requires the entity to recognize an 

impairment loss. IAS 36 also specif ies w hen an entity 

reverses an impairment loss (IAS 36.1). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 360-10-35-15). 

Identifying an asset that may be impaired 

An entity assesses at the end of each reporting period 

w hether there is any indication that an asset may be 

impaired. If any such indication exists, the entity estimates 

the recoverable amount of the asset (IAS 36.9). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 360-10-35-21). 

Irrespective of w hether there is any indication of 

impairment, an entity (IAS 36.10): 

¶ Tests an intangible asset w ith an indefinite useful life 

or an intangible asset not yet available for use for 

impairment annually by comparing its carrying 

amount w ith its recoverable amount 

¶ Tests goodw ill acquired in a business combination for 

impairment annually in accordance w ith IAS 36.80-99 

If a cash generating unit includes goodw ill, it is subject to 

annual impairment testing and w henever there is an 

indication that the unit may be impaired the carrying 

amount of the unit, including the goodw ill, is compared to 

the recoverable amount of the unit. If  the recoverable 

amount of the unit exceeds the carrying amount of the 

unit, the unit and the goodw ill allocated to that unit shall be 

regarded as not impaired. If the carrying amount of the 

unit exceeds the recoverable amount of the unit, the entity 

shall recognize the impairment loss in accordance w ith 

IAS 36.104 (IAS 36.90). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, except an intangible asset 

not yet available for use is review ed for impairment w hen 

an indicator of impairment exists. There are also some 

differences in the indicators of impairment. For example, 

under IAS 36 a change in market interest rates or other 

market rates of return is an indicator of impairment  

(ASC 350-30-35-18 through 35-20). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, goodw ill of a reporting unit is 

tested for impairment on an annual basis and betw een 

annual tests in certain circumstances. The annual 

goodw ill impairment test may be performed any time 

during the f iscal year provided the test is performed at 

same time every year. Different reporting units may be 

tested for impairment at different times (ASC 350-20-35-

28 and 35-30). 

The impairment test is a one-step process. If the 

recoverable amount is below  the carrying amount, the 

carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable 

amount and an impairment loss is recognized (IAS 36.59). 

In general, an impairment loss is recognized if the 

carrying amount exceeds fair value. Fair value is defined 

as the price that w ould be received to sell an asset or 

paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
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Recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less 

costs of disposal and its value in use (IAS 36.6). 

Value in use is the present value of the future cash f low s 

expected to be derived from an asset or cash-generating 

unit (CGU) (IAS 36.6). 

betw een market participants at the measurement date 

(ASC Master Glossary, ñFair Valueò). 

The impairment test for goodw ill (ASC 350-20-35) and 

the impairment test for long-lived assets other than 

indefinite-lived intangible assets (ASC 360-10-35) is a 

tw o-step process. The f irst step is used to identify 

potential impairment. 

Impairment testing  goodwill 

Goodw ill acquired in a business combination is allocated 

to the acquirerôs cash-generating units (CGU) pursuant to 

the guidance in IAS 36.80-.90. Each unit or group of units 

that goodw ill is allocated to represent the low est level 

w ithin the entity that goodw ill is monitored for internal 

management purposes and are not larger than an 

operating segment as defined by IFRS 8.5, before 

aggregation (IAS 36.80). 

A CGU is the smallest identif iable group of assets that 

generate cash f low s that are largely independent of the 

cash inflow s from other assets or group of assets 

(IAS 36.6). 

Goodw ill is tested for impairment at the CGU level using a 

one-step approach. If the recoverable amount of the unit is 

less than the carrying amount of the unit, an impairment 

loss is recognized and allocated as follow s (IAS 36.104): 

¶ First, reduce the carrying amount of any goodw ill 

allocated to the CGU 

¶ Then, reduce the carrying amount of the other assets 

of the group on a pro rata basis of the carrying 

amount of each asset in the unit 

These reductions in carrying amounts are treated as 

impairment losses on individual assets and recognized in 

accordance w ith IAS 36.60. 

Goodw ill acquired in a business combination is assigned 

to one or more reporting units at the acquisition date 

(ASC 350-20-35-41). A reporting unit is an operating 

segment or one level below  an operating segment (a 

component) (ASC 350-20-35-33 through 35-38). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, goodw ill is tested for impairment 

at the reporting unit level using a tw o-step process (ASC 

350-20-35-4 through 35-19). An entity may f irst assess 

qualitative factors, as described in ASC 350-20-35-3A 

through 35-3G, to determine w hether it is necessary to 

perform the tw o-step goodw ill impairment test (ASC 350-

20-35-3 through 35-3E). 

If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances 

such as those described in ASC 350-20-35-3C, an entity 

determines that it is more likely than not that the fair 

value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, 

then the entity performs the f irst step of the tw o-step 

goodw ill impairment test (ASC 350-20-35-3E). 

First step 

The first step of the impairment test compares the 

carrying amount of the reporting unit to its fair value. If 

the carrying amount exceeds fair value, the second step 

is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, 

if  any. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit is zero or 

negative, the second step of the impairment test is 

performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if  

any, w hen it is more likely than not (that is, a likelihood of 

more than 50 percent) that a goodw ill impairment exists. 

In considering w hether it is more likely than not that a 

goodw ill impairment exists, an entity evaluates, using the 

process described in ASC 350-20-35-3F through 35-3G, 

w hether there are adverse qualitative factors, including 

the examples of events and circumstances provided in 

ASC 350-20-35-3C (ASC 350-20-35-4 through 35-8A). 

Second step 

In the second step, the implied fair value of reporting unit 

goodw ill is compared to its carrying amount. If  the 

carrying amount of goodw ill exceeds the implied fair 

value of that goodw ill, an impairment is recognized. The 

implied fair value of goodw ill is determined in the same 
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manner as amount of goodw ill recognized in a business 

combination (ASC 350-20-35-14 through 35-19). 

Note : In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, 

Intangibles ī Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying 

the Test for Goodwill Impairment. The guidance 

simplif ies the subsequent measurement of goodw ill by 

eliminating Step 2 from the goodw ill impairment test 

w hereby an entity performs its annual, or interim, 

goodw ill impairment test by comparing the fair value of a 

reporting unit w ith its carrying amount. An entity 

recognizes an impairment charge for the amount by 

which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unitôs 

fair value; how ever, the loss recognized should not 

exceed the total amount of goodw ill allocated to that 

reporting unit. Additionally, an entity considers income 

tax effects from any tax deductible goodw ill on the 

carrying amount of the reporting unit w hen measuring 

the goodw ill impairment loss, if  applicable. The guidance 

also eliminates the requirements for any reporting unit 

w ith a zero or negative carrying amount to perform a 

qualitative assessment and, if  it fails that qualitative test, 

to perform Step 2 of the goodw ill impairment test. 

Therefore, the same impairment assessment applies to 

all reporting units. An entity is required to disclose the 

amount of goodw ill allocated to each reporting unit w ith a 

zero or negative carrying amount of net assets. An entity 

still has the option to perform the qualitative assessment 

for a reporting unit to determine if the quantitative 

impairment test is necessary. 

The amendments are effective for a public business 

entity that is an SEC filer for its annual or any interim 

goodw ill impairment tests in f iscal years beginning after 

December 15, 2019. A public business entity that is not 

an SEC filer w ould adopt the amendments for its annual 

or any interim goodw ill impairment tests in f iscal years 

beginning after December 15, 2020. For all other entities, 

the amendments are effective for annual or any interim 

goodw ill impairment tests in f iscal years beginning after 

December 15, 2021. Early adoption is permitted for 

interim or annual goodw ill impairment tests performed on 

testing dates after January 1, 2017.  

This guidance causes the impairment tests under U.S. 

GAAP and IFRS to be more closely aligned, how ever, 

under IFRS, the impairment test is at the cash-

generating unit or group and compares the carrying 

amount of that unit w ith its recoverable amount. 

Impairment testing  intangible assets other than goodwill  

Intangible assets other than goodwill  

Intangible assets w ith f inite useful lives are tested for 

impairment in accordance w ith IAS 36.7-.17. Using a one-

Indefinite-lived intangible assets 

Intangible assets not subject to amortization are tested 

for impairment annually and, more frequently, if  events or 
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step approach, an entity assesses at the end of each 

reporting period w hether there is any indication that an 

asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 

entity estimates the recoverable amount of the asset 

(IAS 36.9). 

Irrespective of w hether there is any indication of 

impairment an entity also tests an intangible asset w ith an 

indefinite useful life for impairment by comparing its 

recoverable amount w ith its carrying amount annually and 

w henever there is an indication that the intangible asset 

may be impaired (IAS 36.10(a) and IAS 38.108). 

If  it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 

an individual asset, an entity determines the recoverable 

amount of the CGU to w hich it belongs (IAS 36.66). 

If  the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the 

carrying amount of the unit, an impairment loss is 

recognized and allocated in accordance w ith IAS 36.104. 

changes in circumstances indicate that it is more likely 

than not that the asset is impaired (ASC 350-30-35-18). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, an entity may f irst perform a 

qualitative assessment to determine w hether it is 

necessary to perform the quantitative impairment test as 

described in paragraph ASC 350-30-35-19. An entity has 

an unconditional option to bypass the qualitative 

assessment for any indefinite-lived intangible asset in 

any period and proceed directly to performing the 

quantitative impairment test as described in paragraph 

ASC 350-30-35-19. An entity may resume performing the 

qualitative assessment in any subsequent period. If an 

entity elects to perform a qualitative assessment, it f irst 

assesses qualitative factors to determine w hether it is 

more likely than not (that is, a likelihood of more than 50 

percent) that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is 

impaired (ASC 350-30-35-18A through 35-18F). 

If after assessing the totality of events and 

circumstances and their potential effect on signif icant 

inputs to the fair value determination an entity 

determines that it is more likely than not that the 

indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired, then the 

entity calculates the fair value of the intangible asset and 

performs the quantitative impairment test in accordance 

w ith the follow ing paragraph (ASC 350-30-35-18F). 

The quantitative impairment test for an indefinite-lived 

intangible asset consists of a comparison of the fair 

value of the asset w ith its carrying amount. If  the carrying 

amount of an intangible asset exceeds its fair value, an 

entity recognizes an impairment loss in an amount equal 

to that excess. After an impairment loss is recognized, 

the adjusted carrying amount of the intangible asset is its 

new  accounting basis (ASC 350-30-35-19). 

Subsequent reversal of a previously recognized 

impairment loss is prohibited (ASC 350-30-35-20). 

Intangible assets that are amortized and other long-lived 

assets (a long-lived asset or asset group) 

Intangible assets that are amortized and other long-lived 

assets (a long-lived asset or asset group) are tested for 

impairment using a tw o-step process. If the carrying 

amount of the asset or group is not recoverable and it is 

greater than its fair value, an impairment loss is 

recognized. The f irst step determines if the asset or 

group is recoverable. If the carrying amount of the asset 

or group exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash 

f low s expected from the use and eventual disposition of 

the asset or group, it is not recoverable. The second step 

measures the impairment loss as the difference betw een 

the fair value of the asset or group and its carrying 

amount (ASC 360-10-35-17). 
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Reversing an impairment loss 

An impairment loss for assets other than goodw ill is 

reversed provided certain conditions are met  

(IAS 36.109-.125). 

Reversals of impairment losses are not permitted  

(ASC 350-20-35-13, ASC 350-30-35-20, and  

ASC 360-10-35-20). 
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4.5  Inventories  

Accounting for inventory and cost of sales  

The FASB has undertaken a research project to improve the accounting for inventory and cost of sales. The FASB is 

considering the objective of inventory costing, multiple inventory costing and impairment models, and other areas in 

w hich the current guidance is lacking. 

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 2 and 23; IFRS 13 Relevant guidance : ASC 330, 820 and 835 

Introduction 

The objective of IAS 2 is to prescribe the accounting 

treatment for inventories. A primary issue in accounting for 

inventories is the amount of cost to be recognized as an 

asset and carried forw ard until the related revenues are 

recognized. IAS 2 provides guidance on the determination 

of cost and its subsequent recognition as an expense, 

including any w rite-dow n to net realizable value. It also 

provides guidance on the cost formulas that are used to 

assign costs to inventories (IAS 2.1). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 330-10-05-1 through 

05-3 and 330-10-10-1). 

Inventories are assets (IAS 2.6): 

¶ Held for sale in the ordinary course of business 

¶ In the process of production for such sale; or 

¶ In the form of materials or supplies to be consumed in 

the production process or in the rendering of services 

IAS 2 applies to all inventories except (IAS 2.2): 

¶ Financial instruments (see IAS 32, and IFRS 9) 

¶ Biological assets related to agricultural activity and 

agricultural produce at point of harvest (see IAS 41) 

Similar to IFRS Standards, the term inventory is used to 

designate the aggregate of those items of tangible 

personal property w hich are (ASC Master Glossary, 

ñInventoryò): 

¶ Held for sale in the ordinary course of business 

¶ In process of production for such sale 

¶ To be currently consumed in the production of 

goods or services to be available for sale 

Measurement of inventories 

Inventories are measured at the low er of cost and net 

realizable value (IAS 2.9). Net realizable value is the 

estimated selling price less the estimated costs of 

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 

the sale (IAS 2.6). 

IAS 2 does not apply to the measurement of inventories 

held by (IAS 2.3): 

¶ Producers of agricultural and forest products, 

agricultural produce after harvest, and minerals and 

mineral products, to the extent that they are 

measured at net realizable value in accordance w ith 

w ell-established practices in those industries 

¶ Commodity broker-dealers w ho measure their 

inventories at fair value less costs to sell 

Similar to IFRS Standards, inventory measured using a 

method other than last-in, f irst-out (LIFO) or the retail 

cost method is measured at the low er of cost or net 

realizable value. Unlike IFRS Standards, inventories 

measured using LIFO or the retail inventory method are 

subsequently measured at the low er of cost or market 

(but w ith a ceiling of net realizable value and a f loor of 

net realizable value less normal profit margin) (ASC 

Master Glossary, ñMarketò). and ASC 330-10-35-1A 

Similar to IFRS Standards, net realizable value is the 

estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business 

less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal 

and transportation (ASC Master Glossary, ñNet realizable 

valueò). 
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Cost of inventories 

The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, 

costs of conversion, and other costs incurred in bringing 

the inventories to their present location and condition 

(IAS 2.10). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 330-10-30-1). 

Abnormal amounts of w asted materials, labor, or other 

production costs are excluded from the cost of inventories 

and recognized as expenses in the period in w hich they 

are incurred (IAS 2.16). 

The allocation of f ixed production overheads to the costs 

of conversion is based on the normal capacity of the 

production facilities (IAS 2.13). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 330-10-30-3 through 

30-7). 

Borrowing costs 

IAS 23 identif ies limited circumstances w here borrow ing 

costs are included in the cost of inventories (IAS 2.17). 

Depending on the circumstances, inventories may be 

qualifying assets if  it takes a substantial period of time to 

get them ready for their intended use or sale (IAS 23.5 

and .7). 

An entity may purchase inventories on deferred settlement 

terms. When the arrangement effectively contains a 

f inancing element, that element, for example a difference 

betw een the purchase price for normal credit terms and 

the amount paid, is recognized as interest expense over 

the period of the f inancing (IAS 2.18). 

Interest costs 

Interest costs are not capitalized for inventories that are 

routinely manufactured or otherw ise produced in large 

quantities on a repetitive basis (ASC 835-20-15-6g). 

Cost formulas 

The cost of inventories is assigned by using the f irst-in, 

f irst-out (FIFO) or w eighted average cost formula. Specif ic 

identif ication may be used in certain situations. The LIFO 

method is not permitted  

(IAS 2.23-.27 and BC9-BC21). 

The cost-f low  assumption must be the one w hich, under 

the circumstances, most clearly reflects periodic income. 

FIFO and w eighted average are permitted and unlike 

IFRS Standards, LIFO is a permitted costing method  

(ASC 330-10-30-9). 

The U.S. income tax rules require that LIFO be used for 

book purposes if it is used for tax purposes. 

An entity uses the same cost formula for all inventories 

having a similar nature and use to the entity. For 

inventories w ith a different nature or use, different cost 

formulas may be justif ied (IAS 2.25). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, the same cost formula need not 

be applied to all inventories having a similar nature and 

use (ASC 330-10-30-13 through 30-14). 

Net realizable value 

Inventories are usually w ritten dow n to net realizable value 

item by item. In some circumstances; how ever, it may be 

appropriate to group similar or related items (IAS 2.29). 

A new  assessment is made of net realizable value in each 

subsequent period. When the circumstances that 

previously caused inventories to be w ritten dow n below  

cost no longer exist or w hen there is clear evidence of an 

Unlike IFRS Standards, a reversal of a w rite-dow n for an 

increase in market value is not permitted (ASC 330-10-

35-14). 
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increase in net realizable value because of changed 

economic circumstances, the amount of the w rite-dow n is 

reversed (reversal is limited to the amount of the original 

w rite-dow n) so that the new  carrying amount is the low er 

of the cost and the revised net realizable value (IAS 2.33). 

Recognition as an expense 

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those 

inventories is recognized as an expense in the period in 

w hich the related revenue is recognized (IAS 2.34). 

Similar to IFRS Standards. 

The amount of any w rite-dow n of inventories to net 

realizable value and all losses of inventories are 

recognized as an expense in the period the w rite-dow n or 

loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any w rite-down 

of inventories, arising from an increase in net realizable 

value, is recognized as a reduction in the amount of 

inventories recognized as an expense in the period in 

w hich the reversal occurs (IAS 2.34). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, a reversal of a w rite-dow n for an 

increase in market value is not permitted (ASC 330-10-

35-14). 
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5. Liabilities 

5.1  Leases  (IAS 17 and ASC 840)  

New guidance on leases 

The Board and the FASB each issued new  leasing guidance in 2016, the result of a joint project betw een the tw o 

standard setting entities. We have included a summary of the effective dates and transition requirements below , and 

included Section 5.2 comparing the tw o new  standards, w hich w ill be effective beginning in 2019. 

FASBôs ASU 2016-02 

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases. The ASU codif ies ASC 842, Leases, w hich w ill replace 

the leasing guidance in ASC 840. The new  guidance is effective for public business entities in f iscal years beginning 

after December 15, 2018. The effective date for most other entities is deferred for one year, meaning that most 

calendar-year private companies w ill be required to adopt the new  standard in 2020. Early adoption is permitted for 

all entities. 

Entities should be aw are of the follow ing key points about the new  FASB standard: 

¶ Lessees will be required to recognize most leases ñon balance sheetò 

¶ The new  guidance retains a dual lease accounting model for purposes of income statement recognition, 

continuing the distinction between what are currently known as ñcapitalò and ñoperatingò leases for lessees 

¶ Lessors w ill focus on w hether control of the underlying asset has transferred to the lessee to assess lease 

classif ication 

¶ A new definition of a ñleaseò could cause some contracts formerly accounted for under ASC 840 to fall outside 

the scope of ASC 842, and vice versa 

¶ A modif ied retrospective transition w ill be required, although there are signif icant elective transition reliefs 

available for both lessors and lessees 

The FASB has issued a number of ASUôs amending the guidance in ASC 842. Each ASU is summarized below, and 

the guidance has been incorporated into the discussion of ASC 842 in Section 5.2.  

¶ In January 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-01 Leases (Topic 842): Land Easements Practical Expedient for 

Transition to Topic 842, w hich provides transition relief to entities that are a party to a land easement. The 

guidance is effective at the same time as ASC 842.  

¶ In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-10, Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases (ASC 842, 

Leases), w hich clarif ies the codif ication and corrects potential unintended application of the guidance in ASC 842 

across sixteen areas identif ied for improvement. The guidance is effective at the same time as ASC 842.  

¶ In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11 Targeted Improvements (ASC 842, Leases), w hich provides tw o 

updates to ASC 842. The f irst is that it provides entities w ith a new  optional method for transitioning to ASC 842, 

in addition to the modif ied retrospective transition method that w as included in ASU 2016-02. This optional 

method allow s entities to apply the new  guidance at the adoption date by recognizing a cumulative-effect 

adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings, and to not restate the comparative periods presented. 

The second update is that it provides lessors w ith a practical expedient to combine qualifying lease and nonlease 

components into a single component. A lessor then determines if the nonlease component is predominant, and if 

so accounts for the combined component under ASC 606. If the nonlease component is not the predominant 

component an entity w ould apply ASC 842. The guidance is effective at the same time as ASC 842.  

¶ In December the FASB issued ASU 2018-20 Leases (Topic 842): Narrow-Scope Improvements for Lessors, to 

simplify how  lessors implement the new  leasing guidance in ASC 842. The amendments in ASU 2018-20  

- Permit lessors to elect not to evaluate if  certain sales taxes and other similar taxes are costs of the lessor or 

the lessee, but instead to account for those amounts as if they w ere costs of the lessee and to exclude them 

from lease revenue.  
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- Require lessors to exclude certain lessor costs paid directly by the lessee to a third party on the lessorôs 

behalf from variable payments (and from variable lease revenue) if  the lessor cannot readily determine the 

amount of those costs. 

- Require lessors to allocate (rather than recognize, as currently required) certain variable payments to the 

lease and nonlease components of a contract w hen the changes in facts and circumstances that trigger the 

variable payments occur.  

Entities that have not adopted ASC 842 w ill adopt ASU 2018-20 using the same effective date. For entities that 

have adopted ASC 842, an entity may apply these amendments as of the original effective date of ASC 842 or in 

either the f irst reporting period ending after the issuance of the ASU or the f irst reporting period beginning after 

the issuance of the ASU. No similar exceptions exist or are being contemplated by the Board under IFRS 16.  

¶ In December 2018, the FASB issued a proposed ASU, Leases (Topic 842) Codification Improvements for 

Lessors to provide a few  additional improvements to lessor accounting. The proposed amendments cover tw o 

areas of lessor accounting 

- Allow  a lessor that is not a manufacturer or dealer to determine fair value at commencement of the lease of 

the underlying asset by using its cost, rather than by using the fair value guidance in ASC 842, w hich is the 

same as that in ASC 820. This option is similar to an exception that existed for these same lessors under 

ASC 840.  

- Clarif ies that depository or lending lessors w ith sales-type or direct f inancing leases should continue to 

present cash receipts from leases w ithin investing activities in the statement of cash f low s as required under 

ASC 942, rather than in operating activities as required in ASC 842.  

For additional information on ASC 842, please refer to Grant Thorntonôs accounting guide Leases: Navigating the 

guidance in ASC 842. 

The Boardôs IFRS 16 

In January 2016, the Board issued IFRS 16, Leases, requiring leases to be reflected on an entityôs balance sheet and 

for lessees, treats all leases as f inance leases. Entities can elect to exempt short-term leases and leases of low  value 

assets from the requirements of IFRS 16. 

The new  lease guidance is expected to provide greater transparency of leasing activities and improved comparability 

betw een entities that lease and entities that purchase assets. The guidance for lessor accounting contains much of 

the guidance in IAS 17. 

IFRS 16 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 2019. Earlier application is permitted 

for entities that apply IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers at or before the date of initial application of 

IFRS 16. 

As a practical expedient, an entity is not required to reassess w hether a contract is or contains a lease at the date of 

initial application but is permitted to: 

¶ Apply IFRS 16 to contracts that w ere previously identif ied as a lease under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 and apply the 

transition requirements in paragraphs C5-C18 

¶ Not apply IFRS 16 to contracts that w ere not previously identif ied as containing a lease under IAS 17 or IFRIC 4 

Lessees w ill apply IFRS 16 to leases either: 

¶ Retrospectively to each reporting period presented in accordance w ith IAS 8, or 

¶ Retrospectively w ith the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16, recognized at the date of initial application  

Lessors, except under certain circumstances, are not required to make any adjustments on transition for leases in 

w hich it is a lessor and accounts for those leases applying IFRS 16 from the date of initial application.  

An entity w ill not reassess sale and leaseback transactions entered into before the date of initial application to 

determine if the transfer of underlying assets meets the requirements in IFRS 15 to be accounted for as a sale. If a 

sale and leaseback transaction w as accounted for as a sale and a f inance lease under IAS 17, the seller -lessee: 

¶ Accounts for the leaseback in the same w ay as it accounts for any other f inance lease that exists at the date of 

initial application, and 

https://www.grantthornton.com/library/articles/audit/2018/grant-thornton-helps-navigate-FASB-leasing-guidance.aspx
https://www.grantthornton.com/library/articles/audit/2018/grant-thornton-helps-navigate-FASB-leasing-guidance.aspx
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¶ Continues to amortize any gain on sale over the lease term 

If a sale and leaseback transaction w as accounted for as a sale and an operating lease under IAS 17, the seller -

lessee: 

¶ Accounts for the leaseback in the same w ay as it accounts for any other operating lease that exists at the date of 

initial application, and 

¶ Adjusts the leaseback right-of-use assets for any deferred gains or losses that relate to off -market terms 

recognized in the statement of f inancial position immediately before the date of initial application 

IFRS 16 supersedes the guidance in IAS 17, IFRIC 4, SIC 15, and SIC 27. 

Comparing the two standards  

Although the lease project w as a joint project betw een the Board and the FASB w ith the goal of creating a converged 

standard, the f inal amendments vary. The Boardôs model is a single lessee model w hich requires all leases to be 

recognized on a lesseeôs balance sheet as finance leases, with income statement recognition of interest expense and 

amortization. The FASBôs model is a dual model that retains the current distinction betw een finance and operating 

leases. The new  guidance under IFRS Standards and U.S. GAAP for leases is converged in the follow ing areas: 

¶ Requiring a lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for its leases, initially measured in the same manner 

¶ Having the same requirements and application guidance on the definition of a lease, and 

¶ Having both substantially carry forw ard previous lessor accounting guidance 

The differences betw een the Board and FASB lease models include: 

¶ IFRS 16 requires an intermediate lessor to classify a sublease as either operating or f inancing based on the 

right-of-use asset under the head lease w hile the FASB requires classif ication to be based on the underlying 

asset 

¶ For sale and leaseback transactions, IFRS Standards requires the seller-lessee to recognize only the amount of 

any gain or loss on the sale that relates to the rights transferred to the buyer-lessor w hile the FASB accounts for 

any gain or loss on sale similar to how  such transactions are accounted for related to any asset 

¶ The FASB has not provided an exemption from lease accounting for leases of low  value assets  

¶ The FASB has not included any requirement for a lessee to reassess variable lease payments that depend on an 

index or rate w hen there is a change in future lease payments from a change in the reference index or rate 

Fair value measurement 

IAS 17 uses the term "fair value" in a w ay that differs in some respects from the definition of fair value in IFRS 13. 

Therefore, w hen applying IAS 17 an entity measures fair value in accordance w ith IAS 17, not IFRS 13. Under U.S. 

GAAP, ASC 840 contains similar guidance. 

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 17 and 40; SIC 15 and 27; 

IFRIC 4 

Relevant guidance : ASC 840 

Introduction 

A lease is an agreement in w hich the lessor conveys the 

right to use an asset to the lessee for an agreed period of 

time in return for payments (IAS 17.4). An arrangement is 

or contains a lease if based on the substance of the 

arrangement both exist (IFRIC 4.6): 

¶ Fulf illment of the arrangement depends on the use of 

a specif ic asset or assets 

¶ The arrangement conveys a right to use the asset 

Similar to IFRS Standards except that U.S. GAAP refers 

to a right to use property, plant, and equipment (ASC 

Master Glossary, ñLeaseò). Therefore, IFRS Standards 

covers a broader range of leases including, for example, 

leases of intangible assets. 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

A lease is classif ied as either an operating or a f inance 

lease at the inception of the lease (IAS 17.8 and .13). The 

inception of the lease is the earlier of the lease agreement 

date and the date the parties commit to the principal 

provisions of the lease (IAS 17.4). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 840-10-10-1). Lease 

inception is the date of the lease agreement or 

commitment, if  earlier. The commitment is in w riting, 

includes the principal provisions, and is signed by the 

interested parties (ASC Master Glossary, ñLease 

Inceptionò). 

A finance lease is one that transfers substantially all the 

risks and rew ards of ow nership of an asset to the lessee. 

An operating lease does not (IAS 17.8). 

A capital lease (finance lease) is one that transfers 

substantially all the benefits and risks of ow nership of an 

asset to the lessee, in accordance w ith specif ic criteria. 

All other leases are operating leases (ASC 840-10-10-1). 

Lease classification 

Lease classif ication may differ for lessor and lessee, such 

as w hen a third party unrelated to the lessee guarantees 

residual value (IAS 17.9). 

Lease classif ication may differ for lessor and lessee, 

depending upon w hether criteria in ASC 840-10-25-1 

and 25-42 are met. Usually this occurs because the 

lessor uses the implicit rate (ASC 840-10-25-41) and the 

lessee uses the incremental borrow ing rate (ASC 840-

10-25-31). How ever, this situation is less frequent under 

IFRS Standards because the lessee is presumed to use 

the implicit rate. 

The criteria for lessors and lessees to consider that 

normally indicate a f inance lease classif ication include any 

of the follow ing (IAS 17.10): 

¶ Transfer of ow nership of the asset to the lessee by 

end of lease term 

¶ Lessee has option to purchase asset at a price that is 

expected to be suff iciently low er than fair value at 

date option becomes exercisable such that option 

exercise is reasonably certain at inception 

¶ Lease term is for a major part of asset's life, even if 

title is not transferred 

¶ Leased assets are specialized such that only the 

lessee can use them w ithout major modif ication 

¶ Present value of minimum lease payments at 

inception amounts to at least substantially all of the 

fair value of the leased asset 

In general, the criteria in ASC 840 for lessors and 

lessees to consider for a capital (f inance) lease 

classif ication are similar to the IFRS Standards factors; 

how ever, there are more detailed (bright line) 

requirements. A capital lease is one that meets one or 

more of the follow ing criteria (ASC 840-10-25-1): 

¶ Lease transfers ow nership of the property to the 

lessee by the end of the lease term 

¶ Lease contains a bargain purchase option 

¶ Lease term is equal to 75 percent or more of the 

estimated economic life of the leased property. This 

criterion does not apply if  lease inception is w ithin 

the last 25 percent of the propertyôs economic life. 

¶ Present value of the minimum lease payments at the 

beginning of the lease term equals or exceeds 90 

percent of the excess of the fair value of the leased 

property to the lessor at the inception of the lease 

over any related investment tax credit retained by 

the lessor and expected to be realized by the lessor. 

This criterion does not apply if  lease inception is 

within the last 25 percent of the propertyôs economic 

life. 

IAS 17 also lists other potential indicators of a f inance 

lease (individually or in combination) including  

(IAS 17.11): 

¶ Lessor's losses borne by lessee if lessee has option 

to cancel 

ASC 840 does not have other potential indicators for 

capital lease treatment; how ever, some of the concepts 

are reflected in minimum lease payments or the lease 

term. 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

¶ Gains or losses in fair value of residual accrue to 

lessee 

¶ Lessee has ability to continue lease for secondary 

term at substantially below -market rent 

No additional classif ication criteria are required to be 

considered by lessors. 

Unlike IFRS Standards, ASC 840 requires that the lessor 

also meet the follow ing criteria to classify a lease as a 

capital lease (direct f inancing or sales-type lease) in 

addition to the criteria in ASC 840-10-25-1 (ASC 840-10-

25-42): 

¶ Collectibility of the minimum lease payments is 

reasonably predictable 

¶ No important uncertainties surround the amount of 

unreimbursable costs yet to be incurred by the 

lessor under the lease 

Accounting treatment 

Operating leases (lessee/lessor) 

Lease rentals are expensed and lease revenue is 

recognized on a straight-line basis over lease term unless 

another systematic basis is representative of the time 

pattern of the user's benefits (IAS 17.33 and .50). 

Incentives are recognized as a reduction of rent expense 

(lessee) or rental income (lessor) on a straight line basis 

over the lease term unless another systematic basis is 

representative of the time pattern of the user's benefits 

(SIC 15.3-.5). 

Operating leases (lessee/lessor) 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 840-20-25-1).  

 

 

 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 840-20-25-6 and 25-7). 

Finance leases (lessee) 

At commencement of lease term, initial recognition at fair 

value of the leased asset or, if  low er, present value of 

minimum lease payments (each determined at inception of 

lease) (IAS 17.20). 

Rate implicit in lease is generally used to calculate present 

value. If not practicable to determine, incremental 

borrow ing rate is used (IAS 17.20). 

 

 

Capitalize assets held under f inance leases ï depreciate 

on same basis as for ow ned assets. If no reasonable 

certainty that lessee w ill obtain ow nership, depreciate over 

shorter of lease term and useful life (IAS 17.27). 

 

Minimum lease payments are allocated betw een finance 

costs and the reduction of the outstanding liability. 

Finance costs are allocated to each period to produce a 

constant rate on outstanding obligation. Contingent rents 

are expensed as incurred (IAS 17.25). 

Capital leases (lessee) 

Initial recognition at present value of minimum lease 

payments or, if  low er, fair value of leased property  

(ASC 840-30-30-1 through 30-4). 

 

Incremental borrow ing rate generally used to calculate 

present value. How ever, if  it is practicable to learn rate 

implicit in lease and that rate is low er than the 

incremental borrow ing rate, the implicit rate is used 

(ASC 840-10-25-31). 

Capitalize assets held under capital leases. If lease 

contains a bargain purchase option or transfers 

ow nership to lessee, depreciate over useful life. 

Otherw ise, depreciate over lease term  

(ASC 840-30-35-1). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, Minimum lease payments 

(ASC 840-30-35-6) and contingent rents (ASC 840-30-

25-2). 

Finance leases (lessor) Capital leases (lessor) 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Recognize asset held under a f inance lease as a 

receivable in the statement of f inancial position in the 

amount of the net investment in the lease (IAS 17.36), 

w hich is the gross investment in the lease discounted at 

the interest rate implicit in the lease (IAS 17.4). Gross 

investment in the lease is the sum of the minimum lease 

payments and the unguaranteed residual value accruing 

to lessor (IAS 17.4). 

Finance income is recognized in a manner that reflects a 

constant periodic rate of return on the lessors' net 

investment (IAS 17.39). 

Manufacturer or dealer lessors recognize selling profit or 

loss in the period in accordance w ith the policy follow ed by 

the entity for outright sales. Costs incurred to negotiate 

and arrange a lease are recognized as an expense w hen 

selling profit is recognized (IAS 17.42). 

IFRS Standards do not have a leveraged lease 

classif ication. 

Recognize asset for net investment in lease: 

¶ Sales-type lease: Net investment consists of gross 

investment less unearned income (ASC 840-30-30-

8). Gross investment is minimum lease payments, 

net of executory costs, plus unguaranteed residual 

value accruable to the benefit of the lessor (ASC 

840-30-30-6). Unearned income is the difference 

betw een the gross investment and the present value 

of the gross investment using the interest rate 

implicit in the lease (ASC 840-30-30-9). 

¶ The manufacturerôs/dealerôs profit on sales-type 

leases is the difference betw een (a) the fair value of 

the leased property at lease inception and (b) the 

leased assetôs cost or carrying amount. Special 

rules exist for sales-type leases involving real estate  

(ASC 840-10-25-43). 

¶ Direct f inancing lease: Net investment is gross 

investment plus any unamortized initial direct costs 

less unearned income (ASC 840-30-30-11). Gross 

investment is minimum lease payments, net of 

executory costs, plus unguaranteed residual value 

accruable to the benefit of the lessor (ASC 840-30-

30-6). The difference betw een the gross investment 

and the cost or carrying amount of the leased 

property is recorded by the lessor as unearned 

income (ASC 840-30-30-13). 

¶ Lessor's income under a direct f inancing lease is 

calculated using a rate that w ill produce a constant 

periodic rate of return on the net investment in the 

lease (ASC 840-30-35-23). 

¶ Leveraged lease: a lease that meets the criteria in 

ASC 840-10-25-43(c). 

Leases involving land and buildings  

The classif ication of the land and building elements of a 

lease are assessed as a f inance or operating lease 

separately in accordance w ith IAS 17.7-.13. An important 

consideration in determining w hether the land element is 

an operating or a f inance lease is that land normally has 

an indefinite economic life. The land and building 

components of a lease may be treated as a single unit for 

purposes of lease classif ication if the land element is not 

material (IAS 17.15A and .17). 

 

The minimum lease payments are allocated betw een land 

and buildings in proportion to their relative fair values at 

inception of lease. If the lease payments cannot be 

allocated reliably then the entire lease is treated as a 

f inance lease, unless it is clear that both elements are 

operating leases (IAS 17.16). 

Leases involving land and buildings 

For capital leases in w hich the lease transfers ow nership 

of the property to the lessee by the end of the lease term 

or contains a bargain purchase option, the lesseeôs 

capitalized amount is apportioned betw een land and 

building based on their relative fair values at lease 

inception (ASC 840-10-25-38). Detailed guidance on the 

lessorôs accounting is included in ASC 840-10-25-60 

through 25-68. 

 

 

For leases that do not meet the ow nership transfer or 

bargain purchase option criteria noted above, the land 

and buildings are considered separately if  the fair value 

of the land is 25 percent or more of the value of the 

leased property at the inception of the lease. Detailed 

guidance on the lessee and lessor accounting is included 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

 

 

If lesseeôs interest in land and buildings is classified as 

investment property (IAS 40) and carried under fair value 

model, it is not necessary to split the land and buildings 

(IAS 17.18). 

in ASC 840-10-25-38 and 25-63 through 25-68. 

 

U.S. GAAP does not permit leases of land and buildings 

to be recorded at fair value. 

Sale and leaseback 

For sale and f inance leaseback transactions considered a 

f inance lease, gain is deferred and amortized over the 

lease term (IAS 17.59). 

For sale and operating leaseback transactions considered 

an operating lease (IAS 17.61): 

¶ If  sales price is at fair value, profit/loss is recognized 

immediately 

¶ If  sales price is below  fair value, profit/loss is 

recognized immediately, except if  a loss is 

compensated by future lease payments at below  

market price, then the loss is deferred and amortized 

in proportion to the lease payments, over the period 

the asset is expected to be used 

¶ If  sales price is above fair value, the excess is 

deferred and amortized over the period the asset is 

expected to be used 

For operating leases, if  fair value is below  carrying 

amount, immediately recognize a loss calculated as 

carrying amount minus fair value (IAS 17.63). 

Sale and leaseback 

For sale and leaseback transactions, profit or loss is 

generally deferred and amortized unless  

(ASC 840-40-25-3 and 840-40-35-1): 

¶ The leaseback is minor as defined in ASC 840, the 

sale and leaseback is accounted for as separate 

transactions based on their respective terms. 

¶ The leaseback is more than a minor part but less 

than substantially all of the use of the asset as 

defined in ASC 840, a gain on sale of the asset in 

excess of the present value of the minimum lease 

payments (operating lease) or the recorded amount 

(capital lease) is recognized at the date of sale. 

If  fair value of the property at the time of the transaction 

is less than its undepreciated cost, a loss is immediately 

recognized (ASC 840-40-25-3(c)). 

If , through the leaseback, the seller-lessee retains 

substantially all of the benefits and risks incident to 

ow nership of the property sold, the transaction is a 

f inancing (ASC 840-40-25-4). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, special rules exist for sale-

leaseback transactions involving real estate (ASC 840-

40, ñReal Estateò subsections). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, there are special rules for w hen 

lessees are involved in the construction of an asset that 

w ill be leased to the lessee w hen construction of the 

asset is complete (ASC 840-40-05-5 and 40-55-2 

through 55-6). 
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5.2  Leases (IFRS 16  and ASC 842 ) 

Note : This section represents the new  guidance on leases under IFRS 16 as compared w ith U.S. GAAP (ASC 842). 

Since the new  lease guidance is not yet effective, the guidance below  has been shaded. Comparison of the legacy 

leasing guidance is made in Section 5.1. 

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance: IFRS 16 Relevant guidance : ASC 842 and 606 

Objective 

To ensure lessees and lessors provide relevant 

information that faithfully represents the recognition, 

measurement, presentation, and disclosure of leases to 

allow  users of f inancial statements to assess the effect 

that leases have on the f inancial position, f inancial 

performance, and cash f low s of an entity (IFRS 16.1). 

To establish the principles that lessees and lessors use 

to report information to users of f inancial statements 

about the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash f low s 

arising from a lease (ASC 842-10-10-2). 

Scope 

Apply to all leases, including leases of right-of-use assets 

in a sublease, except (IFRS 16.3): 

¶ Leases to explore for or use minerals, oil, natural gas 

and similar non-regenerative resources 

¶ Leases of biological assets w ithin IAS 41 

¶ Service concession arrangements under IFRIC 12 

¶ Licenses of intellectual property granted by lessor 

w ithin IFRS 15 

¶ Rights held by lessee under licensing agreements 

under IAS 38 for items such as motion picture f ilms, 

video recordings, plays, manuscripts, patents and 

copyrights 

Applies to all leases, including subleases, except (ASC 

842-10-15-1): 

¶ Leases to explore for or use minerals, oil, natural 

gas, and similar nonregenerative resources  

¶ Leases of biological assets, including timber 

¶ Leases of intangible assets. Under IFRS Standards 

lessee may but is not required to apply IFRS 16 to 

leases of intangible assets other than rights under 

licensing agreements (IFRS 16.4). 

¶ Leases of inventory 

¶ Leases of assets under construction 

Lessee may elect to not apply the requirements in 

paragraph 22-49 of IFRS 16 to short-term leases (by class 

of underlying asset to w hich the right of use relates (IFRS 

16.8) and leases for w hich the underlying asset is of low  

value as described in paragraphs 16.B3-.B8 (IFRS 16.5). 

For those leases for w hich the election is made, recognize 

lease payments associated w ith those leases as 

expenses on a straight-line basis over the lease term or 

another systematic basis if  more representative of the 

pattern of a lesseeôs benefit  

(IFRS 16.6). 

A lessee may elect, by class of underlying asset, not to 

apply the recognition requirements in ASC 842 to short-

term leases but recognize the lease payments in profit or 

loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term and 

variable lease payments in the period the obligation for 

those payments is incurred (ASC 842-20-25-2).  

U.S. GAAP does not have a similar exemption for leases 

w here the underlying asset is of low  value. 

Identifying a lease 

At inception of contract assess w hether contract is or 

contains a lease, w hich is w hen the contract conveys the 

right to control the use of an identif ied asset for a period of 

time in exchange for consideration (IFRS 16.9). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, except U.S. GAAP considers 

an identif ied asset to be property, plant and equipment 

(ASC 842-10-15-2 and 15-3). 

Reassess w hether contract is or contains a lease only if  

the terms and conditions of the contract are changed 

(IFRS 16.11). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-10-15-6). 
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Separating components of a contract 

For a contract that is or contains a lease, account for each 

lease component w ithin the contract as a lease separately 

from non-lease components unless the practical expedient 

in paragraph 16.15 is applied (IFRS 16.12). 

For contracts that contain a lease, identify the separate 

lease components. The right to use an underlying asset 

is a separate lease component if  both (ASC 842-10-15-

28): 

¶ Lessee can benefit from the right to use either on its 

ow n or together w ith other resources that are readily 

available to lessee, and  

¶ The right of use is neither highly dependent on or 

highly interrelated (each right of use signif icantly 

affects the other) w ith the other rights to use the 

underlying assets in the contract 

The practical expedient to account for lease and 

nonlease components together, is also available under 

U.S. GAAP (ASC 842-10-15-37). 

Lessee allocates the consideration in the contract to each 

lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone 

price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-

alone price of the non-lease components (IFRS 16.13). 

Relative stand-alone price of lease and non-lease 

components based on the price the lessor, or a similar 

supplier w ould charge an entity for that component or a 

similar component, separately. If  such a price is not 

available, a lessee estimates the stand-alone price, 

maximizing the use of observable information 

(IFRS 16.14). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-10-15-33). 

Lessees may elect, by class of underlying asset, not to 

separate non-lease components from lease components 

and account for all components as a single lease 

component, except to embedded derivatives under IFRS 9 

(IFRS 16.15). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-10-15-37 and 15-

43). 

Lessors allocate the consideration in the contract by 

applying paragraphs 73-90 of IFRS 15 (IFRS 16.16). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, based on the guidance in 

ASC 606-10-32-28 through 41 (ASC 842-10-15-38). 

Note : In December 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-

20, Narrow-Scope Improvements for Lessors (Topic 

842). The amendments  

¶ Provide lessors w ith an accounting policy election to 

not evaluate w hether certain sales taxes and other 

similar taxes are costs of the lessee or lessor 

¶ Require lessors to exclude from variable payments 

certain costs paid directly to third parties on behalf 

of the lessor that cannot be readily determined 

¶ Require lessors to allocate certain variable 

payments to the lease and nonlease components of 

a contract w hen the changes in facts and 

circumstances that trigger the variable payment 

occur 
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The effective date and transition requirements w ould be 

the same as ASC 842 for entities that have not adopted 

ASC 842. 

No similar practical expedient exists under IFRS 

Standards. 

Lessors may elect, by class of underlying asset, to 

combine a nonlease component that w ould otherw ise be 

accounted for under ASC 606 w ith the related lease 

component(s) if  both (ASC 842-10-15-42A): 

¶ The lease component, if  accounted for separately, 

w ould meet the criteria to be classif ied as an 

operating lease 

¶ The timing and pattern of transfer of the lease and 

nonlease component(s) to the customer w ould be 

the same 

The lessor must determine if the nonlease component is 

the predominant element of the combined component. If  

so, the combined component is accounted for under 

ASC 606. If not, the combined component is accounted 

for under ASC 842 (ASC 842-10-15-42B). 

Lease term 

Lease term is non-cancellable period of lease w ith both: 

¶ Periods covered by option to extend the lease if 

lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the option, 

and 

¶ Periods covered by option to terminate the lease if 

lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that 

option (IFRS 16.18). 

Lease term is noncancellable period that lessee has right 

to use underlying asset, including (ASC 842-10-30-1 and 

Master Glossary ñLease termò): 

¶ Periods covered by option to extend lease if lessee 

is reasonably certain to exercise 

¶ Periods covered by option to terminate lease if 

lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise 

¶ Periods covered by option to extend (or not 

terminate) lease w here exercise of option controlled 

by lessor 

Revise the lease term if there is a change in the non-

cancellable period of a lease (IFRS 16.21). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-10-35-1) 

Lessee 

Lease classification 

Under IFRS Standards there is no need for a lessee to 

classify leases as all leases are classif ied as f inance 

leases. 

Lessee classif ies a lease as a f inance lease and a lessor 

classif ies a lease as a sales-type lease if any of follow ing 

are met (ASC 842-10-25-2): 

¶ Lease transfers ow nership of underlying asset to 

lessee by end of lease term 

¶ Lease grants lessee option to purchase the 

underlying asset that lessee is reasonably certain to 

exercise 

¶ Lease term is for major part of remaining economic 

life of underlying asset 

¶ Present value of sum of lease payments and any 

residual value guaranteed by lessee that is not 
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already reflected in lease payments equals or 

exceeds substantially all the fair value of the 

underlying asset 

¶ Underlying asset is of such specialized nature that it 

is expected to have no alternative use to lessor at 

end of lease term 

If none of above criteria are met, lessee classif ies lease 

as operating and lessor determines if lease is a direct 

f inancing lease or operating lease (ASC 842-10-25-3). 

Recognition 

At commencement date, lessee recognizes a right-of-use 

asset and a lease liability (IFRS 16.22). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-10-30-2). 

Measurement  

At commencement date, a lessee measures right-of-use 

asset at cost, w hich includes (IFRS 16.23-.24): 

¶ Amount of initial measurement of lease liability  

¶ Any lease payments made at or before 

commencement date, less any lease incentives 

received 

¶ Any initial direct costs incurred by lessee, and 

¶ Estimate of costs to be incurred by lessee in 

dismantling and removing underlying asset, restoring 

the site on w hich it is located or restoring the 

underlying asset to the condition required by the 

terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs 

are incurred to produce inventories 

Note : The Board w ill propose an amendment to remove 

the illustration of the reimbursement of leasehold 

improvements by the lessor from Illustrative Example 13 

accompanying IFRS 16 to avoid potential confusion about 

how  lease incentives should be treated. 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-20-30-5). 

At commencement date, lessee measures lease liability at 

the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 

at that date. Discount the lease payments using the 

interest rate implicit in the lease or if  not readily 

determined, the lesseeôs incremental borrowing rate (IFRS 

16.26). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, except that a lessee that is 

not a public business entity is permitted to use a risk-free 

discount rate (ASC 842-20-30-3). 

At commencement date, lease payments included in 

measurement of the lease liability include the follow ing 

payments for the right to use the underlying asset during 

the lease term that are not paid at commencement 

(IFRS 16.27): 

¶ Fixed payments including in-substance f ixed 

payments 

¶ Variable lease payments that depend on an index or 

rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-10-30-5). There is 

no similar requirement under U.S. GAAP to remeasure 

the lease liability for changes in future lease payments 

from a change in an index or rate unless a lessee is 

required for other reasons to remeasure the lease 

payments (ASC 842-10-35-5). 
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commencement date. IFRS requires a lessee to 

remeasure the lease liability if  there is a change in 

future lease payments from a change in an index or 

rate (IFRS 16.42(b)) 

¶ Exercise price of purchase option if  lessee is 

reasonably certain to exercise that option 

¶ Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if  the 

lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to 

terminate lease 

¶ Amounts expected to be payable by lessee under 

residual value guarantees 

After commencement date, lessee measures right-of-use 

asset under the cost model (cost less accumulated 

depreciation (IAS 16) and impairment losses (IAS 36), 

adjusted for remeasurement of lease liability (IFRS 16.30) 

unless the measurement models in paragraphs 34 and 35 

are applied (IFRS 16.29). 

Similar to IFRS Standards for a f inance lease (ASC 842-

20-35-1). 

For an operating lease, after commencement date, 

measure the right-of-use asset at amount of lease 

liability, adjusted for (ASC 842-20-35-3): 

¶ Prepaid or accrued lease payments 

¶ Remaining balance of any lease incentives received 

¶ Unamortized initial direct costs 

¶ Impairment of right-of-use asset 

IFRS Standards allow  certain right-of-use assets to be 

measured as investment property under IAS 40 or the 

revaluation model for property, plant and equipment 

under IAS 16. There is no similar guidance in U.S. 

GAAP. 

After the commencement date, lessee measures the lease 

liability by (IFRS 16.36): 

¶ Increasing carrying amount to reflect interest on lease 

liability 

¶ Reducing carrying amount to reflect lease payments 

made, and  

¶ Remeasuring carrying amount to reflect any 

reassessment or lease modif ications or reflect revised 

in-substance f ixed lease payments 

Similar to IFRS Standards for a f inance lease (ASC 842-

20-35-1). 

For an operating lease, after commencement date, 

measure the lease liability at the present value of the 

lease payments not yet paid discounted using the 

discount rate for the lease determined at 

commencement (ASC 842-20-35-3). 

After commencement date, lessee remeasures (see 

IFRS 16.40-.43) the lease liability to reflect changes to 

lease payments and recognize the amount of the 

remeasurement as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset 

(IFRS 16.39). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-20-35-4). 

Lease modifications - lessees 

Lessee accounts for lease modif ication as a separate 

lease if both the (IFRS 16.44): 

¶ Modif ication increases the scope of the lease by 

adding the right to use one or more underlying 

assets, and  

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-10-25-8). 
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¶ Consideration for the lease increases by an amount 

commensurate w ith the stand-alone price for the 

increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to 

the stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of 

the particular contract  

If  modif ication not accounted for as a separate lease, at 

effective date of lease modif ication, lessee (IFRS 16.45): 

¶ Allocates consideration in modif ied contract by 

applying IFRS 16.13-.16 

¶ Determines lease term by applying IFRS 16.18-.19 

¶ Remeasure lease liability by discounting revised 

lease payments using revised discount rate 

If lease modif ied and modif ication is not accounted for as 

a separate contract, lessee reassesses classif ication of 

lease as of effective date of the modif ication based on 

modif ied terms and conditions and facts and 

circumstances at that date (ASC 842-10-25-9). 

Lessor 

Lessor classification 

Lessor classif ies each lease as either an operating or a 

f inance lease (IFRS 16.61). Classif ication made at 

inception date is only reassessed if there is a lease 

modif ication (IFRS 16.66). 

Lessor classif ies lease as a sales-type lease, direct 

f inancing lease, or operating lease (ASC 842-10-25-2 

and 25-3). Lease classif ication is not reassessed unless 

contract modif ied and not accounted for as a separate 

contract or w hen there is a change in the lease terms or 

the assessment of w hether the lessee is reasonably 

certain to exercise an option to purchase the underlying 

asset (ASC 842-10-25-1). 

A f inance lease transfers substantially all of the risks and 

rew ards of ow nership of an underlying asset. Otherw ise 

the lease is an operating lease (IFRS 16.62). 

Similar to IFRS Standards except the lessor classif ies 

the lease as a sales-type lease, direct-f inancing lease, or 

an operating lease (ASC 842-10-25-2 and 25-3). 

Examples of situations that represent f inance leases 

include (IFRS 16.63): 

¶ Lease transfers ow nership of underlying asset to 

lessee by end of lease term 

¶ Lessee has option to purchase underlying asset at a 

price that is expected to be suff iciently low er than the 

fair value at the date the option becomes exercisable 

for it to be reasonably certain, at the inception date, 

that the option w ill be exercised  

¶ Lease term is for major part of economic life of 

underlying asset even if title is not transferred 

¶ At inception date, the present value of lease 

payments is at least substantially all of the fair value 

of the underlying assets, and  

¶ The underlying asset is of such a specialized nature 

that only the lessee can use it w ithout major 

modif ications 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-10-25-2). 

Indicators of a f inance lease include (IFRS 16.64): 

¶ If  lessee can cancel lease, lessorôs losses borne by 

lessee 

No similar requirements under U.S. GAAP. 
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¶ Gain or losses from fluctuation in fair value of residual 

accrue to lessee, and 

¶ Lessee has ability to continue lease for secondary 

period at rent that is substantially low er than market 

rent 

Lessor recognition and measurement 

Finance leases - lessors 

At commencement date, lessor recognizes assets held 

under f inance lease in statement of f inancial position as a 

receivable at an amount equal to the net investment in the 

lease (IFRS 16.67). 

For a sales-type lease, measure net investment in the 

lease to include both (ASC 842-30-30-1): 

¶ Lease receivable  

¶ Unguaranteed residual asset at present value of 

amount lessor expects to derive from underlying 

asset follow ing end of lease term, that is not 

guaranteed by lessee or any third party unrelated to 

lessor, discounted using rate implicit in lease 

The net investment in the lease for a direct f inancing 

lease includes the amounts above less any selling profit 

(ASC 842-30-30-2). 

As IFRS Standards doesnôt distinguish between different 

types of f inance leases, IFRS Standards permits 

recognition of selling profit at lease commencement.  

If  collectibility of the lease payments, plus any amount 

under a residual value guaranteed provided by the 

lessee, is not probable at commencement date, lessor 

does not derecognize the underlying asset and 

recognizes lease payments received, including variable 

lease payments, as a deposit liability until certain 

conditions are met (ASC 842-30-25-3). IFRS Standards 

does not include similar guidance. 

At commencement date, lease payments included in 

measurement of net investment in lease include 

(IFRS 16.70): 

¶ Fixed payments including in-substance f ixed 

payments 

¶ Variable lease payments that depend on an index or 

rate, initially measured using the index or rate at 

commencement date 

¶ Exercise price of purchase option if lessee 

reasonably certain to exercise option 

¶ Payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if  

lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to 

terminate the lease 

¶ Any residual value guarantees provided to lessor by 

lessee, party related to lessee, or third party 

Similar to IFRS Standards except residual value 

guarantees are not included (ASC 842-10-30-5). 
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At commencement date, manufacturer or dealer lessor 

recognizes for each f inance lease (IFRS 16.71): 

¶ Revenue w hich is the fair value of the underlying 

asset, or if  low er, the present value of the lease 

payments accruing to the lessor, discounted using a 

market rate of interest 

¶ Cost of sale, w hich is the cost, or carrying amount, if  

different, of the underlying asset less the present 

value of the unguaranteed residual value, and 

¶ Difference betw een revenue and cost of sale as 

selling profit or loss based on guidance on outright 

sale under IFRS 15  

Under U.S. GAAP, lessors w ould follow  the guidance for 

lessor accounting.  

Lessor recognizes f inance income over the lease term 

based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of 

return on the lessorôs net investment in the lease 

(IFRS 16.75). Apply derecognition and impairment 

requirements in IFRS 9 to net investment in lease 

(IFRS 16.77). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-30-35-1). 

Impairment of net investment in lease is based on ASC 

310 (ASC 842-30-35-3). On the adoption of ASU 2016-

13, credit losses related to the net investment in a lease 

w ill be recognized based on the guidance in ASC 326-

20. 

Account for lease modif ication to a f inance lease as a 

separate lease if both (IFRS 16.79): 

¶ Modif ication increases scope of lease by adding right 

to use one or more underlying assets, and 

¶ Consideration for lease increases by amount 

commensurate w ith stand-alone price for the increase 

in scope and any appropriate adjustment to the 

stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the 

particular contract 

Lessor accounts for lease modif ication of a sales-type 

lease, w hen the modif ication is not a separate contract 

as (ASC 842-10-25-17): 

¶ If  modif ied lease is a sales-type or direct f inancing 

lease, adjust the discount rate for the modif ied lease 

so that the initial net investment in the modif ied 

lease equals the carrying amount of the net 

investment in the original lease immediately before 

the effective date of the modif ication 

¶ If  modif ied lease is an operating lease, as noted 

below  

If a direct f inancing lease is modif ied and the 

modif ication is not accounted for as a separate contract, 

account for the modif ied lease as (ASC 842-10-25-16): 

¶ If  modif ied lease is a direct f inancing lease, adjust 

the discount rate for the modif ied lease so that the 

initial net investment in the modif ied lease equals 

the carrying amount of the net investment in the 

original lease immediately before the effective date 

of the modif ication 

¶ If  modif ied lease is classif ied as a sales-type lease, 

in accordance w ith ASC 842-30 

¶ If  modif ied lease is classif ied as an operating lease, 

the carrying amount of the underlying asset equals 

the net investment in the original lease immediately 

before effective date of modif ication 
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Operating leases - lessors 

Lessor recognizes lease payments from operating lease 

as income on either a straight-line basis or another 

systematic basis. (IFRS 16.81). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-30-25-11). 

Lessor continues to measure the underlying asset 

subject to an operating lease (ASC 842-30-35-6). 

Lessor recognizes costs, including depreciation, incurred 

in earning the lease income as an expense (IFRS 16.82). 

Lessor adds initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an 

operating lease to the carrying amount of the underlying 

asset and recognizes those costs as an expense over the 

lease term on the same basis as the lease income (IFRS 

16.83). Calculate depreciation on underlying asset based 

on IAS 16 and IAS 38 (IFRS 16.84) and impairment based 

on IAS 36 (IFRS 16.85). 

Lessor recognizes variable lease payments as income in 

profit or loss in period changes in facts and 

circumstances on w hich variable lease payments are 

based occur and initial direct costs as an expense over 

the lease term on the same basis as lease income (ASC 

842-30-25-11). 

If  collectibility of lease payments including any amount 

necessary to satisfy residual value guarantee is not 

probable at commencement date, lease income is limited 

to lesser of income that w ould be recognized above 

related to lease payments and variable lease payments, 

or the lease payments, including variable lease 

payments that have been collected from lessee (ASC 

842-30-25-12). IFRS Standards does not include similar 

guidance. 

Lessor accounts for a modif ication of an operating lease 

as a new  lease from the effective date of the 

modif ications, considering any prepaid or accrued lease 

payments relating to original lease as part of the lease 

payments for the new  lease (IFRS 16.87). 

If  operating lease modif ied and modif ication is not 

accounted for as a separate contract, lessor accounts for 

modif ication as if it w ere a termination of the existing 

lease and the creation of a new  lease that commences 

on effective date of modif ication (ASC 842-10-25-15). 

Sale and leaseback transactions 

An entity that transfers an asset to another entity and 

leases that asset back from the buyer-lessor, determines 

if the transfer of the asset is accounted for as a sale 

based on the guidance for satisfaction of a performance 

obligation in IFRS 15 (IFRS 16.99). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, apply ASC 606-10-25-1 

through 25-8 on existence of a contract and ASC 606-

10-25-30 if entity satisf ies performance obligation by 

transferring control of an asset (ASC 842-40-25-1). 

If  transfer of an asset is a sale (IFRS 16.100): 

¶ Seller-lessee measures right-of-use asset from 

leaseback at proportion of previous carrying amount 

of the asset that relates to the right of use retained by 

seller-lessee and only recognizes the amount of any 

gain or loss that relates to the rights transferred to the 

buyer-lessor 

¶ Buyer-lessor accounts for the purchase of the asset 

by applying applicable IFRS Standards and applying 

IFRS 16 to the lease 

If transfer is a sale (ASC 842-40-25-4): 

¶ Seller-lessee recognizes transaction price for sale 

w hen buyer-lessor obtains control based on the 

guidance in ASC 606-10-25-30 and 32-2 through 

32-27, derecognizes the carrying amount of the 

underlying asset, and accounts for the lease under 

ASC 842 

¶ Similar to IFRS Standards 

If fair value of consideration for sale of asset is not equal 

to fair value of asset or the payments for the lease are not 

at market rates, an entity adjusts the measurement of the 

sale proceeds at fair value by (IFRS 16.101): 

¶ Any below -market terms as a prepayment of lease 

payments, and 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-40-30-2). 
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¶ Any above-market terms as additional f inancing 

provided by buyer-lessor to seller-lessee 

Such adjustment is measured based on the more readily 

determinable of (IFRS 16.102): 

¶ Difference betw een fair value of consideration for sale 

and fair value of asset, and 

¶ Difference betw een present value of contractual 

payments for lease and present value of payments for 

lease at market rates 

If transfer of asset by seller-lessee does not qualify as a 

sale (IFRS 16.103): 

¶ Seller-lessee continues to recognize transferred asset 

and recognizes a f inancial liability for the transfer 

proceeds 

¶ Buyer-lessor does not recognize transferred asset 

and recognizes f inancial asset for amount of transfer 

proceeds 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 842-40-25-5). 
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5.3  Provisions, contingent liabilities, and contingent assets  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance: IAS 37; IFRIC 1 and 21 Relevant guidance: ASC 410, 420, and 450 

Introduction 

A provision is defined as a liability of uncertain timing or 

amount (IAS 37.10). 

¶ Recognition: w hen there is a present obligation (legal 

or constructive) as a result of a past event, transfer of 

economic benefits is probable, and a reliable estimate 

can be made. Probable means more likely than not 

(IAS 37.14 and .23). 

¶ Measurement: at the best estimate of the amount 

required to settle the present obligation at the end of 

the reporting period. The best estimate is the amount 

that an entity w ould rationally pay to settle the 

obligation or transfer it to a third party. Uncertainties 

about the amount to recognize are considered based 

on the circumstances. For example (IAS 37.36-.40): 

- For a large population of items, a provision is 

estimated by w eighing all associated outcomes 

by their probabilities (expected value method) 

- Where there is a continuous range of possible 

outcomes and each point in the range is as likely 

as any other, the mid-point of the range is used 

- For a single item being measured, the best 

estimate may be the most likely outcome. 

How ever, other possible outcomes are 

considered 

¶ Discounting: Where the effect of the time value of 

money is material, the provision is discounted at a 

pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of  money and the risks 

specif ic to the liability (IAS 37.45-.47). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, the guidance for provisions, 

contingent liabilities, and contingent assets is included 

in several ASC topics and that guidance is not alw ays 

consistent. ASC 450-20 on loss contingencies is similar 

to IFRS Standards; how ever, there are some 

differences. 

¶ Recognition: Under ASC 450-20, a loss 

contingency is recognized w hen it is probable that 

an asset has been impaired or a liability has been 

incurred and the amount of the loss can be 

reasonably estimated (ASC 450-20-25-2). The ASC 

Master Glossary defines probable as ñthe future 

event or events are likely to occur,ò a higher 

threshold than more likely than not under IFRS 

Standards. 

¶ Measurement: ASC 450-20 requires that the 

amount of the loss be reasonably estimated (best 

estimate). How ever, w hen the reasonable estimate 

of the loss is a range and some amount w ithin the 

range appears at the time to be a better estimate 

than any other amount w ithin the range, that 

amount is accrued. If no amount w ithin the range is 

a better estimate than any other amount, the 

minimum amount in the range is accrued 

(ASC 450-20-30-1). 

¶ Discounting: Accruals for loss contingencies are not 

discounted unless the timing of the related cash 

f low s is f ixed or reliably determinable 

A contingent liability (asset) is a possible obligation (asset) 

that arises from past events and w hose existence w ill be 

confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 

one or more uncertain future events not w holly w ithin the 

control of the entity (IAS 37.10). 

A contingent liability may also be a present obligation that 

arises from past events but is not recognized because 

either a transfer of economic benefits is not probable or a 

reliable estimate cannot be made (IAS 37.10). 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized; how ever, 

disclosures are required unless the possibility of any 

outf low  is remote (IAS 37.27-.28 and .86). 

A contingency is an existing condition, situation, or set 

of circumstances involving uncertainty as to possible 

gain or loss to an entity that w ill ultimately be resolved 

w hen one or more future events occur or fail to occur 

(ASC Master Glossary, ñContingencyò). 

Disclosure of the contingency is required if there is at 

least a reasonable possibility that a loss or an additional 

loss may have been incurred and either of the follow ing 

conditions exists (ASC 450-20-50-3): 

¶ An accrual is not made for a loss contingency 

because any of the conditions in ASC 450-20-25-2 

are not met 
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¶ An exposure to loss exists in excess of the amount 

accrued pursuant to ASC 450-20-30-1 

A contingent asset is not recognized (IAS 37.31). When an 

inflow  of benefits is probable, a contingent asset w ould be 

disclosed (IAS 37.89). 

Gain contingencies are not reflected in f inancial 

statements (ASC 450-30-25-1). 

Disclosures regarding provisions and contingent assets 

and liabilities may be omitted if they can be expected to 

seriously prejudice the position of the entity in a dispute 

w ith other parties on the subject matter of the related 

provision, contingent asset, or contingent liability. Such 

instances are expected to be extremely rare. How ever, the 

entity discloses the general nature of the dispute as w ell 

as the fact that, and the reason w hy, the information has 

not been disclosed (IAS 37.92). 

A similar exception does not exist. 

Asset retirement obligations ï recognition and measurement 

Provisions for the estimated cost of dismantling and 

removing an asset and restoring a site are recognized and 

measured in accordance w ith the provisions in IAS 37 as 

noted in the Introduction section above. According to IAS 

16, the cost of an item of property, plant, and equipment 

includes the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and 

removing an asset and restoring the site on w hich it is 

located, the obligation for w hich an entity incurs either 

w hen the entity acquires the item or as a consequence of 

using the item (IFRIC 1.1). 

A liability for an asset retirement obligation (ARO) is 

recognized at fair value in the period in w hich it is 

incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be 

made. If a reasonable estimate of the fair value of the 

liability cannot be made in the period the obligation is 

incurred, a liability is recognized w hen a reasonable 

estimate of fair value can be made (ASC 410-20-25-4). 

If  the fair value of an ARO is estimated using the 

expected cash f low  approach, the cash f low s are initially 

discounted using the current credit-adjusted risk-free 

rate (ASC 410-20-30-1). Unlike IFRS Standards, the 

obligation is not adjusted to reflect the effect of a 

change in the current market-based discount rate in 

subsequent periods (ASC 410-20-35-3). 

Asset retirement obligations ï changes in measurement 

Changes in the measurement of existing 

decommissioning, restoration, and similar liabilities are 

accounted for under IFRIC 1. If the cost model is used for 

the asset, changes in measurement of decommissioning, 

restoration, or similar liability as a result of (a) changes in 

the estimated timing or amount of the outf low  of resources 

embodying economic benefits required to settle the 

obligation or (b) a change in the discount rate (other than 

through unw inding of discount rate) is added or deducted 

against the asset (subject to certain restrictions) (IFRIC 1.4 

and .5). 

Like IFRS Standards, changes in the liability for the 

ARO that are due to changes in the timing or amount of 

the original estimated cash f low s are added to or 

deducted from the liability and the cost of the asset. 

Dow nw ard revisions in the amount of undiscounted 

cash f low s are discounted using the credit-adjusted risk-

free rate used on initial recognition. Upw ard revisions in 

the amount of undiscounted cash f low s are discounted 

using the current credit-adjusted risk-free rate 

(ASC 410-20-35-8). 

Unw inding of discount is charged against profit and not 

capitalized as a borrow ing cost (IFRIC 1.8). 

Changes in the liability for the asset retirement 

obligation (ASC 410-20-35-3 through 35-6) that are due 

to the passage of time are treated as accretion expense. 

If the revaluation method is used for the asset, additional 

guidance is provided in IFRIC 1.6. 

U.S. GAAP does not provide a similar revaluation 

model. 
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Environmental obligations 

The general provisions for the recognition of a provision in 

IAS 37.14, as noted in the Introduction section above, 

apply to an environmental obligation (IAS 37.19 and .21). 

The general provisions for the recognition of a 

contingency in ASC 450-20-25-2, as noted in the 

Introduction section above, apply to an environmental 

obligation (ASC 410-30-25-1 to 25-3). 

No similar requirement. An environmental obligation usually becomes 

determinable and estimable over a continuum of events. 

The follow ing conditions are to be met for an 

environmental obligation to be probable of occurrence 

(ASC 410-30-25-4): 

¶ Litigation has commenced or claim or assessment 

has been asserted, or based on available 

information, commencement of litigation or 

assertion of a claim or an assessment is probable 

¶ Based on available information, it is probable that 

the outcome of such litigation, claim or assessment 

w ill be unfavorable  

An environmental liability is measured based on the 

general measurement provisions in IAS 37  

(IAS 37.36-.41). 

An environmental liability is measured based on the 

guidance in ASC 450-20. Additional guidance on 

measuring an environmental liability is also provided 

(ASC 410-30-25-7 through 25-13). 

Restructuring costs 

A provision for restructuring costs is recognized w hen the 

general recognition criteria for provisions in IAS 37.14, as 

noted in the Introduction section above, are met (IAS 

37.71). One of those criteria is that an entity has a present 

obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 

event. A constructive obligation to restructure arises only 

w hen an entity (IAS 37.72): 

¶ Has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring; and 

¶ Has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it 

w ill carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 

that plan or announcing its main features to those 

affected by it 

In general, a liability for a cost associated w ith an exit or 

disposal activity is recognized w hen the definition of a 

liability is met. Therefore, unlike IFRS Standards, an 

entityôs commitment to an exit or disposal plan is not by 

itself the requisite past transaction or event for 

recognition of a liability (ASC 420-10-25-2). 

Onerous contracts 

IAS 37.10 defines an onerous contract as a contract in 

w hich the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations 

under the contract exceed the expected economic 

benefits. If  an entity has an onerous contract, the present 

obligation is recognized and measured as a provision 

(IAS 37.66). 

Note: In December 2018 the Board issued an exposure 

draft of an amendment to IAS 37 to make narrow -scope 

clarifications of the meaning of the term óunavoidable 

costsô in the definition of an onerous contract.  

Unless specif ic U.S. GAAP applies, obligations for 

onerous contracts are not recognized. 
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Levies 

IFRIC 21 provides guidance on accounting for a liability to 

pay a levy if the liability is w ithin the scope of IAS 37 and 

for a liability to pay a levy w hose timing and amount is 

certain (IFRIC 21.2). 

A levy is an outf low  of resources embodying economic 

benefits imposed by governments on entities under 

legislation (IFRIC 21.4). 

The obligating event that gives rise to a liability to pay a 

levy is the activity that triggers payment of the levy, as 

identif ied by the legislation (IFRIC 21.8). 

No constructive obligation to pay a levy is triggered by 

operating in a future period as a result of the entity being 

economically compelled to continue to operate in that 

future period (IFRIC 21.9). 

The liability to pay a levy is recognized progressively if  the 

obligating event occurs over a period of time  

(IFRIC 21.11). 

If  an obligation to pay a levy is triggered w hen a minimum 

threshold is reached, the liability is recognized w hen the 

minimum activity threshold is reached (IFRIC 21.12). 

A prepaid asset is recognized if the levy has been paid but 

no present obligation exists (IFRIC 21.14). 

No similar requirement. 

 
 
  



Comparison between U.S. GAAP and IFRS
 
Standards                                                                 81 

Liabilities ï Taxation 

 

 

 

© 2019 Grant Thornton LLP 
All rights reserved 
U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 
 

5.4  Taxation  

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02 Income StatementðReporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 

220): Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. This update w as 

issued in response to the enactment into federal law  on December 22, 2017 of the tax bill H.R.1, An Act to Provide for 

Reconciliation Pursuant to Titles II and V of the Concurrent Resolution on the Budget for Fiscal Year 2018 (ñTax Cuts 

and Jobs Actò). The update allow s a reclassif ication from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained 

earnings for stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. The update is effective for all entities for 

f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim periods w ithin those years  and early adoption is 

permitted. The amendments should be applied either in the period of adoption or retrospec tively to each period (or 

periods) in w hich the effect of the change in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act 

is recognized. 

The FASB has tw o research projects on its technical agenda related to income taxes. The f irst, Simplification to 

Accounting for Income Taxes, has an objective of making narrow -scope improvements to reduce complexity and 

enhance clarity in accounting for income taxes. The second, Income TaxesðBackwards Tracing has an objective to 

consider w hether changes should be made to the prohibition on backw ards tracing in accounting for income taxes.  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 12 and 32, IFRIC 23 Relevant guidance : ASC 740, 718-740, 805-740, and 

845 

Introduction 

The objective in accounting for income taxes is to 

recognize the amount of taxes currently payable or 

refundable and deferred taxes. Income tax expense is 

equal to the current tax expense (or recovery) plus the 

change in deferred taxes during the period, net of tax 

arising from a business combination or recorded outside 

profit or loss. 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 740-10-10-1). 

Taxes for current and prior periods are, to the extent 

unpaid, recognized as a liability. If  the amount already paid 

exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is 

recognized as an asset. The benefit relating to a tax loss 

that can be carried back to recover current tax of a 

previous period is also recognized as an asset (IAS 12.12-

.13). 

The approach to calculating current taxes is similar to 

IFRS Standards w ith some exceptions, such as the 

treatment of taxes on the elimination of intercompany 

profits w hich is discussed below . 

In general, deferred taxes are recognized using an asset 

and liability approach w hich focuses on temporary 

differences arising betw een the tax base of an asset or 

liability and its carrying amount in the statement of 

f inancial position. Deferred taxes are recognized for the 

future tax consequences of events that have been 

recognized in an entityôs financial statements or tax returns 

(IAS 12.15-.33). 

Although U.S. GAAP also follow s an asset and liability 

approach to calculating deferred taxes, there are some 

differences in the application of the approach from IFRS 

Standards (ASC 740-10-25-2 and 25-3). 

Deferred taxes are not recognized for: 

¶ The initial recognition of goodw ill  

(IAS 12.15 and .32A) 

¶ The initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and at 

the time of the transaction neither accounting profit 

Deferred taxes are not recognized for: 

¶ Goodw ill for w hich amortization is not deductible for 

tax purposes (ASC 740-10-25-3(d)) 
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nor taxable profit (tax loss) is affected 

(IAS 12.15 and .24) 

 

 

¶ Taxable temporary differences associated w ith 

investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates, 

and interests in joint ventures in w hich both of the 

follow ing conditions exist (IAS 12.39): 

- The parent, investor, joint venturer, or joint 

operator is able to control the timing of the 

reversal of the temporary difference; and 

- It is probable that the temporary difference w ill 

not reverse in the foreseeable future 

¶ Unlike IFRS Standards, U.S. GAAP does not have a 

similar exception. An excess of the amount for 

f inancial reporting over the tax basis of an 

investment in a foreign subsidiary or a foreign 

corporate joint venture that is essentially permanent 

in duration, unless it becomes apparent that those 

temporary differences w ill reverse in the foreseeable 

future (ASC 740-30-25-18 through 25-19). Unlike 

IFRS Standards, this exception does not apply to 

domestic subsidiaries and corporate joint ventures 

and investments in equity investees. 

Deferred taxes are recognized for temporary differences 

that arise when an entityôs taxable profit or tax loss (and 

thus the tax basis of its nonmonetary assets and liabilities) 

are measured in a currency different than its functional 

currency. Changes in the exchange rate result in a 

deferred tax asset or liability w hich is charged to profit or 

loss (IAS 12.41). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, recognition of deferred taxes is 

prohibited for differences related to assets and liabilities 

that are remeasured from the local currency into the 

functional currency using historical exchange rates and 

that result from changes in exchange rates or indexing 

for tax purposes (ASC 740-10-25-3(f)). 

Income tax related to distributions to holders of an equity 

instrument and to transaction costs of an equity 

transaction are accounted for in accordance w ith IAS 12 

(IAS 32.35A). 

Income tax related to nonmonetary transactions, 

including nonreciprocal transfers w ith ow ners is 

accounted for in accordance w ith ASC 740-10  

(ASC 845-10-30-9). 

Recognition and measurement 

Current tax liabilities and assets for the current and prior 

periods are measured at amounts expected to be paid to 

(recovered from) the taxation authorities based on tax 

rates (and tax law s) that have been enacted or 

substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period 

(IAS 12.46). 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the tax 

consequences that w ould follow  from the manner in w hich 

the entity expects, at the end of the reporting period, to 

recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 

liabilities (IAS 12.51). 

When there is uncertainty over income tax positions, IFRIC 

23 clarif ies how  to apply the recognition and measurement 

requirements in IAS 12. 

In assessing w hether and how  uncertain tax treatment 

affects the determination of taxable profit or loss, an entity 

assumes that a taxation authority w ill examine the 

amounts it has the right to examine w ith full know ledge of 

all related information (IFRIC 23.8). 

An entity considers if  it is probable that a taxation authority 

w ill accept an uncertain tax treatment (IFRIC 23.9). If  it is 

considered probable that the taxing authority w ill accept an 

uncertain treatment, the entity determines that position 

Unlike IFRS Standards, a tw o-step process is used to 

recognize and measure f inancial statement effects of a 

tax position (uncertain tax positions). An enterprise 

initially recognizes the f inancial statement effects of a tax 

position w hen it is more likely than not (likelihood of more 

than 50 percent), based on the technical merits, that the 

position w ill be sustained on examination (ASC 740-10-

25-6).  

A tax position that meets the more likely than not 

threshold is then initially and subsequently measured as 

the largest amount that is greater than 50 percent likely 

of being realized on settlement w ith a taxing authority 

(ASC 740-10-30-7).  

This guidance applies to all entities including tax-exempt 

not-for-profit entities, pass-through entities, and entities 

that are taxed in a manner similar to pass-through 

entities such as real estate investment trusts and 

registered investment companies (ASC 740-10-15-2AA).  

Measurement of current and deferred tax assets and 

liabilities is based on enacted tax law  (ASC 740-10-30-2).  
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consistent w ith the treatment in its income tax f ilings 

(IFRIC 23.10). If  it is not probable that the taxing authority 

w ill accept the uncertain treatment, the entity reflects the 

impact of that uncertainty by using w hichever of the 

follow ing methods is expected to best predict the 

uncertainty (IFRIC 23.11) 

¶ The most likely amount 

¶ The expected value 

Note : The guidance above reflects the adoption of IFRIC 

23, Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments, w hich 

became effective for all entities starting January 1, 2019. 

Prior to adoption of this guidance, there w as no guidance 

for entities in accounting for uncertainty in income tax 

treatments under IAS 12. 

Deferred taxes are measured at the tax rates that are 

expected to apply w hen the asset is realized or the liability 

is settled, based on tax rates (and tax law s) that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 

reporting period (IAS 12.47). 

 

Deferred taxes are measured using enacted tax rate(s) 

expected to apply to taxable income in periods in w hich 

deferred tax is expected to be settled or realized (ASC 

740-10-30-8). Unlike IFRS, tax rates that have been 

substantially enacted by the balance sheet date are not 

to be used. 

If a deferred tax asset or a deferred tax liability arises from 

a non-depreciable asset measured under the revaluation 

model in IAS 16, the measurement of deferred taxes 

reflects the tax consequences of recovering the carrying 

amount of that asset through sale. If the tax law  specif ies a 

tax rate applicable to the taxable amount derived from the 

sale of an asset that differs from the tax rate applicable to 

the taxable amount derived from using an asset, the rate 

applicable based on the sale of the asset is applied (IAS 

12.51B). If deferred taxes arise from an investment 

property valued at fair value under IAS 40, there is a 

rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount is 

recovered through sale. The presumption is rebutted if the 

investment property is depreciable and the objective of the 

entityôs business model related to that investment property 

is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits in 

the investment property over time, rather than through sale 

(IAS 12.51C). 

No similar requirement as assets are not permitted to be 

measured under a revaluation model nor is investment 

property permitted to be measured at fair value. 

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is 

probable (more likely than not) that taxable profit w ill be 

available against w hich deductible temporary differences 

and unused tax losses and unused tax credits carried 

forw ard can be utilized. At the end of each reporting period 

the deferred tax assets are review ed and the carrying 

amount reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable 

that suff icient taxable profit w ill be available to allow  the 

benefit of all or part of that deferred tax asset to be utilized. 

Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it 

Unlike IFRS Standards, deferred tax assets are 

recognized in full and reduced by a valuation allow ance if 

it is more likely than not (a likelihood of more than 50 

percent) that some portion or all of the deferred tax 

assets w ill not be realized (ASC 740-10-30-5(e)). 
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becomes probable that suff icient taxable profit w ill be 

available (IAS 12.24, .34, and .56). 

An entity considers w hether there is a restriction on the 

source of taxable profits against w hich an entity may 

deduct a temporary difference w hen determining if a 

temporary difference should be recorded (IAS 12.27A). 

 

An entityôs estimate of future taxable profit may include the 

recovery of assets for more than their carrying amount, 

such as a f ixed-rate debt instrument held at fair value, if  

there is suff icient evidence to indicate that it w ill do so (IAS 

12.29A) 

Unlike IFRS Standards, deferred tax assets are 

recognized in full and reduced by a valuation allow ance if 

it is more likely than not (a likelihood of more than 50 

percent) that some portion or all of the deferred tax 

assets w ill not be realized (ASC 740-10-30-5(e)). 

How ever, similar considerations are made by entities in 

making the assessment of w hether a valuation allow ance 

should be recognized under U.S. GAAP and w hether 

deferred tax assets are recognized under IFRS. 

Deferred taxes on elimination of intragroup profits are 

calculated w ith reference to the tax rate of the buyer (the 

entity that holds the inventory) at the end of the reporting 

period. Taxes paid by the seller are recorded as a current 

tax expense (IFRS 10.B86(c)). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, deferred taxes are not 

recognized on elimination of intercompany profits on 

inventory. Income taxes paid on intra-entity profits on 

inventory remaining w ithin the consolidated group are 

accounted for under ASC 810-10 (ASC 740-10-25-3(e)).  

The difference betw een the tax basis of an asset by the 

buyer and the carrying amount of that asset in the 

consolidated f inancial statements for the transfer of 

assets other than inventory betw een entities in the same 

consolidated group may occur and w ill result in a taxable 

or deductible amount w hen the asset is recovered (ASC 

740-10-25-20(i)). 

Note : The guidance above reflects the adoption of ASU 

2016-16, w hich became effective for public entities for 

periods beginning after December 15, 2017 and for all 

other entities for periods beginning after December 15, 

2018. Prior to this ASU, the guidance in ASC 740 

prohibited recognition of deferred taxes on all 

intercompany profits.  

Current and deferred tax are recognized outside profit or 

loss if the tax relates to items that are recognized, in the 

same or a different period, in OCI, or directly to equity 

(IAS 12.61A). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, the tax effects of certain items 

occurring during the year are charged or credited directly 

to OCI or to related components of shareholdersô equity 

(ASC 740-20-45-11). 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted (IAS 

12.53). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 740-10-30-8). 

Income tax consequences of dividends are recognized 

w hen an entity recognizes a liability to pay a dividend (IAS 

12.57A). 

No similar guidance. 

Intraperiod tax allocation 

Subsequent changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 

are recognized in profit or loss except to the extent that 

they relate to items previously recognized outside profit or 

loss (IAS 12.60). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, except that certain 

subsequent changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 

(such as those related to changes in tax rates and tax 

law s) are recognized in income regardless of w hether the 
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deferred tax w as initially recorded in income, equity, or a 

business combination (ASC 740-10-45-15). 

Business combinations 

At the acquisition date, a deferred tax liability or asset (to 

the extent it meets the recognition criteria discussed 

above) is recognized for an acquired entityôs temporary 

differences (w ith certain exceptions) or income tax loss 

carryforwards. If not recognized at the acquisition date, an 

entity recognizes acquired deferred tax benefits that it 

realizes after the business combination as follow s 

(IAS 12.68): 

¶ In goodw ill if  the change occurs (1) during the 

measurement period and (2) as a result of new  

information about facts and circumstances that 

existed as of the acquisition date. If goodw ill is 

reduced to zero, any remaining deferred tax benefits 

are recognized in profit or loss. 

¶ All other deferred tax benefits realized are recognized 

in profit or loss (or outside of profit or loss if required 

by IAS 12). 

At the acquisition date, a deferred tax liability or asset is 

recognized for an acquired entityôs temporary differences 

(w ith certain exceptions) or operating loss or tax credit 

carryforwards. If necessary, a valuation allow ance for an 

acquired entityôs deferred tax asset is also recognized. A 

change in the valuation allow ance is recognized as 

follow s (ASC 805-740-25-3 and 45-2): 

¶ In goodw ill if  the change occurs (1) during the 

measurement period and (2) as a result of new  

information about facts and circumstances that 

existed as of the acquisition date. If goodw ill is 

reduced to zero, any additional decrease in the 

valuation allow ance is recognized as a gain on a 

bargain purchase. 

¶ All other changes are adjustments to income tax 

expense or contributed capital, as appropriate, and 

are not recognized as adjustments to the acquisition-

date accounting for the business combination. 

A change in the acquirerôs deferred tax asset as a result of 

a business combination is not accounted for as part of the 

business combination and therefore, is not accounted for 

as an adjustment to goodw ill (IAS 12.67). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, a change in the acquirerôs 

valuation allow ance on its previously existing deferred tax 

asset as a result of a business combination is not 

accounted for as part of the business combination and 

therefore, is not accounted for as an adjustment to 

goodw ill. Such change is recognized as an income tax 

benefit or credited directly to contributed capital 

(ASC 805-740-30-3). 

Share-based payment 

Deferred taxes are recorded for the difference betw een the 

amount of the tax deduction (or future tax deduction) and 

cumulative remuneration expense related to share-based 

payment aw ards. Deferred tax assets are adjusted each 

period to the amount of tax deduction that the entity w ould 

receive if the aw ard w as tax deductible as of the reporting 

date based on the current market price of the shares 

(IAS 12.68B). 

The amount of the tax deduction or estimated future tax 

deduction measured above may differ from the related 

cumulative remuneration expense. Current and deferred 

tax is recognized as income or expense and included in 

profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the 

tax arises from a) a transaction or event that is recognized, 

in the same or a different period, outside of profit or loss, 

or b) a business combination (IAS 12.58). If  the amount of 

the tax deduction or estimated future tax deduction 

exceeds the amount of the related cumulative 

Deferred tax assets are based on the amount of 

compensation cost recorded. Unlike IFRS Standards, the 

deferred tax adjustment for current share price is 

recorded on settlement (ASC 718-740-25-2 through 25-

3). 

Actual tax deductions for share-based payment 

arrangements may be different than compensation cost 

recognized for book purposes. The tax effect of that the 

difference betw een the cumulative compensation cost of 

an aw ard recorded in the f inancial statements and the 

deduction for tax purposes is be recognized as income 

tax expense or benefit in the income statement in the 

period in w hich the tax deduction arises, or in the period 

in w hich an aw ard expires (ASC 718-740-35-2). 
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remuneration expense, this indicates that the tax 

deduction relates not only to remuneration expense but 

also to an equity item. The excess of the associated 

current or deferred tax is recognized directly in equity (IAS 

12.68C). 

Presentation and disclosure  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if  the entity 

has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 

against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets 

and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by 

the same taxing authority on either: 

¶ The same taxable entity; or 

¶ Different taxable entities that intend either to settle 

current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or to 

realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously 

(IAS 12.74-.76) 

All deferred taxes are offset and presented as a single 

noncurrent amount for a particular tax paying component 

of an entity and w ithin a particular jurisdiction. An entity 

shall not offset deferred tax liabilities and assets 

attributable to different tax-paying components of the 

entity or different tax jurisdictions (ASC 740-10-45-6). 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are presented as 

separate line items in the statement of f inancial position. If 

a classif ied statement of f inancial position is used, 

deferred taxes are classif ied as noncurrent (IAS 1.56). 

 

IFRS Standards do not have similar guidance on the 

presentation of unrecognized tax benefits. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 740-10-45-4 through 45-

10). 

 

 

An unrecognized tax benefit or a portion of one is 

presented in the f inancial statements as a reduction to a 

deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a 

similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforw ard. To the extent 

a net operating loss carryforw ard, a similar tax loss, or a 

tax credit carryforward is not available at the reporting 

date under the tax law  of the applicable jurisdiction to 

settle any additional income taxes that w ould result from 

the disallow ance of a tax position or the tax law  of the 

applicable jurisdiction does not require the entity to use, 

and the entity does not intend to use, the deferred tax 

asset for such purpose, the unrecognized tax benefit is 

presented in the f inancial statements as a liability and is 

not combined w ith deferred tax assets. The assessment 

of w hether a deferred tax asset is available is based on 

the unrecognized tax benefit and deferred tax asset that 

exist at the reporting date and is made presuming 

disallow ance of the tax position at the reporting date is 

permitted (ASC 740-10-45-10A through 45-10B). 

All entities must disclose an explanation of the relationship 

betw een tax expense and accounting profit using either or 

both of the follow ing formats (IAS 12.81c): 

¶ A numerical reconciliation betw een tax expense 

(income) and the product of accounting profit 

multiplied by the applicable tax rate(s) including 

disclosure of the basis on w hich the applicable tax 

rate is computed 

Public companies must disclose a reconciliation using 

percentages or dollar amounts of the reported amount of 

income tax expense attributable to continuing operations 

for the year to that amount of income tax expense that 

w ould result from applying domestic federal statutory tax 

rates to pretax income from continuing operations. 

Nonpublic enterprises must disclose the nature of 

signif icant reconciling items but may omit a numerical 

reconciliation (ASC 740-10-50-12 through 50-13). 
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¶ A numerical reconciliation betw een the average 

effective tax rate and the applicable tax rate, including 

disclosure of the basis on w hich the applicable tax 

rate is computed 

 
  



Comparison between U.S. GAAP and IFRS
 
Standards                                                                 88 

Income and expenditure ï Rev enue (IFRS 15 and ASC 606) 

 

 

 

© 2019 Grant Thornton LLP 
All rights reserved 
U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 
 

6. Income and expenditure 

6.1  Revenue (IFRS 15 and ASC 606 ) 

IFRS 15 and ASC 606 Revenue from Contracts with Customers w ere issued in May 2014. IFRS 15 is now  effective 

for all entities reporting under IFRS, and ASC 606 is effective for most entities reporting under U.S. GAAP. The 

standards w ere essentially converged as issued, although subsequent updates have created some differences under 

the tw o reporting standards.  

Section 6.1 of this Guide compares IFRS 15 and ASC 606. We have included Section 6.2, w hich compares legacy 

revenue guidance under IFRS Standards and U.S. GAAP.  

Converged revenue guidance issued 

In May 2014, the Board and the FASB issued Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15 and ASC 606), as 

part of a joint project to develop a common revenue recognition standard for IFRS Standards and U.S. GAAP. The 

new  guidance supersedes the guidance in IAS 18, IAS 11, IFRIC 13, IFRIC 15, IFRIC 18, and SIC 31, and most 

existing guidance in ASC 605. The guidance establishes principles to provide f inancial statement users w ith useful 

information about the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash f low s from contracts w ith 

customers. 

The guidance applies to most contracts w ith customers to provide goods or services. It does not apply to certain 

contracts that are w ithin the scope of other generally accepted accounting standards, such as lease contracts, 

insurance contracts, f inancial instruments, and nonmonetary exchanges betw een entities in the same line of business 

to facilitate sales to third party customers. 

The core principle requires an entity to recognize revenue in a manner that depicts the transfer of promised goods or 

services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 

those goods or services. To apply this principle, an entity w ould apply the follow ing steps:  

¶ Identify the contract w ith a customer 

¶ Identify the performance obligations in the contract 

¶ Determine the transaction price 

¶ Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract 

¶ Recognize revenue as the entity satisf ies a performance obligation 

The revenue recognition guidance as originally issued under IFRS Standards and U.S. GAAP w as essentially 

converged w ith the exception of the follow ing: 

¶ The collectability threshold for recognizing revenue requires it to be probable that an entity w ill collect the 

consideration to w hich it w ill be entitled in exchange for the goods or services that w ill be transferred to the 

customer. The term probable means more likely than not under IFRS Standards and likely to occur under U.S. 

GAAP. 

¶ The Board amended IAS 34 to specif ically require the disclosure of disaggregated information of revenue from 

contracts w ith customers, contracts balances and remaining performance obligations in interim financial reports. 

Those requirements only apply to public entities under U.S. GAAP.  

¶ Early application is permitted under IFRS Standards and in certain circumstances under U.S. GAAP 

¶ The reversal of an impairment loss on an asset that is recognized as costs to obtain or fulf ill a contract is not 

permitted under U.S. GAAP but required by IFRS Standards under IAS 36 

¶ U.S. GAAP includes specif ic relief for nonpublic entities related to disclosure, transition, and the effective date, 

w hile IFRS Standards do not include such guidance 

Effective dates and transition 

IFRS 15 became effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. 
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ASC 606 became effective for public entities for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, 

including interim reporting periods w ithin that reporting period, and for all other entities in annual reporting periods 

beginning after December 15, 2018 and to interim periods w ithin the follow ing year. 

Entities w ere permitted to apply the guidance in ASC 606 and IFRS 15 using one of the follow ing tw o methods: 

¶ Retrospectively to each prior period presented in accordance w ith ASC 250 or IAS 8, subject to certain practical 

expedients 

¶ Retrospectively w ith a cumulative effect adjustment to opening retained earnings in the period of initial adoption. 

If applying this transition method, an entity w ould apply the new  revenue recognition guidance only to contracts 

not completed under existing U.S. GAAP or IFRS Standards at the date of adoption. 

An entity that elected to apply the cumulative effect transition method did not restate comparative years; how ever, it 

w as required to provide the follow ing additional disclosures in the initial year of adoption: 

¶ By f inancial statement line item, the current-year impact of applying the new  revenue standard 

¶ An explanation of the signif icant changes betw een the reported results under legacy U.S. GAAP or IFRS 

Standards and the new  revenue standard 

FASB and Board clarifications to the revenue recognition guidance  

The FASB and the Board formed the Joint Transition Group for Revenue Recognition (TRG) to address issues that 

have arisen from implementation of the new  revenue recognition standard and to inform the FASB and Board about 

those issues and suggestions for actions to be taken to address those implementation issues. The TRG discussed 

issues related to a variety of issues including gross versus net revenue, sales -based and usage-based royalties, 

customer options for additional goods and services, presentation of contract assets and contract liabilities, distinct in 

the context of the contact, identifying promised goods or services, incremental costs to obtain a contract, contract 

modif ications, noncash considerations, completed contracts at transition, and accounting for licenses.  Many of these 

issues have been addressed w ithout a recommendation to propose a change to the revenue recognition guidance. 

The Boards addressed issues related to identifying performance obligations; principal versus agent considerations; 

licensing; collectibility; measuring non-cash consideration and certain practical expedients by issuing updates to the 

standards, as discussed below .  

The FASB and the Board have evaluated the issues addressed by the TRG. Although many continue to believe that 

any changes made to the revenue recognition guidance should maintain the convergence of the standards, the FASB 

and Board have issued separate clarif ications to their revenue recognition guidance. All updates from the Board and 

the FASB have been incorporated into the comparison discussion in this section.  

The Board has issued the follow ing updates to IFRS 15: 

¶ Clarifications to IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers . 

The FASB has issued the follow ing updates to ASC 606: 

¶ ASU 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus Agent Considerations 

(Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net), 

¶ ASU 2016-10, Revenue from Contacts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying Performance Obligations and 

Licensing, 

¶ ASU 2016-12, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements and Practical 

Expedients 

¶ ASU 2016-20, Technical Corrections and Improvements to Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers  

¶ ASU 2017-05, Other Income-Gains and Losses from the Derecognition of Nonfinancial Assets (Subtopic 610-

20): Clarifying the Scope of Asset Derecognition Guidance and Accounting for Partial Sales of Nonfinancial 

Assets 

¶ ASU 2017-13 Revenue Recognition (Topic 605), Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), Leases 

(Topic 840), and Leases (Topic 842): Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to the Staff Announcement at 

the July 20, 2017 EITF Meeting and Rescission of Prior SEC Staff Announcements and Observer Comments   
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¶ ASU 2017-14 Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220), Revenue Recognition (Topic 605), and Revenue 

from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to the Staff Accounting 

Bulletin No. 116 and SEC Release No.33-10403 

For additional information on ASC 606, please refer to Grant Thorntonôs Revenue from Contracts with Customersð 

Navigating the Guidance in ASC 606 and ASC 340-40. 

Note : This Section presents the revenue guidance under IFRS 15 and ASC 606. The legacy revenue guidance is 

presented in Section 6.2. 

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance: IFRS 15 Relevant guidance : ASC 606, 340-40, and 853 

Objective 

To establish principles to report information to users of 

f inancial statements about the nature, amount, timing and 

uncertainty of revenue and cash f low s from a contract w ith 

a customer (IFRS 15.1). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-10-1). 

Revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of promised 

goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects 

the consideration to w hich the entity expects to be entitled 

in exchange for those goods or services (IFRS 15.2). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-10-2). 

Note : In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-10, 

Service Concession Arrangements (Topic 853): 

Determining the Customer of the Operation Services (a 

consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force) ,to 

address diversity in practice in how  an operating entity 

determines the customer of the operation services for 

transactions that are w ithin the scope of ASC 853. 

Existing guidance does not address how  an operating 

entity should determine the customer of the operation 

services for these transactions. 

In a service concession arrangement (SCA), a grantor 

(typically a government or public-sector entity) and an 

operating entity enter into a contract for the operating 

entity to operate the grantorôs infrastructure (for example, 

a toll road) for a specif ied period of time. An SCA is w ithin 

the scope of ASC 853 w hen both   

¶ The grantor controls or has the ability to modify or 

approve (1) the services that the operating entity 

must provide using the grantorôs infrastructure, (2) to 

w hom the operating entity must provide the services, 

and (3) at w hat price 

¶ The grantor controls, through ow nership, beneficial 

entitlement, or otherw ise, any residual interest in the 

infrastructure at the end of the term of the 

arrangement 

The ASU clarif ies that the grantor is the customer in all 

cases for SCAs w ithin the scope of ASC 853, because the 

operating entity does not ow n or lease the infrastructure 

and does not control the services provided to the third-

party users.  

The effective date of the new  guidance aligns w ith the 

guidance in ASC 606 and entities are allow ed to early 

https://www.grantthornton.com/library/articles/audit/2017/ASC-606-and-ASC-340-40-with-new-guide.aspx
https://www.grantthornton.com/library/articles/audit/2017/ASC-606-and-ASC-340-40-with-new-guide.aspx
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adopt the new  guidance irrespective of their decision to 

early adopt ASC 606. How ever, the transition approaches 

and practical expedients that may be available depend 

upon w hether the entity adopts ASC 606 before or after 

the issuance of ASU 2017-10. 

Scope 

Apply to all contracts w ith customers except (IFRS 15.5): 

¶ Lease contracts 

¶ Insurance contracts 

¶ Financial instruments and other contractual rights or 

obligations  

¶ Nonmonetary exchanges betw een entities in the 

same line of business to facilitate sales to customers 

or potential customers 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-15-2). 

Loan guarantee fees (in w hich an entity lends its 

creditw orthiness to another party for a fee) are specif ically 

scoped out of ASC 606 and accounted for under ASC 460 

Guarantees Or ASC 815 for those guarantees accounted 

for as a derivative (ASC 310-10-60-4). 

Note : In November 2018 the FASB issued ASU 2018-18, 

Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808): Clarifying the 

Interaction between Topic 808 and Topic 606. Refer to 

section 8.2 for more discussion of this ASU, and for 

discussion of collaborative arrangements. 

Apply to a contract only if  the counterparty to the contract 

is a customer. A customer is a party that has contracted 

w ith an entity to obtain goods or services that are an 

output of the entityôs ordinary activities in exchange for 

consideration (IFRS 15.6). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-15-3). 

In November 2018 the FASB issued  

Recognition 

Step 1: Identify contract 

Account for a contract w ith a customer w ithin the scope 

only w hen all of the follow ing are met (IFRS 15.9): 

¶ Parties to the contract have approved the contract (in 

w riting, orally or under other customary business 

practices) and are committed to perform their 

respective obligations 

¶ Entity can identify each partyôs rights regarding the 

goods or services to be transferred 

¶ Entity can identify the payment terms for the goods or 

services to be transferred  

¶ Contract has commercial substance (risk, timing or 

amount of entityôs future cash flows are expected to 

change as a result of the contract) 

¶ Probable that entity w ill collect the consideration to 

w hich it w ill be entitled in exchange of the goods or 

services that w ill be transferred to the customer 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-25-1). 

A contract is an agreement betw een tw o or more parties 

that creates enforceable rights and obligations 

(IFRS 15.10). A contract does not exist if  each party to the 

contract has the unilateral enforceable right to terminate a 

w holly unperformed contract w ithout compensating the 

other party (IFRS 15.12). The initial determination is not 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-25-4 and 25-5). 
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revisited unless there is an indication of a signif icant 

change in facts and circumstances (IFRS 15.13). 

When the contract does not meet the criteria in IFRS 15.9 

and an entity receives consideration from the customer, 

the entity recognizes the consideration received as 

revenue only w hen either has occurred (IFRS 15.15): 

¶ The entity has no remaining performance obligations 

to transfers goods or services and all or substantially 

all of the consideration promised has been received 

and is non-refundable 

¶ The contract is terminated and consideration received 

is non-refundable 

Otherw ise recognize the consideration received as a 

liability (IFRS 15.16). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, except that an entity also 

recognizes revenue w hen it has transferred control of the 

goods or services to w hich the consideration that has 

been received relates, the entity has stopped transferring 

goods or services to the customer and has no obligation 

under the contract to transfer additional goods or 

services, and the consideration received from the 

customer is nonrefundable (ASC 606-10-25-7 and 25-8). 

A contract modif ication is a change in the scope, price or 

both, that is approved by the parties to the contract. It 

either creates new  or changes existing enforceable rights 

and obligations of the parties to the contract (IFRS 15.18). 

Account for a contract modif ication as a separate contract 

if  both conditions exist (IFRS 15.20): 

¶ Scope of the contract increases because of the 

addition of promised goods or services that are 

distinct  

¶ Price of the contract increases by an amount of 

consideration that reflects the entityôs stand-alone 

selling prices of the additional promised goods or 

services and any appropriate adjustments to that 

price to reflect the circumstances of the particular 

contract 

If a contract modif ication is not a separate contract an 

entity accounts for the promised goods or services not yet 

transferred at the date of the contract modif ication in 

accordance w ith IFRS 15.21. 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-25-10, 25-12 and 

25-13). 

Step 2: Identify performance obligations  

At contract inception, assess the goods or services 

promised in a contract w ith a customer and identity as a 

performance obligation each promise to transfer to the 

customer either (IFRS 15.22): 

¶ A good or service that is distinct (IFRS 15.27-.30) 

¶ A series of distinct goods or services that are 

substantially the same and that have same pattern of 

transfer to customer 

Performance obligations do not include activities an entity 

performs to fulf ill a contract unless those activities transfer 

a good or service to the customer (IFRS 15.25). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-25-14 and 25-

17). 
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No similar specif ic guidance exists in IFRS 15. Shipping and handling activities that are performed before 

the customer obtains control of the good are not a 

promised service to the customer, but instead are 

activities to fulfil the entityôs promise to transfer the good. 

(ASC 606-10-25-18A). If shipping and handling activities 

are performed after a customer obtains control of the 

good, then the entity may elect to account for shipping 

and handling as activities to fulf ill the promise to transfer 

the good (ASC 606-10-25-18B). A similar accounting 

policy election is not available under IFRS 15. 

No similar specif ic guidance exists in IFRS 15. An entity is not required to assess w hether promised 

goods or services are performance obligations if they are 

immaterial in the context of the contract. If  revenue is 

recognized related to a performance obligation that 

includes immaterial goods or services is recognized 

before they are transferred to the customer, then the 

related costs to transfer those goods or services shall be 

accrued (ASC 606-10-25-16A). This guidance does not 

apply to the determination of w hether a customer option 

to acquire additional goods or services is a material right 

(ASC 606-10-25-16B). 

Step 3: Determine the transaction price  

When or as a performance obligation is satisf ied, 

recognize revenue at the amount of the transaction price 

(excluding estimates of variable consideration that are 

constrained) allocated to that performance obligation 

(IFRS 15.46). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-1). 

Consider terms of the contract and entityôs customary 

business practices to determine transaction price. The 

transaction price is the amount of consideration an entity 

expects to be entitled to in exchange for transferring 

promised goods or services to a customer, excluding 

amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The 

consideration promised in a contract w ith a customer may 

include f ixed amounts, variable amounts or both 

(IFRS 15.47). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-2). 

 

Under U.S. GAAP an entity is permitted to make an 

accounting policy election to exclude from the 

measurement of the transaction price all taxes assessed 

by a governmental authority that are both imposed on and 

concurrent w ith a specif ic revenue-producing transaction 

and collected by the entity from a customer (ASC 606-10-

32-2A) 

If consideration promised in contract includes variable 

amounts, estimate the amount of consideration entity w ill 

be entitled to in exchange for transferring promised goods 

or services to a customer. The amount of consideration 

may vary because of discounts, rebates, refunds, credits, 

price concessions, incentives, performance bonuses, 

penalties or if an entityôs entitlement to the consideration 

is contingent on the occurrence or non-occurrence of  a 

future event (IFRS 15.50-.51). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-5 through 32-

6). 

Estimate amount of variable consideration by using either 

the expected value or the most likely amount, depending 

on w hich method the entity expects to better predict the 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-8 and 32-9). 
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amount of consideration to w hich it w ill be entitled (IFRS 

15.53). Apply that method consistently throughout the 

contract w hen estimating the effect of an uncertainty on 

an amount of variable consideration. Consider all 

information reasonably available to the entity and identify 

a reasonable number of possible consideration amounts 

(IFRS 15.54). 

Recognize refund liability if  entity receives consideration 

from a customer and expects to refund some or all of that 

consideration to the customer. Measure refund liability at 

amount of consideration received (or receivable) for w hich 

entity does not expect to be entitled and update amount at 

the end of each reporting period for changes in 

circumstances (IFRS 15.55). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-10). 

Include in transaction price some or all of an amount of 

variable consideration only to the extent that it is highly 

probable that a signif icant reversal in amount of 

cumulative revenue recognized w ill not occur w hen the 

uncertainty associated w ith the variable consideration is 

subsequently resolved, considering both the likelihood 

and the magnitude of the revenue reversal (IFRS 15.56- 

.57). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-11 through 

32-12). Probable under U.S. GAAP means ñlikely to 

occurò while it means ñmore likely than notò under IFRS 

Standards. 

Recognize revenue on sales-based or usage-based 

royalties promised in exchange for a license of intellectual 

property only w hen (or as) the later event occurs (IFRS 

15.58, .B63): 

¶ Subsequent sale or usage occurs 

¶ Performance obligation to w hich some or all of the 

sales-based or usage-based royalty has been 

allocated has been satisf ied or partially satisf ied 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-13 and 606-

10-55-65). 

In determining transaction price, adjust promised amount 

of consideration for the effects of the time value of money 

if the timing of payments agreed to by the parties to the 

contract provides the customer or the entity w ith a 

signif icant benefit of f inancing the transfer of goods or 

services to the customer (IFRS 15.60). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-15). 

Present the effect of f inancing (interest revenue or interest 

expense) separately from revenue from contracts w ith 

customers. Interest revenue or interest expense is only 

recognized to the extent that a contract asset (or 

receivable) or a contract liability is recognized in 

accounting for a contract w ith a customer (IFRS 15.65). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-20). 

To determine transaction price for contracts w here the 

consideration is other than cash, measure non-cash 

consideration or promise of at fair value or indirectly by 

reference to the stand-alone selling price of the goods or 

services promised, if entity canôt reasonably estimate fair 

value (IFRS 15.66-.67). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, except that under U.S. GAAP 

the fair value of noncash consideration is measured at 

contract inception. Changes in the fair value after contract 

inception that are due to the form of the consideration are 

not included in the transaction price. An entity w ould apply 

the variable consideration in ASC 606-10-32-5 through 
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32-14 for changes in the fair value for other than the form 

of the consideration (ASC 606-10-32-21 through 32-23). 

Account for consideration payable to customer as a 

reduction of the transaction price and of revenue unless 

the payment to the customer is in exchange for a distinct 

good or service that the customer transfers to the entity. 

Apply the guidance on variable consideration in 

IFRS 15.50 - .58 if the consideration payable to a 

customer is variable (IFRS 15.70). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-25). 

Step 4: Allocating the transaction price to performance obligations  

The objective is to allocate the transaction price to each 

performance obligation (or distinct good or service) in an 

amount that depicts the amount of consideration to w hich 

the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for 

transferring the promised goods or services to the 

customer (IFRS 15.73). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-28). 

Allocate transaction price to each performance obligation 

identif ied in the contract on a relative stand-alone selling 

price basis, w ith certain exceptions related to discounts 

and consideration that includes variable amounts 

(IFRS 15.74).  

Determine the stand-alone selling price at contract 

inception of the distinct good or service underlying each 

performance obligation in the contract and allocate the 

transaction price in proportion to those stand-alone selling 

prices (IFRS 15.76). 

The stand-alone selling price is the price at w hich an 

entity w ould sell a promised good or service separately to 

a customer. The best evidence of stand-alone selling price 

is the observable price of a good or service w hen the 

entity sells that good or service separately in similar 

circumstances and to similar customers (IFRS 15.77). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-29). 

 

 

 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-31). 

 

 

 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-32). 

Except w hen an entity has observable evidence that an 

entire discount relates to only one or more, but not all 

performance obligations in a contract, allocate a discount 

proportionately to all performance obligations in the 

contract similar to the allocation of the transaction price to 

each performance obligation (IFRS 15.81). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-36). 

Allocate variable amount and subsequent change to that 

amount entirely to a performance obligation or to a distinct 

good or service that forms part of a single performance 

obligation w hen certain conditions are met (IFRS 15.85). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-40). 

Allocate to the performance obligations in the contract any 

subsequent changes in the transaction price on the same 

basis as at contract inception. Do not reallocate the 

transaction price to reflect changes in stand-alone selling 

prices after contract inception. Amount allocated to 

satisf ied performance obligations are recognized as 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-32-43). 
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revenue or as a reduction of revenue in the period the 

transaction price changes (IFRS 15.88). 

Step 5: Recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation 

Recognize revenue w hen or as the entity satisf ies a 

performance obligation by transferring a promised good or 

service to a customer. An asset is transferred as the 

customer obtains control (IFRS 15.31). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-25-23). 

Determine w hether each performance obligation is 

satisf ied over time or if  not, at a point in time based on the 

guidance in IFRS 15.35-.38 (IFRS 15.32). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-25-24). 

Control of an asset is the ability to direct the use of, and 

obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits from the 

asset and includes the ability to prevent other entities from 

directing the use of, and obtaining the benefits from, an 

asset (IFRS 15.33). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-25-25). 

For performance obligations satisf ied over time, recognize 

revenue over time by measuring the progress tow ards 

complete satisfaction of each performance obligation by 

depicting an entityôs performance in transferring control of 

goods or services promised to a customer (IFRS 15.39). 

For a performance obligation satisf ied over time, revenue 

is not recognized if the entity is unable to reasonably 

measure its progress tow ards complete satisfaction of the 

performance obligation (IFRS 15.44). If  the entity expects 

to recover the costs incurred in satisfying the performance 

obligation, recognize revenue to the extent of the costs 

incurred until the entity can reasonably measure the 

outcome of the performance obligation (IFRS 15.45). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-25-31, 25-36 and 

25-37). 

Intellectual property licenses 

A license that qualif ies as a separate performance 

obligation and represents the right to access the entityôs 

intellectual property as it exists throughout the license 

period is recognized over time (IFRS 15.B60). The nature 

of an entityôs promise in granting a license is a promise to 

provide a right to access the entityôs intellectual property if 

all of the follow ing criteria are met (IFRS 15.B58) 

¶ the contract requires, or the customer reasonably 

expects, that the entity w ill undertake activities that 

signif icantly affect the intellectual property to w hich 

the customer has rights  

¶ the rights granted by the license directly expose the 

customer to any positive or negative effects of the 

entityôs activities; and 

¶ those activities do not result in the transfer of a good 

or a service to the customer as those activities occur. 

A license that qualif ies as a separate performance 

obligation and represents a right to use the entityôs 

An entity must determine w hether the promise to provide 

a right to access intellectual property is for functional or 

symbolic intellectual property. Functional intellectual 

property has signif icant standalone functionality, and is 

recognized at a point in time. Symbolic intellectual 

property does not have signif icant standalone functionality 

and is recognized over time (ASC 606-10-55-59 and 55-

60). IFRS does not use the concepts of functional versus 

symbolic intellectual property. Judgements of over time 

versus point in time recognition in IFRS are made based 

on the criteria in IFRS 15.B58. 

An entity may not recognize revenue before both 

providing the intellectual property to the customer and the 

beginning of the period during w hich the customer is able 

to use and benefit from its right to access the intellectual 

property. An entity w ould recognize revenue from a 

license renew al no earlier than the beginning of the 

renew al period (ASC 606-10-55-58C). No similar specif ic 
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intellectual property as it exists at the point in time at 

w hich the license is granted, is recognized at a point in 

time (IFRS 15.B61).  

guidance about recognizing revenue for the renew al of a 

license exists under IFRS.  

Principal versus agent considerations 

An entity is a principal if  it controls the specif ied good or 

service before that good or service is transferred to a 

customer (IFRS 15.B35). 

When another party is involved in providing goods or 

services to a customer, an entity that is a principal obtains 

control of any one of the follow ing (IFRS 15.B35A) 

¶ a good or another asset from the other party that it 

then transfers to the customer. 

¶ a right to a service to be performed by the other party, 

w hich gives the entity the ability to direct that party to 

provide the service to the customer on the entityôs 

behalf.  

¶ a good or service from the other party that it then 

combines w ith other goods or services in providing 

the specif ied good or service to the customer. 

Indicators that an entity controls the specif ied good or 

service before it is transferred to a the customer (and is 

therefore a principal) include, but are not limited to (IFRS 

15.B37) 

¶ the entity is primarily responsible for fulf illing the 

promise to provide the specif ied good or service 

¶ the entity has inventory risk before the specif ied good 

or service has been transferred to a customer, or 

after transfer of control to the customer (for example, 

if  the customer has a right of return) 

¶ the entity has discretion in establishing the price for 

the specif ied good or service 

 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 606-10-55-36 to 55-40). 

Contract costs 

Recognize as an asset the incremental costs of obtaining 

a contract w ith a customer if  the entity expects to recover 

those costs (IFRS 15.91). 

As a practical expedient an entity may recognize the 

incremental costs as an expense w hen incurred if the 

amortization period of the asset that w ould have been 

recognized is one year or less (IFRS 15.94). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 340-40-25-1). 

 

 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 340-40-25-4). 

If  the costs incurred in fulf illing a contract w ith a customer 

are not w ithin the scope of other guidance, recognize an 

asset from the costs incurred to fulf ill a contract if  certain 

conditions are met (IFRS 15.95). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 340-40-25-5 and 25-6). 

Amortize the asset from the costs of obtaining a contract 

or incurred in fulf illing a contract on a systematic basis 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 340-40-35-1). 
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consistent w ith the transfer to the customer of the goods 

or services to w hich the asset relates (IFRS 15.99). 

Recognize an impairment loss on the asset from the costs 

of obtaining a contract or incurred in fulf illing a contract if  

certain conditions are met (IFRS 15.101). 

 

 

 

 

Similar to IFRS Standards, w ith the clarif ication that an 

entity should include both the amount of consideration the 

entity expects to receive in the future and the amount of 

consideration it has already received but not recognized 

as revenue (ASC 340-40-35-3). An entity should consider 

expected contract renew als and extensions w ith the same 

customer (ASC 340-40-35-4). No such clarif ication exists 

in IFRS.  

Some or all of an impairment loss is reversed w hen the 

impairment conditions no longer exist or have improved 

(IFRS 15.104). 

An entity w ould not recognize the reversal of an 

impairment loss previously recognized (ASC 340-40-35-

6). 
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6.2  Legacy r evenue guidance  (I AS 18 and ASC 60 5) 

This section provides comparison of the legacy revenue guidance for IFRS Standards and U.S. GAAP. The current 

standards, IFRS 15 and ASC 606, are discussed in Section 6.1 

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance: IFRS 13; IAS 18; IFRIC 13, 15, and 

18; SIC 31 

Relevant guidance : ASC 605, 820, 845, and industry 

topics; SFAC 5 and 6; SEC SAB Topic 13 

Introduction 

The term revenue encompasses the gross inflow  of 

economic benefits during the period arising in the course 

of ordinary activities w hen those inflow s result in increases 

in equity, other than increases relating to contributions 

from equity participants (IAS 18.7). 

SFAC 6.78 defines revenues as inflow s or other 

enhancements of assets of an entity or settlements of its 

liabilities (or a combination of both) from delivering or 

producing goods, rendering services, or other activities 

that constitute the entity's ongoing major or central 

operations. 

IAS 18 is a general standard on revenue recognition, it 

applies to revenue from (IAS 18.1): 

¶ The sale of goods 

¶ The rendering of services 

¶ The use by others of entity assets yielding interest, 

royalties, and dividends 

The standard does not deal w ith revenue from leases, 

dividends from investments accounted for under the equity 

method, insurance contracts, changes in the fair value of 

f inancial assets and liabilities or their disposal, changes in 

the value of other current assets, extraction of mineral 

ores, or agriculture (IAS 18.6). 

Revenue from services directly related to construction 

contracts is addressed in IAS 11 rather than IAS 18 

(IAS 18.4). (See Section 6.2, ñRevenue  long-term 

contracts/construction contractsò) 

An agreement for the construction of real estate may be 

w ithin the scope of IAS 11 or 18. The determination is a 

matter of judgment that depends on the terms of the 

agreement and the specif ic facts and circumstances of the 

arrangement. IFRIC 15 provides guidance to assess 

w hether an agreement for the construction of real estate is 

w ithin the scope of IAS 11 or 18 and w hen revenue from 

the construction of real estate is recognized (IFRIC 15.6). 

IFRIC 18 applies to accounting for transfers of items of 

property, plant and equipment by entities from customers. 

An example is an agreement in w hich an entity receives an 

item of property, plant, and equipment from a customer 

that the entity uses either to connect the customer to a 

netw ork or provide the customer w ith ongoing access to a 

supply of goods or services, or both (IFRIC 18.1 and .4-.5). 

Revenue recognition guidance is extensive and is 

included in several topics in the Codif ication, as w ell as 

SEC guidance, such as SAB Topic 13 that address 

specif ic revenue recognition issues. The content in this 

section is more general and is derived primarily from 

ASC 605-10, 605-15, 605-20, 605-25, and 605-45. 

Industry specif ic guidance, such as softw are and real 

estate is included in other ASC topics. 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable (IAS 18.9). 

Revenues and gains are generally measured by the 

exchange values of the assets (goods or services) or 
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liabilities involved (SFAC 5.83). In many cases, the 

specif ic literature that applies to a particular revenue 

transaction includes measurement guidance. 

Although IAS 18 does not have specif ic criteria to separate 

identif iable components of a single transaction, in certain 

situations separation is required in order to reflect the 

substance of the transaction (IAS 18.13). 

IAS 18 does not provide guidance on allocating 

consideration received to the elements of the 

arrangement. 

ASC 605-25 addresses how  to determine w hether an 

arrangement involving multiple deliverables contains 

more than one unit of accounting and how  to measure 

and allocate arrangement consideration to the separate 

units of accounting. Other ASC topics may also address 

multiple-element arrangements. ASC 605-25-15-3 and 

ASC 605-25-15-3A address the interaction of  

ASC 605-25 w ith other Codif ication topics. 

ASC 605-25 does not address the recognition of 

revenue. Once elements have been separated and 

consideration has been allocated using the guidance in 

ASC 605-25, other accounting literature is used to 

evaluate revenue recognition (ASC 605-25-15-4). 

If  ASC 605-25 applies, the delivered item(s) are 

considered a separate unit of accounting if  

(ASC 605-25-25-5): 

¶ The delivered item(s) has value to the customer on a 

standalone basis 

¶ If  the arrangement includes a general right of return 

relative to the delivered item, delivery or 

performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered 

probable and substantially in the control of the 

vendor 

Unlike IFRS Standards, ASC 605-25 includes specif ic 

guidance on allocating arrangement consideration to the 

elements in the arrangement. The consideration is 

allocated to the elements based on their relative selling 

price, w ith some exceptions, such as for contingent 

consideration or w hen other guidance addresses the 

accounting for the separate element. The selling price is 

determined for the separate elements based on a 

hierarchy of evidence (ASC 605-25-30-2): 

¶ Vendor-specif ic objective evidence (VSOE) of selling 

price is used 

¶ If  VSOE does not exist, third-party evidence (TPE) is 

used 

¶ If  neither VSOE nor TPE exists, the entity uses its 

best estimate of selling price for that element  

The residual method of allocating arrangement 

consideration among units of accounting is no longer 

permitted except as specif ied under softw are revenue 

recognition guidance (ASC 985-605-25). 

ASC Topic 605-28 provides guidance for the milestone 

method, w hich applies to arrangements in w hich a 

vendor satisf ies its performance obligations over time 
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(such as R&D activities), w ith all or a portion of the 

consideration contingent on future events, referred to as 

milestones (ASC 605-28-15-2). 

A vendor may adopt an accounting policy to recognize all 

of the arrangement consideration that is contingent on 

the achievement of a substantive milestone in the period 

the milestone is achieved. Although the milestone 

method is not the only acceptable revenue attribution 

model for milestone consideration, other methods that 

result in the recognition of all of the milestone 

consideration in the period the milestone is achieved are 

precluded (ASC 605-28-25-1). 

Certain revenue arrangements that include both tangible 

products and softw are elements or related deliverables 

are excluded from the scope of ASC 985-605, and are 

instead evaluated for segmentation using the guidance in 

ASC 605-25 (ASC 985-605-15-4 and 4A). 

Where tw o or more transactions are linked in such a w ay 

that the commercial effect cannot be understood w ithout 

reference to the series of transactions as a w hole, the 

recognition criteria is applied to all transactions together 

(IAS 18.13). 

Separate contracts entered into at or near the same time 

w ith the same entity or related parties are presumed to 

have been negotiated as a package and are therefore 

evaluated as a single arrangement in considering 

w hether there are one or more units of accounting  

(ASC 605-25-25-3). 

In an agency relationship, the amounts collected on behalf 

of the principal are not revenue of the agent. Revenue is 

the amount of commission (IAS 18.8). 

An entity is acting as a principal if  it has exposure to the 

signif icant risks and rew ards associated w ith the sale of 

goods or services. IFRS Standards includes a list of 

features that indicate an entity is acting as a principal in a 

transaction. These features are similar to some of  those 

included in ASC 605-45 (IAS 18.IE.21). 

The concept for recording revenues gross as a principal 

or net as an agent is similar to IFRS Standards. Entities 

must consider the indicators of gross and net reporting in 

ASC 605-45 in determining w hether to recognize revenue 

at the full amount billed to a customer or the net amount 

retained. 

Sale of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized w hen all of 

the follow ing conditions have been met (IAS 18.14): 

¶ The signif icant risks and rew ards of ow nership of the 

goods have been transferred to the buyer 

¶ The seller retains neither continuing managerial 

involvement to the degree normally associated w ith 

ow nership nor effective control of the goods sold 

¶ The amount of revenue can be measured reliably 

¶ It is probable that economic benefits associated w ith 

the transaction w ill f low  to the seller 

¶ The costs incurred or to be incurred can be measured 

reliably 

ASC 605-10-25-1 and SEC SAB Topic 13 outline the 

general principles of revenue recognition for the sale of 

goods and other items. Under ASC 605-10-25-1, revenue 

is recognized w hen it is earned and realized or realizable. 

According to SAB Topic 13, revenue generally is earned 

and realized or realizable w hen all of the follow ing criteria 

are met: 

¶ Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists 

¶ Collectibility is reasonably assured 

¶ Delivery has occurred or services have been 

rendered 

¶ The sellerôs price to the buyer is fixed or 

determinable 
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Services 

Revenue from services is recognized by reference to the 

stage of completion at the end of the reporting period 

w hen the outcome can be reliably estimated. The outcome 

can be reliably estimated w hen all of the follow ing are met 

(IAS 18.20): 

¶ The amount of revenue can be measured reliably 

¶ It is probable that economic benefits w ill f low  to the 

entity 

¶ The stage of completion can be measured reliably 

¶ The costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to 

complete the transaction can be measured reliably 

When the outcome of the transaction involving the 

rendering of services cannot be reliably estimated, 

revenue is recognized only to the extent of the expenses 

recognized that are recoverable (IAS 18.26). 

U.S. GAAP does not specif ically address accounting for 

service revenue. How ever, SFAC 5 and SEC SAB 

Topic 13 refer to revenue from both goods and services. 

Consequently, the aforementioned general revenue 

recognition principles for the sale of goods also apply to 

services. Three common methods that are used to 

recognize service revenue are: 

¶ Specific performance method ï used w hen service 

revenue is earned by the performance of a single act 

¶ Proportional performance method ï used w hen 

service revenue is earned by the performance of 

more than one act. How ever, cost-to-cost input 

measures cannot be used to measure progress 

tow ard completion. 

¶ Completed performance method ï used w hen 

service revenue is earned by the performance of 

more than one similar or dissimilar acts but the f inal 

act is so critical to the entire transaction that revenue 

cannot be considered earned until the f inal act is 

performed. 

Contract accounting (for example, the percentage-of-

completion method), is not applied to service contracts 

that are outside the scope of ASC 605-35. 

Restrictions on recognition of revenues  

If  the seller retains signif icant risks of ow nership, revenue 

from the sale of goods is not recognized, such as w hen 

(IAS 18.16): 

¶ There is an obligation for unsatisfactory performance 

beyond normal w arranty provisions 

¶ Sale is contingent on the buyer selling the goods 

¶ Goods are shipped subject to installation that is 

signif icant to the contract and not complete 

¶ The buyer has the right to rescind and the seller is 

uncertain about the probability of return 

Where a seller retains only an insignif icant risk of 

ow nership, such as a retail sale w here a refund is offered 

to the customer, revenue is recognized at the time of sale 

provided the seller can reliably estimate future returns and 

recognizes a liability for returns based on previous 

experience and other relevant factors (IAS 18.17). 

In general, there are similar restrictions on the 

recognition of revenue. ASC 605-15 includes specif ic 

guidance on the recognition of revenue w hen the right of 

return exists. According to ASC 605-15-25-1, revenue 

from a sales transaction in w hich the buyer has the right 

of return is recognized at the time of sale only if  all of the 

follow ing are met: 

¶ The seller's price to the buyer is substantially f ixed or 

determinable at the date of sale 

¶ The buyer has paid the seller, or the buyer is 

obligated to pay the seller and the obligation is not 

contingent on resale of the product 

¶ The buyer's obligation to the seller w ould not be 

changed in the event of theft or physical destruction 

or damage of the product 

¶ The buyer acquiring the product for resale has 

economic substance apart from that provided by the 

seller 

¶ The seller does not have signif icant obligations for 

future performance to directly bring about resale of 

the product by the buyer 
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¶ The amount of future returns can be reasonably 

estimated 

Bill-and-hold transactions 

Revenue is recognized for a bill-and-hold sale w hen the 

buyer requests that delivery be delayed but takes title and 

accepts billing provided the follow ing are met (IAS 

18.IE.1): 

¶ It is probable that delivery w ill be made 

¶ The item is on hand, identif ied, and ready for delivery 

to the buyer at the time the sale is recognized 

¶ The buyer specif ically acknow ledges the deferred 

delivery instructions 

¶ The usual payment terms apply 

SEC SAB Topic 13 sets forth a signif icant number of 

restrictive conditions that are to be met in order to 

recognize revenue on a bill-and-hold sale. The criteria in 

SAB Topic 13 are more stringent than those in IAS 18. 

Consequently, situations in w hich revenue is recognized 

on bill and hold transactions are rare. 

Barter transactions 

An exchange of goods or services that qualif ies for 

revenue recognition is measured at the fair value of the 

goods or services received. If the fair value of the goods or 

services received cannot be measured reliably, revenue is 

measured at the fair value of the goods or services given 

up (IAS 18.12). 

An exchange of nonmonetary assets that qualif ies for 

revenue recognition is generally measured at fair value of 

the goods or services given up. How ever, the fair value of 

the goods or services received can be used if it is more 

clearly evident (ASC 845-10-30-1). 

SIC 31 provides guidance on the measurement of 

revenues from barter transactions involving advertising. 

Revenue cannot be measured reliably at the fair value of 

advertising services received in a barter transaction 

involving advertising. A seller can reliably measure the fair 

value of advertising services supplied in a barter 

transaction only by reference to non-barter transactions 

that (SIC 31.5): 

¶ Involve advertising similar to the advertising in the 

barter transaction 

¶ Occur frequently 

¶ Represent a predominant number of transactions and 

amount w hen compared to all transactions to provide 

advertising that is similar to the advertising in the 

barter transaction 

¶ Involve cash and/or another form of consideration 

(e.g. marketable securities, non-monetary assets, and 

other services) that has a reliably measurable fair 

value; and 

¶ Do not involve the same counterparty as in the barter 

transaction 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 605-20-25-14 through 

25-18). 

Customer loyalty programs 

Aw ard credits are accounted for as a separately 

identif iable component of a sales transaction. The fair 

value of the consideration received is allocated betw een 

There is no specif ic guidance that addresses customer 

loyalty programs. The facts and circumstances of the 
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the aw ard credits and the other components of the sale 

(IFRIC 13.5). The consideration allocated to the aw ard 

credits are measured by reference to their fair value 

(IFRIC 13.6). 

The consideration allocated to the aw ard credits is 

recognized as follow s: 

¶ If  the entity supplies the aw ard, revenue is recognized 

w hen the credits are redeemed and the entity fulf ills 

its obligations to supply aw ards (IFRIC 13.7) 

¶ If  a third party supplies the aw ard, the entity evaluates 

w hether it is collecting the aw ard credits as the 

principal or agent in the transaction (IFRIC 13.8): 

- If  the entity is acting as an agent in the 

transaction, revenue is measured at the net 

amount and recognized w hen the third party 

becomes obliged to supply the aw ards and 

entitled to receive consideration 

- If  the entity is acting as the principal in the 

transaction, revenue is measured gross and 

recognized w hen it fulf ills its obligations for the 

aw ards 

program are considered to determine the appropriate 

accounting (ASC 605-25-15-2A). 

Long-term contracts/construction contacts  

Relevant guidance: IAS 11; IFRIC 15 Relevant guidance: ASC 605-35 

Introduction  

IAS 11 applies to the accounting for construction contracts 

for a single asset (such as a building, bridge, ship, or 

tunnel) or combination of related assets (such as the 

construction of refineries and other complex pieces of 

plant or equipment) in the f inancial statements of 

contractors. Contracts are classif ied as f ixed-price 

contracts and cost-plus contracts (IAS 11.1-.6). 

A construction contract is defined as a contract specif ically 

negotiated for the construction of an asset or a 

combination of assets that are closely interrelated or 

interdependent in terms of their design, technology and 

function or their ultimate purpose or use. (IAS 11.3). 

According to IAS 11: 

¶ If  the outcome of a construction contract can be 

estimated reliably, contract revenue and costs are 

recognized by reference to the stage of completion 

(IAS 11.22). If  the outcome of a contract cannot be 

estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognized to 

the extent of recoverable contract costs and contract 

costs are recognized as an expense in the period 

incurred (IAS 11.32). 

As noted in Section 6.1, ñRevenue  generalò, revenue 

recognition guidance is included in ASC 605 and other 

topics in the Codif ication, as w ell as SEC guidance. 

Industry specif ic guidance, such as for real estate, is 

included in other ASC topics. 

ASC 605-35 applies to construction-type and production-

type contracts. The guidance in ASC 605-35 applies to 

performance contracts w here a customer provides 

specif ications for the construction of a facility, production 

of goods, or provision of certain related services  

(ASC 605-35-15-2 through 15-6). 

According to ASC 605-35: 

¶ Percentage-of-completion is the preferred method in 

situations in w hich reasonably dependable estimates 

can be made and the conditions in ASC 605-35-25-

57 exist (ASC 605-35-25-56 and 25-57). 

¶ If  a precise estimate is not practical and the contract 

is not expected to result in a loss, the percentage-of-

completion method based on a zero profit margin is 

recommended until results can be estimated more 

precisely (ASC 605-35-25-67 through 25-69). 
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¶ Unlike U.S. GAAP, the completed-contract method is 

not permitted. 

¶ Probable losses are recognized as an expense 

immediately (IAS 11.36). 

¶ If  reasonable estimates cannot be made, completed-

contract method is used (ASC 605-35-25-61). 

¶ If  a loss is anticipated on a contract, the entire loss is 

recognized as soon as it becomes evident  

(ASC 605-35-25-45 and 25-50). 

IFRIC 15 provides guidance to assess w hether an 

agreement for the construction of real estate is w ithin the 

scope of IAS 11 or 18 and w hen revenue from the 

construction of real estate is recognized. The 

determination is a matter of  judgment that depends on the 

terms of the agreement and the specif ic facts and 

circumstances of the arrangement (IFRIC 15.6). 

Entities do not apply the guidance in ASC 605-35 to 

service contracts that are not w ithin its scope (ASC 605-

35-15-6). 

IAS 11 applies to each construction contract separately. 

How ever, in some situations IAS 11 is applied to separate 

components of a single contract or to a group of contracts 

together (IAS 11.7). 

Contracts are combined w hen they are negotiated as a 

single package, they are closely interrelated and they are 

performed concurrently or in a continuous sequence  

(IAS 11.9). 

Contracts are segmented w hen separate proposals have 

been submitted for each asset, each asset has been 

subject to separate negotiation and the contractor and 

customer have been able to accept or reject that part of 

the contract relating to each asset, and costs and 

revenues of each asset can be identif ied (IAS 11.8). 

ASC 605-35 permits, but does not require, the combining 

and segmenting of contracts provided certain criteria are 

met (ASC 605-35-25-5 through 25-14). 

Recognition guidance 

When the outcome of a construction contract can be 

reliably estimated, contract revenue and contract costs are 

recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the 

contract at the end of the reporting period (IAS 11.22). IAS 

11.23 and .24 list the conditions that are to be met for the 

outcome of a f ixed price or cost plus contract, 

respectively, to be reliably estimated. An expected loss on 

a contract is recognized as an expense immediately (IAS 

11.22 and .36). 

If  the outcome of a contract cannot be estimated reliably, 

contract revenue and contract costs are recognized as 

follow s (IAS 11.32): 

¶ Revenue is recognized only to the extent of contract 

costs incurred that it is probable w ill be recoverable 

¶ Contract costs are recognized as an expense in the 

period incurred 

During the early stages of a contract it is possible that the 

outcome of the contract cannot be estimated reliably; 

how ever, it may be probable that the entity w ill recover 

contract costs. In this situation, contract revenue is 

The ability to produce reasonably reliable estimates is 

essential for the use of the percentage-of-completion 

method. In a situation in w hich a precise estimate is not 

practical and the contract is not expected to result in a 

loss, the percentage-of-completion method based on a 

zero profit margin is recommended until results can be 

estimated more precisely (ASC 605-35-25-56 and 

25-67 through 25-69). If  reasonable estimates cannot be 

made, the completed contract method is used  

(ASC 605-35-25-61 and 25-94). 
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recognized only to the extent of costs incurred that are 

expected to be recoverable (IAS 11.33). 

Contract revenue includes (IAS 11.11): 

¶ Initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract 

¶ Contract variations and claims to the extent that they 

are probable of resulting in revenue and capable of 

being reliably measured 

The amount of claims that can be included in contract 

revenues is subject to a high level of uncertainty. Claims 

are included in contract revenue only w hen both of the 

follow ing conditions are met (IAS 11.14): 

¶ Customer negotiations have reached an advanced 

stage such that it is probable that the customer w ill 

accept the claim 

¶ The probable amount acceptable to the customer can 

be measured reliably 

Similar to IFRS Standards, contract revenues include the 

basic contract amount and other contract variations and 

claims if certain criteria are met. For example: 

¶ Contract revenue and costs are adjusted to reflect 

change orders w hen their scope and price have been 

approved by the customer and contractor. ASC 605-

35-25-28 includes guidance for unpriced change 

orders (ASC 605-35-25-25 through 25-28). 

¶ Generally, recognition of additional contract revenue 

resulting from claims is appropriate only if  it is 

probable that the claim w ill result in additional 

revenue and the amount can be reliably estimated, 

w hich generally requires specif ic criteria to be met. 

Revenue is recognized only to the extent that 

contract costs relating to the claim have been 

incurred (ASC 605-35-25-30 through 25-31). 
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6.3  Employee benefits  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IAS 19; IFRS 13; IFRIC 14 Relevant guidance : ASC 420, 450, 710, 712, 715, and 

820 

Introduction 

IAS 19 applies to employee benefits provided through 

(IAS 19.4): 

¶ Formal plans or other formal agreements betw een an 

entity and individual employees, groups of 

employees, or their representatives 

¶ Legislative requirements or industry arrangements 

that require entities to contribute to national, state, 

industry, or other multiemployer plans 

¶ Informal practices that give rise to a constructive 

obligation 

Employee benefits include (IAS 19.5): 

¶ Short-term employee benefits, such as the follow ing, 

if  expected to be settled w holly before 12 months 

after the end of the annual reporting period in w hich 

the employees render the related services: 

- Wages, salaries, and social security contributions 

- Paid annual leave and paid sick leave 

- Profit-sharing and bonuses  

- Non-monetary benefits (such as medical care, 

housing, cars, and free or subsidized goods or 

services) for current employees 

¶ Post-employment benefits, such as: 

- Retirement benefits (e.g. pensions and lump sum 

payments on retirement) 

- Other post-employment benefits, such as post-

employment life insurance and post-employment 

medical care 

¶ Other long-term employee benefits, such as: 

- Long-term paid absences such as long-service 

leave or sabbatical leave 

- Jubilee or other long-service benefits 

- Long-term disability benefits 

¶ Termination benefits 

Note 1: Share-based payments are addressed in IFRS 2. 

See Section 6.4, ñShare-based payments.ò 

Note 2: In June 2015, the Board issued Exposure Draft, 

Remeasurement on a Plan Amendment, Curtailment or 

Unlike IFRS Standards, the accounting for employee 

benefits is covered in several Codif ication topics. Some 

of the more signif icant areas are listed below : 

¶ Compensation  General (ASC 710) 

- Compensated absences 

- Deferred compensation arrangements 

- Lump-sum payments under union contracts 

¶ Compensation  Retirement benefits (ASC 715) 

- Defined benefit plans ï general 

- Defined benefit plans ï pension 

- Defined benefit plans ï other postretirement 

- Defined contribution plans 

- Multiemployer plans 

¶ Compensation  Nonretirement postemployment 

benefits (ASC 712) 

- Termination benefits 

- Other postemployment benefits 

 

Note : Share-based payments are addressed in 

ASC 718. See Section 6.4, ñShare-based payments.ò 
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Settlement / Availability of a Refund from a Defined 

Benefit Plan (Proposed Amendments to IAS 19 and IFRIC 

14). The proposed amendments to IAS 19 w ere f inalized 

in February 2018. The proposed amendments to IFRIC 14 

address how  the pow ers of other parties, such as trustees 

of the plan, affect an entityôs right to a refund of a surplus 

from the plan, and remain an item on the Boardôs work 

plan. 

Short-term employee benefits 

When an employee has rendered service to an entity 

during an accounting period, the entity recognizes the 

undiscounted amount of short-term benefits expected to 

be paid in exchange for that service (IAS 19.11): 

¶ As a liability (accrued expense) after deducting any 

amount already paid 

¶ As an expense, unless another IFRS Standards 

requires or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the 

cost of an asset (see IAS 2.10-.22 and IAS 16.15-.28) 

With a few  exceptions, such as ASC 710 on deferred 

compensation contracts and compensated absences, 

and ASC 712 on postemployment preretirement benefits,  

U.S. GAAP does not specif ically address short-term 

benefits. How ever, similar to IFRS Standards the accrual 

basis of accounting is used to account for short-term 

benefits. 

Short-term paid absences 

Accumulating paid absences are those that are carried 

forw ard and can be used in future periods if the current 

periodôs entitlement is not used in full. An obligation arises 

as employees render service that increases their 

entitlement to future paid absences. The obligation exists, 

and is recognized, even if the paid absences are non-

vesting, although the possibility that employees may leave 

before they use an accumulated non-vesting entitlement 

affects the measurement of that obligation. (IAS 19.15). 

Non-accumulating paid absences are those that do not 

carry forw ard; they lapse. An entity recognizes no liability 

or expense until the time of the absence, because 

employee service does not increase the amount of the 

benefit (IAS 19.18). 

Compensated absences 

Employers accrue a liability for employeesô 

compensation for future absences if all of the follow ing 

conditions are met (ASC 710-10-25-1): 

¶ The employer's obligation relating to employees' 

rights to receive compensation for future absences 

is attributable to employees' services already 

rendered 

¶ The obligation relates to rights that vest or 

accumulate 

¶ Payment of the compensation is probable 

¶ The amount can be reasonably estimated 

An employer is not required to accrue a liability for 

nonvesting accumulating rights to receive sick pay 

benefits (ASC 710-10-25-6 and 25-7). 

Profit-sharing and bonus plans 

The expected cost of profit-sharing and bonus plans is 

recognized w hen (IAS 19.19): 

¶ There is a present legal or constructive obligation to 

make payments as a result of past events, and 

¶ A reliable estimate of the obligation can be made 

A present obligation exists w hen an entity has no realistic 

alternative but to make the payments. 

Bonus and profit-sharing ï ASC 710-10 

A bonus that is not formula-based is accrued if it is 

probable that it w ill be paid. A bonus based on attaining 

a specif ic goal over a period of time is accrued based on 

the results achieved to date. 

Post-employment benefits 

Postemployment benefits  

Postemployment benefits are employee benefits (other 

than termination benefits and short-term employee 

Postemployment preretirement benefits 

Employers accrue a liability for postemployment 

preretirement benefits if  all of the conditions in ASC 710-
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benefits) that are payable after the completion of 

employment (IAS 19.8). 

10-25-1 (listed above) are met (ASC 712-10-25-4). 

Postemployment preretirement benefits that do not meet 

the conditions in ASC 710-10-25-1 are accounted for 

under ASC 450 (ASC 712-10-25-5). Therefore, if  it is 

probable that a liability for the benefit has been incurred 

at the balance sheet date and the amount can be 

reasonably estimated, a liability is recognized (ASC 450-

20-25-2). 

Post-employment benefits ï defined contribution plans 

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit 

plans in which the entityôs legal or constructive obligation 

is limited to the amount that it agrees to contribute to the 

fund. Actuarial risk and investment risk fall, in substance, 

on the employee not the entity (IAS 19.8 and .28). 

A defined contribution plan is a plan that provides an 

individual account for each participant and provides 

benefits that are based on all of the follow ing:  

(a) amounts contributed to the participantôs account by 

the employer or employee, (b) investment experience, 

and (c) any forfeitures allocated to the account, less any 

administrative expenses charged to the plan. Actuarial 

risk and investment risk are borne by the employee, not 

the entity (ASC Master Glossary ñDefined Contribution 

Planò). 

Recognition and measurement 

An entity recognizes a contribution payable to a defined 

contribution plan w hen an employee has rendered service 

to the entity during a period in exchange for that service 

(IAS 19.51). 

When contributions are not expected to be settled w holly 

before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting 

period in w hich the employees render the related service, 

the amount of the contributions are discounted using the 

rate for high quality corporate bonds at the end of the 

reporting period. For currencies for w hich there is no deep 

market in such high quality corporate bonds, the market 

yields (at the end of the reporting period) on government 

bonds denominated in that currency is used. The currency 

and term of the corporate bonds or government bonds is 

consistent w ith the currency and estimated term of the 

post-employment benefit obligations (IAS 19.52 and .83). 

Recognition and measurement 

If  a plan's defined contributions to an individual's account 

are to be made for periods in w hich that individual 

renders services, the net pension cost for a period is the 

contribution required in that period. If contributions are 

required in periods after an individual retires or 

terminates, the estimated cost is accrued during the 

employee's service period (ASC 715-70-35-1). 

Post-employment benefits ï defined benefit plans 

Defined benefit plans are post-employment plans other 

than defined contribution plans (IAS 19.8). 

Under defined benefit plans the entityôs obligation is to 

provide the agreed benefits to current and former 

employees. Actuarial risk (that benefits w ill cost more than 

expected) and investment risk are, in substance, the 

responsibility of the entity (IAS 19.30). 

A defined benefit pension plan is a pension plan that 

defines an amount of pension benefit to be provided, 

usually as a function of one or more factors such as age, 

years of service, or compensation. Actuarial risk and 

investment risk are the responsibility of the entity (ASC 

Master Glossary, ñDefined Benefit Pension Planò).  

Recognition and measurement ï statement of financial 

position 

Recognition and measurement ï balance sheet 

An entity recognizes the funded status of a defined 

benefit plan in its balance sheet (ASC 715-30-25-1 and 

ASC 715-60-25-1). The funded status is the difference 
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An entity recognizes the net defined benefit liability (asset) 

in the statement of f inancial position (IAS 19.63). 

When an entity has a surplus in a def ined benefit plan, it 

measures the net defined benefit asset at the low er of 

(IAS 19.64): 

¶ The surplus in the defined benefit plan; and 

¶ The asset ceiling, determined using the discount rate 

specif ied in IAS 19.83 

A net defined benefit asset may arise w here a defined 

benefit plan has been overfunded or w here actuarial gains 

have arisen. An entity recognizes a net defined benefit 

asset in such cases because (IAS 19.65): 

¶ The entity controls a resource, w hich is the ability to 

use the surplus to generate future benefits 

¶ That control is a result of past events (contributions 

paid by the entity and service rendered by the 

employee) 

¶ Future economic benefits are available to the entity in 

the form of a reduction in future contributions or a 

cash refund, either directly to the entity or indirectly to 

another plan in deficit. The asset ceiling is the present 

value of those future benefits. 

betw een the fair value of plan assets and the benefit 

obligation. For a defined benefit pension plan the benefit 

obligation is the projected benefit obligation. For an other 

postretirement defined benefit plan, the benefit obligation 

is the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation. 

Unlike IFRS Standards, there is no limitation on the 

amount of the defined benefit asset that is recognized. 

Recognition and measurement ï components of defined 

benefit cost 

An entity recognizes the components of defined benefit 

cost, except to the extent another IFRS Standards 

requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an asset, 

as follow s (IAS 19.120): 

¶ Service cost in profit or loss (IAS 19.66-.112) 

¶ Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) 

in profit or loss (IAS 19.123-.126) 

¶ Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability 

(asset) in OCI (IAS 19.127-.130) 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) 

recognized in OCI are not reclassif ied to profit or loss in a 

subsequent period. How ever, the entity may transfer 

those amounts recognized in OCI w ithin equity 

(IAS 19.122). 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) is 

determined by multiplying the net defined benefit liability 

(asset) by the discount rate specif ied in IAS 19.83 (IAS 

19.123). To determine net interest, an entity uses the net 

defined benefit liability (asset) and the discount rate 

determined at the start of the annual reporting period (IAS 

19.123A). 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) can 

be view ed as comprising interest income on plan assets, 

Recognition and measurement ï income statement 

Net periodic pension cost includes (ASC 715-30-35-4): 

¶ Service cost 

¶ Interest cost 

¶ Actual return on plan assets, if  any (effectively it is 

the expected return, see gain or loss below ) 

¶ Amortization of any prior service cost or credit 

included in accumulated OCI 

¶ Gain or loss (including the effects of changes in 

assumptions) w hich includes the difference betw een 

the actual and expected return on plan assets) and 

the amortization of the net gain or loss included in 

accumulated OCI, to the extent recognized 

¶ Amortization of any net transition asset or obligation 

remaining in accumulated OCI 

¶ Any recognized settlement or curtailment gains or 

losses (ASC 715-30-35-21) 

The expected long-term rate of return is applied to either 

fair value or a calculated value that recognizes changes 

in fair value in a systematic and rational manner over not 

more than f ive years (ASC Master Glossary, ñMarket-

Related Value of Plan Assetsò). 

The actuarial present value of contributions expected to 

be received from employees (active or retired) for the 
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interest cost on the defined benefit obligation, and interest 

on the effect of the asset ceiling mentioned in IAS 19.64 

(IAS 19.124). 

Interest income on plan assets is a component of the 

return on plan assets, and is determined by multiplying the 

fair value of the plan assets by the discount rate specif ied 

in IAS 19.123A. An entity shall determine the fair value of 

the plan assets at the start of the annual reporting period, 

How ever, if  an entity remeasures the net defined benefit 

liability (asset) in accordance w ith IAS 19.99, How ever, if  

an entity remeasures the net defined benefit liability 

(asset) in accordance w ith paragraph 99, the entity 

determines interest income for the remainder of the 

annual reporting period after the plan amendment, 

curtailment or settlement using the plan assets used to 

remeasure the net defined benefit liability (asset) in 

accordance w ith paragraph 99(b). In applying paragraph 

125, the entity also takes into account any changes in the 

plan assets held during the period resulting from 

contributions or benefit payments. The difference betw een 

the interest income on plan assets and the return on plan 

assets is included in the remeasurement of the net 

defined benefit liability (asset) (IAS 19.125). 

cost of postretirement benefits, is deducted from the 

actuarial present value of the benefits expected to be 

provided under the plan (ASC 715-60-35-57). 

Actuarial valuation method 

An entity uses the projected unit credit method to 

determine the present value of its defined benefit 

obligations and the related current service cost and w here 

applicable, past service cost (IAS 19.67). 

IAS 19 encourages, but does not require, the involvement 

of a qualif ied actuary in the measurement of all material 

post-employment benefit obligations (IAS 19.59). 

Actuarial valuation method 

Unlike IFRS Standards, the actuarial method used 

depends on the type of plan, such as a f inal-pay plan or 

a f lat-benefit plan. Some methods that are used include 

the projected unit credit, unit credit w ith service prorate, 

and the unit credit methods (ASC 715-30-35-36 through 

35-39). The assumed discount rate reflects the rate at 

w hich pension benefits could be effectively settled.  

An employer may look to rates implicit in annuity 

contracts or rates of return on high-quality f ixed-income 

investments in estimating the assumed discount rates. In 

some situations, the assumed discount rates may need 

to incorporate reinvestment rates available in the future. 

Those rates are extrapolated from the existing yield 

curve at the measurement date. Consequently, the 

discount rate used may be low er than the rate used 

under IFRS Standards (ASC 715-30-35-43 through 35-

46). 
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Fair value of plan assets 

The fair value of any plan assets is deducted from the 

present value of the defined benefit obligation in 

determining the deficit or surplus (IAS 19.113). 

Plan assets exclude unpaid contributions due from the 

reporting entity to the fund, as w ell as any non-

transferable f inancial instruments issued by the entity and 

held by the fund. Plan assets are reduced by any liabilities 

of the fund that do not relate to employee benefits, for 

example, trade and other payables and liabilities resulting 

from derivative f inancial instruments (IAS 19.114). 

Where plan assets include qualifying insurance policies 

that exactly match the amount and timing of some or all of 

the benefits payable under the plan, the fair value of those 

insurance policies is deemed to be the present value of 

the related obligations (subject to any reduction required if 

the amounts receivable under the insurance policies are 

not recoverable in full) (IAS 19.115). 

Asset valuation 

Similar to IFRS Standards, plan assets are measured at 

fair value as of the measurement date. How ever, unlike 

IFRS Standards, the fair value of a plan asset is reduced 

by brokerage commissions and other costs normally 

incurred in a sale if  those costs are signif icant (similar to 

fair value less costs to sell) (ASC 715-30-35-50). 

Measurement dates 

An entity determines the net defined benefit liability 

(asset) w ith suff icient regularity such that amounts 

recognized in the f inancial statements do not differ 

materially from the amounts that w ould be determined at 

the end of the reporting period (IAS 19.58). 

Measurement dates 

Unlike IFRS Standards, the measurement of plan assets 

and benefit obligations are as of the date of the 

employerôs fiscal year-end balance sheet unless the plan 

is sponsored by a consolidated subsidiary or equity 

method investee w ith a different f iscal period. In those 

situations, the subsidiaryôs plan assets and benefit 

obligations are measured as of the date used to 

consolidate the subsidiaryôs balance sheet and the 

investeeôs plan assets and benefit obligations are 

measured as of the date used to apply the equity method 

(ASC 715-30-35-62 through 35-63). 

An entity w ith a f iscal year-end that does not coincide 

w ith a month-end may measure defined benefit plan 

assets and obligations using the month-end that is 

closest to an entityôs fiscal year-end as a practical 

expedient. This practical expedient must be applied 

consistently from year to year and to all defined benefit 

plans of the entity (ASC 715-35-63B).  

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability (asset) 

comprise (IAS 19.127): 

¶ Actuarial gains and losses (IAS 19.128-.129) 

¶ Return on plan assets (IAS 19.130), excluding 

amounts included in net interest on the net defined 

benefit liability (asset) (IAS 19.125); and 

¶ Any change in the effect of the asset ceiling, 

excluding amounts included in net interest on the net 

defined benefit liability (asset) (IAS 19.126). 

Actuarial gains and losses 

Amortization of a net gain or loss included in 

accumulated OCI (excluding asset gains and losses not 

yet reflected in market-related value) is included as a 

component of net pension cost for a year if , as of the 

beginning of the year, that net gain or loss exceeds 10 

percent of the greater of the projected benefit obligation 

(accumulated postretirement benefit obligation for an 

other postretirement defined benefit plan) or the market-

related value of plan assets. 
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Actuarial gains and losses result from increases or 

decreases in the present value of the defined benefit 

obligation because of changes in actuarial assumptions 

and experience adjustments (IAS 19.128): 

¶ Actuarial gains and losses do not include changes in 

the present value of the defined benefit obligation 

because of the introduction, amendment, curtailment, 

or settlement of the defined benefit plan, or changes 

to the benefits payable under the defined benefit plan. 

Such changes result in past service cost or gains or 

losses on settlement (IAS 19.129). 

¶ In determining the return on plan assets, an entity 

deducts the costs of managing the plan assets and 

any tax payable by the plan itself, other than tax 

included in the actuarial assumptions used to 

measure the defined benefit obligation (IAS 19.76). 

Other administration costs are not deducted from the 

return on plan assets (IAS 19.130). 

If  amortization is required, the minimum amortization is 

that excess divided by the average remaining service 

period of active employees expected to receive benefits 

under the plan. If all or almost all of a planôs participants 

are inactive, the average remaining life expectancy of 

the inactive participants is used instead of the average 

remaining service (ASC 715-30-35-24). 

Actuarial gains and losses not recognized in income are 

recognized in OCI w hen they occur (ASC 715-30-35-21). 

An entity may adopt a systematic method of recognizing 

actuarial gains and losses in the period incurred if all of 

the follow ing conditions are met: 

¶ The minimum is used in any period in w hich the 

minimum amortization is greater 

¶ The method is applied consistently  

¶ The method is applied similarly to gains and losses 

(ASC 715-30-35-25). 

Past service cost 

Past service cost is the change in the present value of the 

defined benefit obligation resulting from a plan 

amendment or curtailment (IAS 19.102). 

An entity recognizes past service cost as an expense at 

the earlier of the follow ing dates (IAS 19.103): 

¶ When the plan amendment or curtailment occurs 

¶ When the entity recognizes related restructuring costs 

(see IAS 37.70-.83) or termination benefits 

(IAS 19.165) 

A plan amendment occurs w hen an entity introduces, or 

w ithdraw s a defined benefit plan or changes the benefits 

payable under an existing defined benefit plan  

(IAS 19.104). 

Past service cost may be either positive (w hen benefits 

are introduced or changed so that the present value of the 

defined benefit obligation increases) or negative (w hen 

benefits are w ithdraw n or changed so that the present 

value of the defined benefit obligation decreases) 

(IAS 19.106). 

Prior service costs 

Unlike IFRS Standards, prior service costs are 

recognized in OCI in the period incurred and then are 

amortized as a net periodic pension cost over the future 

service period of active employees. How ever, if  all or 

almost all of the plan participants are inactive, prior 

service costs are amortized over the remaining life 

expectancy of those participants. A prior service credit is 

used f irst to reduce any remaining prior service cost 

included in accumulated OCI. Any remaining prior 

service credit is amortized as a component of net 

periodic pension cost (ASC 715-30-35-10 through 35-11 

and 35-17). 

Curtailments 

A curtailment occurs w hen an entity signif icantly reduces 

the number of employees covered by a plan. A curtailment 

may arise from an isolated event, such as the closing of a 

plant, discontinuance of an operation or termination or 

suspension of a plan (IAS 19.105). 

A curtailment is accounted for as a settlement (see 

section below ). 

Curtailments 

A curtailment is an event that signif icantly reduces the 

expected years of future service of present employees or 

eliminates for a signif icant number of employees the 

accrual of defined benefits for some or all of their future 

services (ASC Master Glossary, ñCurtailmentò). 

The prior service cost or credit included in accumulated 

OCI associated w ith years of service no longer expected 

to be rendered as the result of a curtailment is a loss or 

gain. In addition, the projected benefit obligation may be 
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decreased (again) or increased (a loss) by a curtailment. 

To the extent that a loss exceeds any net gain included 

in accumulated OCI (or the entire loss, if  a net loss 

exists), it is a curtailment loss.  

A curtailment loss is recognized w hen the curtailment is 

probable of occurring and the effects can be reasonably 

estimated. To the extent that a gain exceeds any net 

loss included in accumulated OCI (or the entire gain, if  a 

net gain exists), it is a curtailment gain. 

A curtailment gain is recognized w hen the related 

employees terminate or the plan suspension or 

amendment is adopted. Any transition asset remaining in 

accumulated OCI from initial application of ASC 715 is 

treated as a net gain and is combined w ith the net gain 

or loss arising thereafter (ASC 715-30-35-92 through 35-

94). 

Settlements 

An entity recognizes a gain or loss on the settlement of a 

defined benefit plan w hen the settlement occurs  

(IAS 19.110). 

A settlement occurs w hen an entity enters into a 

transaction that eliminates all further legal or constructive 

obligation for part or all of the benefits provided under a 

defined benefit plan (other than a payment of benefits to, 

or on behalf of, employees in accordance w ith the terms 

of the plan and included in the actuarial assumptions) (IAS 

19.111). 

The gain or loss on a settlement is the difference betw een 

(IAS 19.109): 

¶ The present value of the defined benefit obligation 

being settled, as determined on the date of 

settlement; and 

¶ The settlement price, including any plan assets 

transferred and payments made directly by the entity 

in connection w ith the settlement 

Settlements 

Settlement gains or losses are recognized w hen the 

settlement occurs. The amount of the settlement gain or 

loss is the net gain or loss remaining in accumulated OCI 

plus any transition asset remaining in accumulated OCI 

from initial application of ASC 715 (ASC 715-30-35-79). 

 

Presentation 

Classification of pension assets and liabilities 

IAS 19 does not specify w hether an entity distinguishes 

current and non-current portions of assets and liabilities 

arising from post-employment benefits. How ever, some 

entities make that distinction (IAS 19.133 and IAS 1.60). 

Classification of pension assets and liabilities 

If  a classif ied balance sheet is presented, an employer 

classif ies the liability for an underfunded plan as a 

current liability, a noncurrent liability, or a combination of 

both. The current portion (determined on a plan-by-plan 

basis) is the amount by w hich the actuarial present value 

of benefits included in the benefit obligation payable in 

the next 12 months exceeds the fair value of plan assets. 

The asset for an overfunded plan is classif ied as a 

noncurrent asset (ASC 715-20-45-3). 
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Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 

income 

IAS 19.120 requires an entity to recognize service cost 

and net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) 

in profit or loss. IAS 19 does not specify how  an entity 

presents service cost and net interest on the net defined 

benefit liability (asset). An entity presents those 

components in accordance w ith IAS 1.81A-.105 

(IAS 19.134). 

 

Income statement 

An employer shall report in the income statement 

Service cost is reported in the same line item as other 

compensation costs from the related employees on the 

statement of income, separate from other components of 

net benefit cost. Other components of net cost are 

presented outside of a subtotal of income from 

operations, if  presented. Other components are defined 

in ASC 715-30-35-4 and ASC 715-60-35-9 (ASC 715-20-

45-3A). 

Capitalization 

Service costs, net interest of the net defined benefit 

liability or asset, and remeasurements of the net defined 

benefit liability or asset are capitalized in the appropriate 

proportion w here required (IAS 19.121) 

Capitalization 

Unlike IFRS, only the service cost component of net 

benefit cost is eligible for capitalization (ASC 715-30-35-

7A). 

Post-employment benefits ï multi-employer and group plans 

Multi-employer plans 

An entity classif ies a multi-employer plan as a defined 

benefit plan or a defined contribution plan based on the 

terms of the plan (including any constructive obligation 

that goes beyond the formal terms) (IAS 19.32). 

For a multi-employer defined benefit plan, an entity 

accounts for its proportionate share of the defined benefit 

obligation, plan assets, and costs the same w ay as for any 

other defined benefit plan (IAS 19.33). 

If  information is not available to apply defined benefit 

accounting, an entity accounts for the plan as if it w ere a 

defined contribution plan (IAS 19.34). 

Multi-employer plans 

Multi-employer plans are accounted for in a manner 

similar to a defined contribution plan by the individual 

companies (ASC 715-80-35-1). Some plans in w hich tw o 

or more unrelated employers contribute are not multi-

employer plans. In substance, they are aggregations of 

single-employer plans that allow  participating employers 

to pool their assets for investment purposes and to 

reduce administrative costs (ASC 715-30-35-70). 

Defined benefit plans that share risks between entities 

under common control 

Defined benefit plans that share risks betw een entities 

under common control, for example, a parent and its 

subsidiaries, are not multi-employer plans (IAS 19.40). 

An entity participating in such a plan obtains information 

about the plan as a w hole measured in accordance w ith 

IAS 19 on the basis of assumptions that apply to the plan 

as a w hole. If there is a contractual agreement or stated 

policy for charging to individual group entities the net 

defined benefit cost for the plan as a w hole is measured in 

accordance w ith IAS 19, the entity, in its separate or 

individual f inancial statements, recognizes the net defined 

benefit cost so charged. If there is no such agreement or 

policy, the net defined benefit cost is recognized in the 

separate or individual f inancial statements of the group 

entity that is legally the sponsoring employer for the plan. 

The other group entities, in their separate or individual 

Group plans 

Unlike IFRS Standards, group plans are not specif ically 

addressed. Group plans are accounted for as multi-

employer or multiple employer plans depending on the 

individual facts and circumstances. In such 

circumstances related party disclosures are appropriate. 

See Section 10.7, ñRelated party disclosures.ò 
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f inancial statements, recognize a cost equal to their 

contribution payable for the period (IAS 19.41). 

Other long-term employee benefits 

Other long-term employee benefits are all employee 

benefits other than short-term employee benefits, post-

employment benefits, and termination benefits (IAS 19.8). 

IAS 19 applies a simplif ied method of accounting for other 

long-term employee benefits. Unlike the accounting for 

post-employment benefits, this method does not 

recognize remeasurements in OCI (IAS 19.154). 

In recognizing and measuring the surplus or deficit in an 

other long-term employee benefit plan, an entity applies 

IAS 19.56-.98 and .113-.115. An entity applies 

IAS 19.116-.119 in recognizing and measuring any 

reimbursement right (IAS 19.155). 

For other long-term employee benefits, an entity 

recognizes the net total of the follow ing amounts in profit 

or loss, except to the extent that another IFRS Standards 

requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of the asset 

(IAS 19.156): 

¶ Service cost (IAS 19.66-.112) 

¶ Net interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset) 

(IAS 19.123-.126) 

¶ Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability 

(asset) (IAS 19.127-.130) 

U.S. GAAP addresses some, but not all, other long-term 

benefits as defined in IAS 19. An employer recognizes a 

liability for future benefits in accordance w ith ASC 715-

60 if, in substance, the benefits constitute a 

postretirement plan. If the benefits are, in substance, 

individual deferred compensation contracts, ASC 715-10 

applies. In general, the accounting for other long-term 

benefits is similar to that described above for short-term 

benefits. 

Unlike IFRS Standards, U.S. GAAP does not include a 

comparable simplif ied version of the accounting for long-

term benefits. 

Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are employee benefits provided in 

exchange for the termination of an employeeôs 

employment as a result of either (IAS 19.8 and .159): 

¶ An entityôs decision to terminate an employeeôs 

employment before the normal retirement date; or 

¶ An employeeôs decision to accept an offer of benefits 

in exchange for the termination of employment 

An entity recognizes a liability and expense for termination 

benefits at the earlier of the follow ing dates (IAS 19.165): 

¶ When the entity can no longer w ithdraw  the offer of 

those benefits 

¶ When the entity recognizes costs for a restructuring 

that is w ithin the scope of IAS 37.70-.83 and involves 

the payment of termination benefits 

An entity measures termination benefits on initial 

recognition, and measures and recognizes subsequent 

changes, in accordance w ith the nature of the employee 

benefit, provided that if  the termination benefits are an 

enhancement to post-employment benefits, the entity 

There are different types of termination benefits. 

¶ Special termination benefits: A liability for these 

benefits is recognized w hen the employees accept 

the offer and the amount can be reasonably 

estimated (ASC 712-10-25-1). 

¶ Contractual termination benefits: A liability is 

recognized w hen it is probable that employees w ill 

be entitled to benefits and the amount can be 

reasonably estimated (ASC 712-10-25-2). 

¶ One-time termination benefits: A liability is 

recognized w hen the plan of termination is 

communicated to employees and certain criteria are 

met. How ever, if  employees are required to render 

services beyond a minimum retention period the 

liability is recognized ratably over the future service 

period (ASC 420-10-25-4 through 25-10). 

¶ Benefits, other than special or contractual 

termination benefits, that are provided to former or 

inactive employees that meet the conditions in ASC 

710-10-25-1 (see the section on short-term benefits 

above) are accounted for in accordance w ith ASC 
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applies the requirements for post-employment benefits. 

Otherw ise (IAS 19.169): 

¶ If  the termination benefits are expected to be settled 

w holly before 12 months after the end of the annual 

reporting period in w hich the termination benefit is 

recognized, the entity applies the requirements for 

short-term employee benefits. 

¶ If  the termination benefits are not expected to be 

settled w holly before 12 months after the end of the 

annual reporting period, the entity applies the 

requirements for other long-term employee benefits. 

710-10. Such benefits that do not meet those 

conditions are recognized w hen it is probable that a 

liability for the benefit has been incurred and the 

amount can be reasonably estimated (ASC 712-10-

25-5). 
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6.4  Share -based payments  

Improvements to nonemployee share-based payment accounting 

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-07, Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting, as 

a part of its simplif ication initiative w hich is intended to reduce cost and complexity and to improve f inancial repor ting 

for nonemployee share-based payments. The ASU expands the scope of ASC 718, Compensation ï Stock 

Compensation, w hich currently applies to share-based payments to employees, to include share-based payments for 

goods and services to nonemployees. The amendments in this ASU supersede the guidance in ASC 505-50, Equity: 

Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees. In its place, entities w ill apply the requirements in ASC 718 to 

nonemployee aw ards, except for specif ic guidance to be included w ithin ASC 718 on inputs to an option pricing 

model and attribution cost. 

The amendments are effective for public business entities for f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, 

including interim periods w ithin that f iscal year. For all other entities the amendments are effective for f iscal years 

beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods w ithin f iscal years beginning after December 2020. Early 

adoption is permitted, but no earlier than an entityôs adoption date of ASC 606. An entity w ould apply the 

amendments to beginning retained earnings in the year of adoption, w ith a cumulative-effect adjustment. Nonpublic 

entities that use calculated value for expected volatility w hen measuring share-based payment aw ards w ould apply 

the amendments prospectively to aw ards measured at fair value after the effective date. 

For additional information on ASC 718, please refer to Grant Thorntonôs accounting guide, Share-based payments: 

Navigating the guidance in ASC 718. 

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IFRS 2 Relevant guidance : ASC 718 (for employees) and 

ASC 505-50 (for nonemployees) 

Introduction 

IFRS 2 requires an entity to reflect in its profit or loss and 

f inancial position the effects of share-based payment 

transactions, including expenses associated w ith 

transactions in w hich share options are granted to 

employees (IFRS 2.1). 

The scope of IFRS 2 includes all share-based payment 

transactions including (IFRS 2 IN4 and 2.2): 

¶ Equity-settled share-based payment transactions ï 

the entity receives goods or services as consideration 

for its equity instruments 

¶ Cash-settled share-based payment transactions ï the 

entity acquires goods or services by incurring 

liabilities that are based on the price of the entityôs 

shares or other equity instruments 

¶ Equity-settled or cash-settled transactions ï the entity 

receives or acquires goods or services and the entity 

or the supplier has a choice of w hether the entity 

settles the transaction in cash or by issuing equity 

instruments 

ASC 718 and ASC 505-50 apply to share-based 

payment transactions in w hich an entity acquires goods 

or services by issuing equity instruments or by incurring 

liabilities that either are (a) settled in an amount based, 

at least in part, on the price of the entityôs shares or other 

equity instruments of the entity or (b) require or may 

require settlement by issuing the entityôs shares or other 

equity instruments (ASC 718-10-15-3 and 505-50-15-2). 

Equity or liability classif ication of a share-based aw ard 

(ASC 718-10-25-6 through 25-19) could differ from IFRS 

Standards w hich could result in signif icant differences in 

accounting for these aw ards under ASC 718 and IFRS 2. 

 

All employee share purchase plans are considered 

compensatory arrangements and are w ithin the scope of 

IFRS 2 except for transactions to w hich other Standards 

apply (IFRS 2 IN3 and IFRS 2.2-.6). 

Unlike IFRS Standards, an employee share purchase 

plan that satisf ies certain explicit criteria is not 

considered compensatory (ASC 718-50-25-1). 

https://www.grantthornton.com/library/whitepapers/audit/2019/navigating-ASC-718s-employee-stock-compensation-guidance?_cldee=Y2xhcmUuZGVhbmdlbGlzQHVzLmd0LmNvbQ%3d%3d&recipientid=contact-1509f8271136e311879578e7d1620f53-770bf58ffd1b4153949dea7c1fd0b85f&utm_source=ClickDimensions&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=New%20Development%20Summary%20FY19&esid=018c658b-e413-e911-a96e-000d3a1c5f15
https://www.grantthornton.com/library/whitepapers/audit/2019/navigating-ASC-718s-employee-stock-compensation-guidance?_cldee=Y2xhcmUuZGVhbmdlbGlzQHVzLmd0LmNvbQ%3d%3d&recipientid=contact-1509f8271136e311879578e7d1620f53-770bf58ffd1b4153949dea7c1fd0b85f&utm_source=ClickDimensions&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=New%20Development%20Summary%20FY19&esid=018c658b-e413-e911-a96e-000d3a1c5f15
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In IFRS 2, any reference to employees also includes 

others providing similar services (IFRS 2.11 footnote 3). 

Share based payment transactions may be settled by 

another group entity (or a shareholder of any group entity) 

on behalf of the entity receiving or acquiring the goods or 

services. The guidance in IFRS 2.2 also applies to an 

entity that 

¶ Receives goods or services w hen another entity in 

the same group (or shareholder of any group entity) 

has the obligation to settle the share based payment 

transaction, or 

¶ Has an obligation to settle a share based payment 

transaction w hen another entity in the same group 

receives the goods or services 

unless the transaction is clearly for a purpose other than 

payment for goods or services supplied to the entity 

receiving them (IFRS 2.3A). 

Share based payments aw arded to an employee on 

behalf of an entity, by a related party or other holder of 

an economic interest in the entity as compensation for 

services provided to the entity are share based payment 

transactions and thus accounted for as such unless the 

transfer is clearly for a purpose other than compensation 

for services to the entity. The economic interest holder 

makes a capital contribution to the entity, w ho makes a 

share based payment to its employee in exchange for 

services rendered (ASC 718-10-15-4). 

Recognition 

An entity recognizes the goods or services received or 

acquired w hen it obtains the goods or as the services are 

received. The entity recognizes a corresponding increase 

in equity for an equity-settled transaction, or an increase 

in a liability for a cash-settled transaction (IFRS 2.7). 

When the goods or services received or acquired in a 

share-based payment transaction do not qualify for 

recognition as assets, they are recognized as expenses 

(IFRS 2.8). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 718-10-25-2 through 

25-4). 

Equity-settled transactions 

For equity instruments granted that vest immediately, the 

expense is recognized on the grant date w ith a 

corresponding increase in equity (IFRS 2.14). 

If  the equity instruments granted do not vest until the 

counterparty completes a specif ied period of service, an 

expense is recognized during the vesting period w ith a 

corresponding increase in equity (IFRS 2.15). 

Vesting conditions, other than market conditions are not 

taken into account w hen estimating the fair value of the 

shares or share options at the measurement date. Vesting 

conditions, other than market conditions, are taken into 

account by adjusting the number of equity instruments 

included in the measurement of the transaction amount so 

that, ultimately, the amount recognized for goods or 

services received as consideration for the equity 

instruments granted are based on the number of equity 

instruments that eventually vest (IFRS 2.19). 

Equity-settled transactions 

The measured compensation cost for share-based 

aw ards to employees is recognized as those employee 

services are received. The corresponding credit is an 

increase in equity (ASC 718-10-35-2). Similar to IFRS 

Standards, vesting conditions, other than market 

conditions, affect the timing of expense recognition 

(service or performance-based) and the number of 

equity instruments included in the measurement of the 

transaction amount (forfeitures). Market conditions are 

taken into account w hen estimating the fair value of the 

equity instruments (ASC 718-10-25-20 and 25-21, ASC 

718-10-30-14 and 30-25 through 30-27; ASC 718-10-35-

2 through 35-7). 

An entity is permitted to make an accounting policy 

decision to use a straight-line or accelerated attribution 

method for aw ards that have graded service 

requirements regardless of the method used to value the 

aw ard (ASC 718-10-35-8). Unlike U.S. GAAP, IFRS 

Standards does not permit the use of a straight-line 

attribution method. 
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Market conditions are taken into account w hen estimating 

the fair value of the equity instruments granted 

(IFRS 2.21). 

Unlike U.S. GAAP, terms of an aw ard that affect vesting 

and could be achieved after an employee completes the 

requisite service period w ould not be a performance 

condition under IFRS 2. The period of achieving the 

performance target w ould not extend beyond the end of 

the service period (IFRS 2, Appendix A). As such those 

conditions w ould not meet the definition of a vesting 

condition in IFRS 2, Appendix A. Non-vesting conditions 

are taken into account w hen estimating the fair value of 

the equity instruments granted (IFRS 2.21A). 

 

The terms of some aw ards provide that a performance 

target that affects vesting could be achieved after an 

employee completes the requisite service period. Such a 

performance target is accounted for as a performance 

condition and thus is not reflected in estimating the fair 

value of the aw ard at grant date. Compensation cost is 

recognized in the period it becomes probable the 

performance target w ill be met and represents the 

compensation cost attributable to the periods for w hich 

the requisite service has already been rendered. If the 

performance target becomes probable of being achieved 

before the end of the requisite service period, the 

remaining unrecognized compensation cost for w hich 

requisite service has not been rendered is recognized 

prospectively over the remaining requisite service period 

(ASC 718-10-30-28).  

Under IFRS Standards, a performance target that could 

be achieved after the requisite service period w ould not 

meet the definition of a performance condition and thus 

are accounted for as nonvesting conditions that are 

reflected in the grant-date fair value of the aw ard. 

Cash-settled transactions 

The entity recognizes an expense for the services 

received and a liability to pay for those services, as the 

service is rendered (IFRS 2.32). 

Liability-classified transactions 

Similar to IFRS Standards. 

Equity-settled transactions with nonemployees 

The entity recognizes an expense w hen the entity obtains 

the goods or as the services are received (IFRS 2.13). 

Equity-settled transactions with nonemployees 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 505-50-25-6). 

Measurement 

Equity-settled transactions with employees 

Fair value ï the fair value of services received is 

measured by reference to the fair value of the equity 

instruments granted because typically it is not possible to 

estimate reliably the fair value of the services received. 

The fair value of those equity instruments is measured at 

grant date (IFRS 2.11). The fair value of equity 

instruments granted is based on market prices, if  

available, at the measurement date. If market prices are 

not available, a valuation technique is used to estimate 

fair value (IFRS 2.16-.17). Having recognized the goods 

or services received in accordance w ith IFRS 2.10-.22, 

and a corresponding increase in equity, the entity does 

not make any subsequent adjustment to total equity after 

vesting date (IFRS 2.23). 

Grant date ï the date at w hich an entity and another party 

(including an employee) agree to a share-based payment 

arrangement being w hen the entity and the counterparty 

Equity-settled transactions with employees 

Fair value ï similar to IFRS Standards, the fair value of 

services received from employees is determined based 

on an estimate of the fair value of the share-based 

instruments that w ill be issued rather than on a direct 

measure of the fair value of the employee services the 

entity w ill receive in exchange for the share-based 

instruments (ASC 718-10-30-2 through 30-4). 

An entity may make an entity-w ide accounting policy 

election to estimate the expected number of forfeitures of 

aw ards, or recognize forfeitures as they occur (ASC 718-

10-35-3). Unlike U.S. GAAP, IFRS Standards does not 

permit an accounting policy election for accounting for 

forfeiture of aw ards. Under IFRS Standards, an entity 

estimates the number of aw ards expected to vest and 

revises the estimate if subsequent information indicates 

actual forfeitures w ill likely differ from estimates. 

Unlike IFRS, a nonpublic entity may use a practical 

expedient to estimate the expected term for all aw ards 
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have a similar understanding of the terms and conditions 

of the arrangement (IFRS 2, Appendix A). 

Intrinsic value ï in rare cases in w hich the fair value of 

equity instruments cannot be reliably estimated at the 

measurement date, the intrinsic value is used w ith 

subsequent remeasurement, at the end of each reporting 

period, until f inal settlement (IFRS 2.24).  

w ith performance or service vesting conditions that meet 

certain criteria (ASC 718-10-30-20A). 

Grant date ï similar to IFRS Standards, the grant date is 

the date on w hich the fair value of the employee aw ards 

is measured. Unlike IFRS Standards, it is the date the 

employer and the employee have a shared 

understanding of the terms and conditions of the 

arrangement and the employee is affected by 

subsequent changes in the share price (ASC Master 

Glossary, ñGrant Dateò). 

Intrinsic value ï similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 718-10-

30-4, 30-21 and 30-22). 

Calculated value ï unlike IFRS Standards, nonpublic 

companies may measure aw ards based on a calculated 

value (using historical volatility of an industry index) if  the 

company is unable to reasonably estimate its expected 

volatility (ASC 718-10-30-4 and 30-20). 

Cash-settled transactions with employees 

The goods or services acquired and the liability incurred 

are measured at the fair value of the liability. Until the 

liability is settled, the fair value of the liability is 

remeasured at the end of each reporting period and at the 

date of settlement, w ith any changes in fair value 

recognized in profit or loss for the period (IFRS 2.30-.33). 

Vesting conditions other than market conditions are not 

taken into account w hen estimating the value of the cash-

settled share-based payment at the measurement date 

(IFRS 2.33A). 

 

 

 

 

If  a share based payment arrangement has a net-

settlement feature for w ithholding tax obligations, the 

transaction may be classif ied as an equity-settled if it 

w ould have been classif ied as such w ithout the net 

settlement feature (IFRS 2.33F). Any excess shares 

w ithheld under a net settlement feature that exceeds the 

monetary value of the employeeôs tax obligation would be 

accounted for as a cash-settled share-based payment 

w hen the amount is paid in cash (or other assets) to the 

employee (IFRS 2.33H(b)). 

Liability-classified transactions with employees 

Share-based payment aw ards classif ied as liabilities are 

accounted for under ASC 718ôs measurement and 

recognition provisions for liabilities, w hich require 

variable accounting until the aw ard is settled or expires 

unexercised (ASC 718-30-35-1). ASC 718-10-25-6 

through 25-19 provides guidance on w hether share-

based payment aw ards are classif ied as liabilities. 

Unlike IFRS Standards, U.S. nonpublic entities are 

permitted to make an accounting policy election to use 

intrinsic value for liability classif ied aw ards (ASC 718-30-

30-2, 30-2A). 

Unlike IFRS, a nonpublic entity may use a practical 

expedient to estimate the expected term for all aw ards 

w ith performance or service vesting conditions that meet 

certain criteria (ASC 718-10-30-20A). 

A provision in a share-based payment arrangement w ith 

a direct or indirect (through a net-settlement feature) 

repurchase of shares issued upon exercise of option (or 

the vesting of nonvested shares) w ith any payment due 

employees w ithheld to meet the employerôs minimum 

statutory w ithholding requirements resulting from the 

exercise, does not, by itself, result in liability 

classif ication of instruments that otherw ise w ould be 

classif ied as equity. Similar to IFRS, if  an amount in 

excess of the maximum statutory tax rates in the 

employeeôs jurisdiction is w ithheld, or may be w ithheld at 

the employeeôs discretion, the entire aw ard is classif ied 

and accounted for as a liability. To qualify for equity 

classif ication, the employer must have a statutory 

obligation to withhold taxes on an employeeôs behalf, 

and the amount w ithheld cannot exceed maximum 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

statutory tax rates of the employeeôs jurisdiction (ASC 

718-10-25-18). 

Equity-settled transactions with nonemployees 

Fair value ï goods or services received are measured at 

the fair value of the goods or services received. There is a 

rebuttable presumption that the fair value of the goods or 

services received can be estimated reliably. If  fair value of 

the goods or services received cannot be estimated 

reliably, then the fair value is measured by reference to 

the fair value of the equity instruments granted 

(IFRS 2.13). 

Measurement date ï the date the entity obtains the goods 

or the counterparty renders the services  

(IFRS 2, Appendix A). 

Equity-settled transactions with nonemployees 

Fair value ï unlike IFRS Standards, the transaction is 

measured based on the fair value of the goods or 

services received or the fair value of the equity 

instruments issued, w hichever is more reliably 

measurable (ASC 505-50-30-6). Under IFRS Standards, 

there is a presumption that goods or services received 

can be reliably measured. 

Measurement date ï unlike IFRS Standards, the 

measurement date for aw ards to nonemployees is 

generally the earlier of the date at w hich the 

counterpartyôs performance is complete or the date at 

w hich a commitment for performance by the 

counterparty to earn the equity instruments is reached 

(ASC 505-50-30-11 through 30-14). 

Modifications 

If  an equity instrument is modif ied, an entity recognizes 

the services received measured at the grant date fair 

value of the equity instruments granted, unless those 

equity instruments do not vest because of failure to satisfy 

a vesting condition (other than a market condition) that 

w as specif ied at grant date. In addition, the entity 

recognizes the effects of modif ications that increase the 

total value of the share-based payment arrangement or 

are otherw ise beneficial to the employee (IFRS 2.27). 

If  a grant of equity instruments is cancelled or settled 

during the vesting period (other than a grant cancelled by 

forfeiture w hen the vesting conditions are satisf ied)  

(IFRS 2.26-28): 

¶ Account for the cancellation or settlement as an 

acceleration of vesting, and recognize immediately 

the amount that otherw ise w ould have been 

recognized for services received over the remainder 

of the vesting period. Recognize any payment made 

to the employee on the cancellation or settlement of 

the grant as the repurchase of an equity interest 

except to the extent that the payment exceeds the fair 

value of the equity instruments granted, measured at 

the repurchase date. An amount in excess of fair 

value is expensed. 

¶ If  the share-based payment arrangement included 

liability components: 

- Remeasure the fair value of the liability at the 

date of cancellation or settlement 

- Treat any payment made to settle the liability 

component as an extinguishment of the liability 

An entity accounts for the effects of a modif ication as 

described below , unless all of the follow ing are true 

about the aw ard immediately before and after the 

modif ication date (ASC 718-20-35-2A) 

¶ The fair value (or calculated or intrinsic value under 

the alternative measurement method) is the same 

¶ The vesting conditions are the same 

¶ The classif ication as equity or liability is the same 

If these conditions are not met, similar to IFRS 

Standards, an entity determines the fair value of the 

modif ied aw ard on the modif ication date and compares 

that to the fair value of the original aw ard determined 

immediately before the modif ication occurs. If the fair 

value of the modif ied aw ard exceeds the fair value of the 

original aw ard immediately before its terms are modif ied, 

the excess is additional compensation cost. Total 

compensation cost is generally the sum of the grant-date 

fair value of  the aw ard plus the additional compensation 

cost resulting from the modif ication. The cost is 

recognized prospectively over the remaining requisite 

service period or, if  the modif ied aw ard is fully vested, 

the incremental compensation cost is recognized on the 

modif ication date (ASC 718-20-35-3). 

U.S. GAAP differs from IFRS Standards in a situation in 

w hich a modif ication causes an aw ard that w as 

considered improbable of vesting to become probable of 

vesting. Under U.S. GAAP, compensation cost w ould be 

based on the updated fair value measurement at the 

modif ication date. Under IFRS Standards, the original 

fair value of the aw ard w ould be used for measurement 
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¶ If  new  equity instruments are granted to the employee 

and the entity identif ies the new  equity instruments 

granted as replacement equity instruments, the entity 

accounts for the granting of replacement equity 

instruments in the same w ay as a modif ication of the 

original grant of equity instruments 

If the terms of a cash-settled share-based payment aw ard 

are modif ied, resulting in it becoming an equity-settled 

share-based payment aw ard, the transaction is accounted 

for as such from the date of the modif ication (IAS 2.B44A). 

purposes. The only change w ould be in the number of 

options expected to vest (ASC 718-20-55-116 through 

55-117 and 55-120 through 55-121). 

If  an aw ard is cancelled for no consideration and it is not 

accompanied by a concurrent grant of (or offer to grant) 

a replacement aw ard, it is accounted for as a repurchase 

for no consideration. Any unrecognized compensation 

cost is recognized on the cancellation date. Cancellation 

of an aw ard, accompanied by a concurrent grant of (or 

offer to grant) a replacement aw ard, is accounted for as 

a modif ication of the cancelled aw ard (ASC 718-20-35-8 

through 35-9). 

Settlement accounting applies w hen an entity 

repurchases a share-based aw ard. In general, if  an 

entity settles an aw ard by repurchasing it for cash or 

other consideration or by incurring a liability, any excess 

of the repurchase price over the fair value of the 

repurchased instrument is recognized as additional 

compensation cost (ASC 718-20-35-7). 

Non-vesting conditions 

Non-vesting conditions are all conditions other than 

service and performance. All non-vesting conditions are 

taken into account w hen estimating the fair value of equity 

instruments granted. An entity recognizes the goods or 

services received from a counterparty that satisf ies all 

vesting conditions that are not market conditions (e.g. 

services received from an employee w ho remains in 

service for the specif ied period of service), irrespective of 

w hether those non-vesting conditions are satisf ied. If the 

non-vesting condition is not met and neither the 

counterparty nor the entity can choose w hether the 

condition is met, the entity continues to recognize 

expense over the remainder of the vesting period 

(IFRS 2.21A and IFRS 2, IG24). 

If  either the entity or counterparty can choose w hether to 

meet a non-vesting condition, failure to meet that non-

vesting condition during the vesting period is to be treated 

as a cancellation (IFRS 2.28A and IFRS 2, IG15A). The 

cancellation is accounted for as an acceleration of vesting. 

The amount that w ould otherw ise have been recognized 

for services received over the remainder of the vesting 

period is expensed  

(IFRS 2, IG24). 

An aw ard that includes a non-vesting condition is 

classif ied as a liability aw ard. The impact of a non-

vesting condition is taken into account w hen estimating 

the fair value of equity instruments granted (ASC 718-

10-25-13). 
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7. Financial instruments 

Introduction  

ASU 2016-01 

In January 2016, the FASB issued, ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments ï Overall (Subtopic 825-10), Recognition 

and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities, w hich changes certain aspects of recognition, 

measurement, presentation, and disclosure of f inancial instruments. The main changes: 

¶ Require equity investments, other than those accounted for under the equity method of accounting or w here the 

investee is consolidated, to be measured at fair value w ith changes in fair value recognized in net income  

¶ Require a qualitative impairment assessment for equity investments w ithout readily determinable fair values  

¶ Eliminate the requirement to disclose the fair value of f inancial instruments measured at amortized cost for 

entities that are not public business entities and the requirement for public business entities to disclose the 

method(s) and signif icant assumptions used to estimate the fair value disclosed for f inancial instruments 

measured at amortized cost 

¶ Require public business entities to use the exit price notion (ASC 820) w hen measuring the fair value of f inancial 

instruments for disclosure 

¶ Require an entity to present separately in other comprehensive income the portion of the total change in the fair 

value of a liability from a change in the instrument-specif ic credit risk w hen the entity has elected to measure the 

liability at fair value under the fair value option 

¶ Require separate presentation of f inancial assets and f inancial liabilities by measurement category and form of 

f inancial asset, on the balance sheet or in the notes 

¶ Clarify that an entity evaluates the need for a valuation allow ance on a deferred tax asset related to available-for-

sale securities in combination with the entityôs other deferred tax assets 

The amendments are effective for public business entities for f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, 

including interim periods w ithin those f iscal years. For all other entities, including not-for-profit entities and certain 

employee benefit plans the amendments are effective for f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 and interim 

periods w ithin f iscal years after December 15, 2019. Entities, except public business entities, may apply the 

amendments earlier as of f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods. Public business 

entities are permitted to early adopt certain of the amendments. The amendments are applied as a cumulative-effect 

adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning of the f iscal year of adoption except the amendments related to 

equity securities w ithout readily determinable fair values, w hich are applied prospectively. 

The follow ing amendments are converged w ith IFRS Standards: 

¶ Requiring an entity to present separately in other comprehensive income the portion of the total change in the 

fair value of a liability from a change in the instrument-specif ic credit risk w hen the entity has elected to measure 

the liability at fair value under the fair value option 

¶ Requiring most equity investments to be measured at fair value w ith changes in fair value recognized in net 

income is generally consistent w ith guidance in IFRS 9. An entity is allow ed, in IFRS 9 to make an irrevocable 

election at initial recognition to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income for 

certain investments in equity instruments that w ould normally be measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

¶ The requirement to evaluate the need for a valuation allow ance on a deferred tax asset related to available-for-

sale securities in combination with an entityôs other deferred tax assets is similar to recent amendments by the 

Board to IAS 12. 

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-03 Technical Corrections and Improvements to Financial Instruments 

ï Overall (Subtopic 825-10): Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities , which 

provides technical corrections and improvements related to ASU 2016-01. Clarif ication is provided on six limited 

scope issues, including measurement for equity securities w ithout a readily determinable fair value, forw ard contracts 

and purchase options, and presentation and foreign currency considerations for fair value option liabilities. The 
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amendments in ASU 2018-03 are effective for public business entities for f iscal years beginning after December 15, 

2017, and interim periods w ithin those f iscal years beginning after June 15, 2018. Public business entities w ith f iscal 

years beginning betw een December 15, 2017, and June 15, 2018, are not required to adopt the amendments until 

the interim period beginning after June 15, 2018, and public business entities w ith f iscal years beginning betw een 

June 15, 2018, and December 15, 2018, are not required to adopt the amendments before adopting the amendments 

in ASU 2016-01. For all other entities, the effective date is the same as the effective date in ASU 2016-01. All entities 

may early adopt the amendments for f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods w ithin 

those f iscal years, as long as they have adopted ASU 2016-01. 

IFRS 9 

In July 2014, the Board completed the f inal phase of its project on f inancial instruments by issuing a comprehensive 

IFRS 9 that includes all phases of the project. IFRS 9 sets out the requirements for recognizing and measuring 

f inancial instruments and replaces IAS 39. The f irst phase of the project addressed the classif ication and 

measurement of f inancial instruments and resulted in the issuance of IFRS 9 on f inancial assets (2009) and later 

guidance on f inancial liabilities IFRS 9 (2010). Financial assets are to be classif ied based on the business model 

w ithin w hich they are held and their contractual cash f low  characteristics. The guidance also includes requirements 

for the classif ication and measurement of f inancial liabilities, most of w hich is unchanged from IAS 39. Changes w ere 

made to the guidance related to the fair value option for f inancial liabilities to address ow n credit risk. Certain debt 

instruments may also be accounted for as fair value through other comprehensive income. In November 2013, the 

Board issued amendments to IFRS 9 to add guidance for hedge accounting. Those new  requirements align hedge 

accounting more closely w ith risk management. Entities have a choice to continue to apply the hedge accounting 

requirements in IAS 39 or to apply the new  requirements in IFRS 9, until such time as the Board completes it project 

on accounting for macro hedge accounting. The f inal phase of the project addresses the accounting for impairment of 

f inancial instruments through the introduction of an expected credit loss impairment model. Expected credit losses w ill 

be accounted for w hen financial instruments are f irst recognized. 

The changes from IFRS 9 and ASU 2016-13 have been added throughout this document and are to be applied w hen 

an entity applies IFRS 9 or ASU 2016-13. IFRS 9 also impacts numerous other IFRS Standards. Those changes are 

also noted herein. 

IFRS 9 became effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018. All amendments w ere applied 

retrospectively including the impairment requirements, w ith certain exceptions. 

When an entity f irst applied IFRS 9, it elected to either continue to apply the hedge accounting requirements in 

IAS 39 or apply the new  hedge accounting requirements in IFRS 9. The hedge accounting requirements w ere applied 

prospectively, w ith certain exceptions. 

In April 2017 the Board added an item to its technical agenda titled Fees in the ô10 per centô test for Derecognition 

(Amendments to IFRS 9). The Board tentatively decided to propose an amendment to IFRS 9 as a part of its next 

Annual Improvements Cycle that w ould clarify that an entity includes only fees paid or received betw een the entity 

and the lender when calculating the ô10 per centô test for assessing whether to derecognize a financial liability. 

ASU 2016-13 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments ī Credit Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses 

on Financial Instruments. Although the FASBôs model is also based on an expected credit loss model, the application 

of the model is different than under IFRS Standards. Financial assets measured at amortized cost are presented at 

the net amount expected to be collected through the use of a valuation allow ance. The measurement of expected 

credit losses is based on information about historical information, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable 

forecasts that affect the collectibility of the reported amount. For purchased financial assets w ith a more-than-

insignif icant amount of credit deterioration since origination, and measured at amortized cost, the determination of the 

allow ance for credit losses is similar except that the initial allow ance for credit losses is added to the purchase price. 

Only subsequent changes in the allow ance represent a credit loss expense. Credit losses related to available-for-sale 

securities w ill now  be recorded as an allow ance w hich is limited to the amount by w hich fair value is below  amortized 

cost. 

The guidance in ASU 2016-13 is effective for ñpublic business entities,ò as defined, that are SEC filers for fiscal years 

and for interim periods w ithin those f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. For all other public business 

entities, the guidance is effective for f iscal years and for interim periods w ithin those f iscal years beginning after 
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December 15, 2020. All other entities, including not-for-profit entities and employee benefit plans w ithin the scope of 

ASC 960 through 965 on plan accounting, w ill be required to adopt the guidance in ASU 2016-13 for f iscal years 

beginning after December 15, 2020 (w hich w as changed to December 15, 2021 by ASU 2018-19, see discussion 

below ) and for interim periods w ithin f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. Early adoption of the guidance 

is permitted for f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods w ithin those f iscal years.  

In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-19, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments ï 

Credit Losses, w hich amends tw o areas of the guidance in ASC 326. The amendments require entities that are not 

public business entities to adopt ASU 2016-13 in f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2021 and in interim 

periods w ithin those f iscal years. As originally issued, ASU 2016-13 required entities that are not public business 

entities to adopt this new  guidance in f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 and in interim periods w ithin 

f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. ASU 2018-19 does not impact the effective date requirements for 

public business entities. The amendments also exclude operating lease receivables from the scope of ASC 326-20. 

Instead, entities should account for the impairment of receivables resulting from operating leases under the guidance 

in ASC 842, Leases. Net investments in leases resulting from sales-type and direct f inancing leases remain w ithin the 

scope of ASC 326-20. The effective date and transition requirements for the ASU are the same as those for ASU 

2016-13. 

Also in November 2018, The Board issued the proposed ASU, Codification Improvements ï Financial Instruments, 

w hich includes proposed amendments to the guidance in  

¶ ASU 2016-01 

¶ ASU 2016-13 

¶ ASU 2017-12The Codif ication improvements included in the proposed ASU are grouped as follow s:  

¶ Topic 1 ï Improvements resulting from the June 11, 2018 Credit Losses Transition Resource Group (TRG) 

meeting 

¶ Topic 2 ï Improvements to ASU 2016-13 

¶ Topic 3 ï Improvements to ASU 2017-12 and other hedging items 

¶ Topic 4 ï Improvements to ASU 2016-01 

¶ Topic 5 ï Improvements resulting from the November 1, 2018 Credit Losses TRG meeting 

There are various proposed adoption dates for entities that have and have not adopted the amendment in ASU 2016-

01, 2016-13, and 2017-12.  

Symmetric prepayment options 

The Board has undertaken a project to examine w hether amortized cost measurement w ould provide relevant and 

useful information for instruments that contain symmetric prepayment options and otherw ise have contractual cash 

f low s that are solely payments of principal and interest. 

In October 2017, the Board issued Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation (Amendments to IFRS 9), 

w hich enables companies to measure certain prepayable f inancial assets at amortized cost. The amendments 

respond to comments received by the IFRS Interpretations Committee and are intended to improve the usefulness of 

information about these f inancial assets that IFRS 9 requires.  

Hedge accounting 

The Board has undertaken a research project addressing the accounting for macro hedging. In April 2014, the Board 

issued a Discussion Paper, Accounting for Dynamic Risk Management: A Portfolio Revaluation Approach to Macro 

Hedging, w hich proposed using a portfolio revaluation approach to account for entity risk management practices used 

for open portfolios. After receiving feedback from the discussion paper, the project remains on the Boardôs agenda, 

and a subsequent discussion paper is planned for 2019.   

In August 2017 the FASB issued ASU 2017-12 Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to 

Accounting for Hedging Activities. The objective of the ASU is to better portray the economic results of an 

organizationôs hedging activities in the financial statements. In addition, the ASU simplif ies the application of hedge 

accounting guidance in areas w here practice issues exist. The amendments are effective for public business entities 

for f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2018 and for all other entities for f iscal years beginning after December 
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15, 2019 and interim periods w ithin the follow ing year. Early adoption is permitted. Differences betw een U.S. GAAP 

and IFRS for hedge accounting remain. 

Financial instruments w ith characteristics of equity 

The Board has undertaken a research project to examine w hether improvements should be made to the existing 

requirements in IAS 32, Financial Instruments: Presentation for classifying f inancial instruments that have 

characteristics of both a liability and equity. The Board expects to publish a discussion paper as a next step.  

 

7.1  Recognition and measurement of financial assets  

Note: This section reflects the guidance in IFRS 9 regarding the recognition and measurement of f inancial 

instruments and hedge accounting. This section includes a comparison of IFRS 9 to U.S GAAP for impairment both 

prior to and after the adoption of ASU 2016-13. 

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IFRS 9; IAS 32 and 39 Relevant guidance : ASC 210, 310, 320, 321, 326, 450, 

505, 718, 815, 825, 835, and 860 

Introduction 

IFRS 9 addresses the classif ication and measurement of 

f inancial instruments, including f inancial assets. Financial 

assets include (IAS 32.11): 

¶ Cash 

¶ Contractual rights to receive cash or another f inancial 

asset (i.e. receivables and loans made to others) 

¶ Contractual rights to exchange financial instruments 

w ith another entity on potentially favorable terms 

¶ Equity instruments of another entity 

¶ A contract that may or will be settled in entityôs own 

equity instruments and is: 

- A non-derivative to receive a variable number of 

the entity's ow n equity instruments 

- A derivative that w ill or may be settlement other 

than by an exchange of a f ixed amount of cash 

or another f inancial asset for a f ixed number of 

the entityôs own equity instruments 

A financial asset is defined as cash, evidence of an 

ow nership interest in an entity, or a contract that conveys 

to one entity a right to do either of the follow ing (ASC 

Master Glossary, ñFinancial Assetò): 

¶ Receive cash or another f inancial instrument from a 

second entity 

¶ Exchange other f inancial instruments on potentially 

favorable terms w ith the second entity 

A f inancial asset exists if  and w hen tw o or more parties 

agree to payments terms and those payment terms are 

reduced to a contract. To be a f inancial asset, an asset 

must arise from a contractual agreement betw een tw o or 

more parties, not by an imposition of an obligation by 

one party on another. 

Scope 

Applied by all entities to all types of f inancial instruments 

except (IFRS 9.2.1): 

¶ Interests in subsidiaries, associates and joint 

ventures accounted for under IFRS 10, IAS 27, or 

IAS 28, unless permitted by those Standards 

¶ Rights and obligations of leases under IAS 17 (or 

IFRS 16), w ith certain exceptions 

¶ Employersô rights and obligations of employee benefit 

plans under IAS 19 

Guidance in ASC 310 applies to all entities and a variety 

of instruments and transactions but does not apply to 

mortgage banking activities or contracts accounted for 

as derivatives under ASC 815 (ASC 310-10-15-1 

through 15-3). 

¶ Guidance in ASC 320 applies to all entities except 

brokers and dealers in securities, defined benefit 

pension and other postretirement plans and 

investment companies. The guidance on identifying 

and accounting for the impairment of certain 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

¶ Financial instruments issued by an entity that are an 

equity instrument under IAS 32 or are required to be 

classif ied as such 

¶ Rights and obligations under insurance contracts 

accounted for under IFRS 4, w ith certain exceptions 

¶ Any forw ard contract betw een an acquirer and a 

selling shareholder to buy or sell an acquiree that is a 

business combination under IFRS 3 

¶ Certain loan commitments 

¶ Financial instruments, contracts, and obligations 

under share-based payment transactions under IFRS 

2, w ith certain exceptions 

¶ Rights to payments to reimburse an entity for an 

expenditure that is required to settle a liability that is 

recognized as a provision under IAS 37 

¶ Rights and obligations w ithin IFRS 15 that are 

f inancial instruments, w ith certain exceptions 

securities applies to not-for-profit entities (ASC 320-

10-15-2 through 15-4).  

Note : The guidance in ASC 320 does not apply to not-

for-profit entities upon the effective date of ASU 2016-13, 

Financial Instruments-Credit Losses: Measurement of 

Credit Losses on Financial Instruments . 

 

ASC 815 generally applies to all entities. Certain 

instruments are excluded from the scope (ASC 815-10-

15). 

ASC 825 applies all entities (ASC 825-10-15-2). Certain 

instruments are not eligible for the fair value option (ASC 

825-10-15-5). 

ASC 860 applies to all entities (ASC 860-10-15-2). 

Certain transactions and activities are exempt from the 

requirements in ASC 860 on accounting for transfers and 

servicing of f inancial assets (ASC 860-10-15-4). 

Initial recognition and classification 

Recognize f inancial asset w hen and only w hen the entity 

becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. Classify and measure a f inancial asset as 

noted below  (IFRS 9.3.1.1). 

On subsequent measurement, most f inancial assets w ill 

be categorized at amortized cost, fair value through other 

comprehensive income, or fair value through profit or loss 

on the basis of both the (IFRS 9.4.1.1): 

¶ Entityôs business model for managing financial 

assets, and 

¶ Contractual cash f low  characteristics of the f inancial 

asset 

No explicit categorization scheme for f inancial assets. 

They could be categorized as follow s: 

¶ Derivative f inancial instruments (see Section 7.3, 

ñRecognition and measurement of derivativesò) 

¶ Hybrid f inancial instruments that w ould be required 

to be separated into a host and derivative 

component under ASC 815-15-25-1 w hich the entity 

has irrevocably elected to measure at fair value  

(ASC 815-15-25-4) 

¶ Eligible f inancial assets that the entity elects to 

measure at fair value ï fair value option  

(ASC 825-10-15-4) 

¶ Loans and receivables  

¶ Debt w ithin the scope of ASC 320: 

- Trading  

- Held-to-maturity ï defined narrow ly w ith strict 

conditions and covers only those debt securities 

that the enterprise has the positive intent and 

ability to hold to maturity 

- Available-for-sale ï debt securities not 

classif ied as trading or held-to-maturity 

securities (ASC 320-10-25-1) 

¶ Equity securities w ithin the scope of ASC 321: 

- If  it no longer qualif ies to be accounted for 

under the equity method, the securityôs initial 

basis w ill be the previous carrying amount of 

the investment (ASC 321-10-30-1) 



Comparison between U.S. GAAP and IFRS
 
Standards                                                                 129 

Financial instruments ï Recognition and measurement of financial assets 

 

 

 

© 2019 Grant Thornton LLP 
All rights reserved 
U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 
 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include 

those w here the (IFRS 9.4.1.2): 

¶ Objective of entityôs business model is to hold assets 

to collect contractual cash f low s, and 

¶ Contractual terms of the f inancial asset include cash 

f low s that are solely payments of principal and 

interest on the principal amount outstanding 

Carry held-to-maturity securities, loans held for 

investment, and trade receivables at amortized cost. 

Special rules apply for certain acquired loans w ith 

deterioration in credit quality (ASC 320-10-35-1, ASC 

310-10-35-41 through 35-42, ASC 825-10-35-1 through 

35-3, and ASC 310-30-35).  

Note : The guidance in ASC 310-10-35-41 through 35-

42, ASC 310-30 and ASC 825-10-35-1 through 35-3 is 

superseded w ith the effective date of ASU 2016-13, 

Financial Instruments ī Credit Losses: Measurement of 

Credit Losses on Financial Instruments . Some of the 

guidance w as moved to ASC 326.  

Financial assets are measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income if both of the follow ing are met 

(IFRS 9.4.1.2A): 

¶ Objective of business model is both collecting 

contractual cash f low s and selling f inancial assets, 

and 

¶ Contractual terms of the f inancial asset give rise on 

specif ied dates to cash f low s that are solely payments 

of principal and interest on the principal amount 

outstanding 

No similar requirement. 

If  more than an infrequent number of sales are made out 

of a portfolio, the entity needs to assess w hether and how  

such sales are consistent w ith an objective of collecting 

contractual cash f low s and thus classif ication at amortized 

cost (IFRS 9.B4.1.3). 

The length of the taint period under U.S. GAAP is not 

defined. The SEC uses a tw o year time frame. 

Transition for financial assets  

At the date of initial application of IFRS 9, an entity w ould 

determine if the objective of its business model for 

managing its f inancial assets meets the conditions noted 

above based on the facts and circumstances that exist at 

the date of initial application or if  the f inancial asset is 

eligible to be measured at fair value through profit or loss 

(IFRS 9.7.2.3). 

No similar requirement. 

At the date of initial application of IFRS 9, an entity may 

designate a f inancial asset at fair value through profit or 

loss or measure an investment in an equity instrument at 

fair value through other comprehensive income if the 

conditions below  are met (IFRS 9.7.2.8). 

No similar requirement. 

At the date of initial application of IFRS 9, an entity is to 

revoke a previous designation of a f inancial asset at fair 

value through profit or loss if the conditions noted below  

are not met or may revoke a previous designation of a 

f inancial asset at fair value through profit or loss if the 

f inancial asset meets the conditions below , based on the 

No similar requirement. 
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facts and circumstances at the date of initial application 

(IFRS 9.7.2.9). 

If  an entity previously accounted for an investment in an 

equity instrument that does not have a quoted price in an 

active market for an identical instrument at cost, measure 

the instrument at fair value at the date of initial application 

of IFRS 9. The difference betw een the previous carrying 

value and the fair value is recognized in opening retained 

earnings (IFRS 9.7.2.12). 

No similar requirement. 

Measurement on initial recognition 

An entity may designate a f inancial asset at fair value 

through profit or loss at initial recognition if doing so 

eliminates or signif icantly reduces a measurement or 

recognition inconsistency that occurs w hen assets or 

liabilities are measured or w hen gains or losses on those 

f inancial assets and f inancial liabilities are recognized on 

different bases (IFRS 9.4.1.5). 

An entity may elect to measure eligible f inancial assets 

at fair value ï fair value option (ASC 825-10-15-4). 

At initial recognition, an entity may make an irrevocable 

election to present in OCI, subsequent changes in the fair 

value of an investment in an equity instrument, not held 

for trading and not contingent consideration of an acquirer 

in a business combination under IFRS 3 (IFRS 9.5.7.5). 

All investments in equity instruments and contracts on 

those instruments are measured at fair value. In limited 

circumstances, cost may be an appropriate estimate of 

fair value (IFRS 9.B5.4.14). 

No similar requirement. 

 

 

 

 

 

Liabilities and equity instruments are recorded initially at 

the fair value of the property, goods, services, or other 

consideration received or at the fair value of the f inancial 

instrument issued, w hichever is more clearly 

determinable (ASC 835-30-25-10, ASC 505-50-30-6, 

and ASC 718-10-30-2). 

When a f inancial asset is recognized initially, an entity 

measures it at fair value plus, for a f inancial asset not at 

fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are 

directly attributable to the acquisition of the f inancial asset. 

(Upon adoption of IFRS 15, trade receivables w ithin the 

scope of IFRS 9.5.1.3 are excluded.) (IFRS 9.5.1.1). 

Upon adoption of IFRS 15, at initial recognition, measure 

trade receivable w ithout a signif icant f inancing component 

at transaction price (IFRS 9.5.1.3). 

Financial assets are recognized initially at fair value 

w hich may lead to the recognition of premiums and 

discounts on loans and debt securities acquired. Except 

for certain costs associated w ith certain lending activities 

and loan purchases, transaction costs that are directly 

attributable to the purchase of a f inancial asset are 

expensed as incurred (ASC 310-20-25-2 through 25-7). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 310-10-30). 

Subsequent measurement 

¶ After initial measurement, a f inancial asset is 

measured at fair value or amortized cost (IFRS 

9.5.2.1). 

¶ For f inancial assets measured at amortized cost, and 

not part of a hedging relationship, recognize the gain 

or loss w hen the f inancial asset is derecognized, 

impaired or reclassif ied (IFRS 9.5.7.2). 

Remeasure f inancial assets at fair value through 

earnings at fair value w ith gains and losses recognized 

in the income statement (derivatives see ASC 815-10-

35-1 to 35-3; hybrid f inancial instruments see ASC 815-

15-25-4; trading securities see ASC 320-10-35-1; equity 

securities previously accounted for under the equity 

method see ASC 321-10-35-1). 
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¶ For f inancial assets that are hedged items, apply 

hedge accounting requirements in IFRS 9.6.5.8-.14 

for fair value hedge accounting for a portfolio hedge 

of interest rate risk (IFRS 9.5.2.3). 

¶ The gain or loss on f inancial assets or f inancial 

liabilities that are hedged items in a hedging 

relationship are recognized under IFRS 9.6.5.8-.14 

for the fair value hedge accounting for a portfolio 

hedge of interest rate risk (IFRS 9.5.7.3). 

¶ Interest revenue is calculated by using the effective 

interest method by applying the effective interest rate 

to the gross carrying amount of a f inancial asset 

except for (IFRS 9.5.4.1): 

¶ Purchased or originated credit-impaired f inancial 

assets w here the credit-adjusted effective interest 

rate is applied to the amortized cost of the f inancial 

asset from initial recognition 

¶ Financial asset that are not purchased or originated 

credit-impaired f inancial asset but subsequently have 

become such ï apply effective interest rate to 

amortized cost of f inancial asset in subsequent 

periods 

¶ When the contractual cash f low s of a f inancial asset 

are renegotiated or modif ied and it does not result in 

derecognition of the f inancial assets, recalculate the 

gross carrying amount and recognize a modif ication 

gain or loss in profit or loss (IFRS 9.5.4.3). 

Carry held-to-maturity securities, loans held for 

investment, and trade receivables at amortized cost. 

Special rules apply for certain acquired loans w ith 

deterioration in credit quality (ASC 320-10-35-1, ASC 

310-10-35-41 through 35-42, ASC 825-10-35-1 through 

35-3, and ASC 310-30-35).  

Note : The guidance in ASC 310-10-35-41 through 35-42 

and ASC 310-30 is superseded w ith the effective date of 

ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses: 

Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments . 

Except as noted below , U.S. GAAP does not address 

how  a creditor recognizes, measures or displays interest 

income on a f inancial asset w ith a credit loss (ASC 310-

10-35-53A): 

¶ When recognizing interest income on purchased 

financial assets w ith credit deterioration w ithin the 

scope of ASC 326, do not recognize as interest 

income the discount embedded in the purchase 

price that is attributable to the acquirerôs 

assessment of expected credit losses at the date of 

acquisition. Accrete or amortize as interest income 

the non-credit-related discount or premium of a 

purchased financial asset w ith credit deterioration 

based on the guidance in ASC 310-20-35 or ASC 

325-40-35 (ASC 310-10-35-53B) 

¶ Recognition of income on purchased financial 

assets w ith credit deterioration is dependent on 

having a reasonable expectation about amount 

expected to be collected. Subsequent to purchase, 

an entity is not prohibited from placing f inancial 

assets on nonaccrual status, including use of cost 

recovery method or cash basis method of income 

recognition w hen appropriate (ASC 310-10-35-53C). 

Under U.S. GAAP, troubled debt restructurings are 

considered to be a continuation of the original 

lending agreement. The concept of troubled debt 

restructuring does not exist in IFRS Standards. Also, 

use of the nonaccrual method continues to be 

permitted under U.S. GAAP, but prohibited under 

IFRS Standards. 

Remeasure available-for-sale securities to fair value. 

Unrealized gains and losses are included (net of tax) in 

shareholderôs equity in OCI. All or a portion of the 

unrealized holding gain and loss of an available-for-sale 

security that is designated as being hedged in a fair 

value hedge is recognized in earnings during the period 

of the hedge. Realized gains and losses are reported in 

earnings (ASC 320-10-35-1). 
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Reclassification 

Financial assets are only reclassif ied w hen an entity 

changes its business model for managing those f inancial 

assets (IFRS 9.4.4.1). 

Reclassif ication of f inancial liabilities is prohibited  

(IFRS 9.4.4.2). 

Transfers into or from the trading category are to be rare 

(ASC 320-10-35-12). 

Reclassif ications are applied prospectively from the 

reclassif ication date (IFRS 9.5.6.1). 

Reclassif ications from amortized cost to fair value - 

determine fair value at reclassif ication date and any 

difference w ith previous carrying amount is recognized in 

profit or loss (IFRS 9.5.6.2). 

Reclassif ications from fair value through profit or loss to 

amortized cost - the fair value at the reclassif ication date 

is the new  carrying amount (IFRS 9.5.6.3). 

Reclassif ications from amortized cost into fair value 

through other comprehensive income ï measure fair value 

at reclassif ication date and gain or loss is recognized in 

OCI (IFRS 9.5.6.4). 

Reclassif ications from fair value through OCI to amortized 

cost ï measure fair value at reclassif ication date. 

Recognize cumulative gain or loss in OCI against the fair 

value (essentially as if  the f inancial instrument w as alw ays 

measured at amortized cost) (IFRS 9.5.6.5). 

Reclassif ications from fair value through profit or loss to 

fair value through OCI ï measure f inancial asset at fair 

value (IFRS 9.5.6.6). 

Reclassif ications from fair value through OCI to fair value 

through profit or loss ï continue to measure f inancial 

asset at fair value (IFRS 9.5.6.7). 

The follow ing are not considered reclassif ications  

(IFRS 9.4.4.3): 

¶ A derivative previously a designated and effective 

hedging instrument in cash f low  hedge or net 

investment hedge no longer qualif ies as such 

¶ A derivative becomes a designated and ef fective 

hedging instrument in a cash f low  hedge or net 

investment hedge 

¶ Changes in measurement under IFRS 9.6.7  

Transfers betw een categories are at fair value. 

Any gain or loss on transfer to trading is recognized in 

earnings. 

Any gain or loss on transfer to available-for-sale is 

included in OCI. 

Any gain or loss on transfer to held-to-maturity from 

available-for-sale is included in OCI (ASC 320-10-35-

10). 

Transfers from held-to-maturity to available-for-sale, 

carry over the amortized cost basis (ASC 320-10-35-15). 

For a transfer from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity, 

the difference betw een par value and fair value at date 

of transfer is amortized as an adjustment to yield  

(ASC 320-10-35-16). 

Derecognition 

IFRS 9 addresses derecognition specif ically in relation to 

f inancial instruments. The derecognition of f inancial 

assets occurs at the consolidated level (IFRS 9.3.2.1). 

ASC 860-10-40 sets forth the derecognition criteria for 

f inancial assets. 

Before determining if a f inancial asset is to be 

derecognized, consideration is given to w hether to apply 

The derecognition rules apply to transferred f inancial 

assets w hich is any of the follow ing: 



Comparison between U.S. GAAP and IFRS
 
Standards                                                                 133 

Financial instruments ï Recognition and measurement of financial assets 

 

 

 

© 2019 Grant Thornton LLP 
All rights reserved 
U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 
 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

the derecognition criteria to part of a f inancial asset (or 

part of a group of similar f inancial assets) or a f inancial 

asset (or group of similar f inancial assets), in its entirety 

based on the criteria in IFRS 9.3.2.3ï.9  

(IFRS 9.3.2.2). 

¶ An entire f inancial asset 

¶ A group of entire f inancial assets 

¶ A participating interest in an entire f inancial asset 

(ASC 860-10-40-4A and 40-4B) 

Assets are derecognized w hen, and only w hen  

(IFRS 9.3.2.3): 

¶ Contractual rights to the cash f low s from the f inancial 

asset expire, or 

¶ It transfers the f inancial asset as indicated below  and 

the transfer qualif ies for derecognition under IFRS 9  

An entity transfers a f inancial asset if  and only if  it either 

(IFRS 9.3.2.4): 

¶ Transfers the contractual rights to receive the cash 

f low s of the f inancial asset, or 

¶ Retains contractual rights to receive the cash f low s of 

the f inancial asset, but assumes a contractual 

obligation to pay the cash f low s to one or more 

recipients in an arrangement that meets the criteria 

below  

¶ When the entity retains the contractual rights to 

receive the cash f low s of a f inancial asset but 

assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash 

f low s to one or more entities, the entity treats the 

transaction as a transfer of a f inancial asset, if  and 

only if , all of the conditions in IFRS 9.3.2.5ï.6 have 

been met. 

When an entity transfers f inancial assets, evaluate extent 

it retains risks and rew ards of ow nership of f inancial asset 

based on criteria in IFRS 9.3.2.6ï.8.  

Whether an entity has retained control of the transferred 

assets depends on the transfereeôs ability to sell the 

asset. When the transferee can sell the asset, the 

transferor has not retained control of the transferred 

assets (IFRS 9.3.2.9). A transferee has the practical ability 

to sell the transferred asset: 

¶ If  it is traded in an active market because the 

transferee can repurchase the transferred asset in the 

market if  it needs to return the asset to the entity 

(IFRS 9.B3.2.7) 

¶ If  transferee can sell the transferred asset in its 

entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to 

exercise that ability unilaterally and w ithout imposing 

additional restrictions on the transfer (IFRS 9.B3.2.8) 

A transfer of a f inancial asset in w hich the transferor 

surrenders control over those f inancial assets is 

accounted for as a sale if  and only if  all of the follow ing 

conditions are met (ASC 860-10-40-4 through 40-5): 

¶ Transferred assets have been isolated from the 

transferor ï put presumptively beyond the reach of 

the transferor and its creditors, even in bankruptcy 

or other receivership 

¶ Transferee has the right to pledge or exchange the 

assets (or beneficial interests) received, w ithout any 

constraints 

¶ Transferor does not maintain effective control over 

the transferred asset 

A repurchase-to-maturity transaction is accounted for as 

a secured borrow ing as if the transferor maintains 

effective control (ASC 860-10-40-5A). This is similar to 

how  these transactions are accounted for under IFRS 

Standards even though the emphasis under IFRS 

Standards is on the transfer of the risks and rew ards of 

ow nership related to the f inancial asset and the 

emphasis under U.S. GAAP is control. 

When the transferor provides non-cash collateral to the 

transferee, account for the collateral based on guidance in 

IFRS 9.3.2.23. 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 860-30-25-5). 
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Transfers that qualify for derecognition 

When the entity retains the right to service the f inancial 

asset for a fee, recognize either a servicing asset or 

servicing liability for servicing contract (IFRS 9.3.2.10). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 860-50-25-1). 

The difference betw een the carrying amount at the date of 

derecognition and the consideration received (including 

any new  asset obtained or liability assumed) is recognized 

in profit or loss (IFRS 9.3.2.12-.13). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 860-20-40). 

Transfers that do not qualify for derecognition 

If the transfer doesnôt qualify for derecognition, continue to 

recognize the transferred assets in their entirety and 

recognize a f inancial liability for the consideration received 

(IFRS 9.3.2.15). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 860-30-25-2). 

A f inancial asset that does not qualify for derecognition is 

not offset against the associated liability (IFRS 32.42 and 

IFRS 9.3.2.22). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 210-20-45). 

Continuing involvement in transferred assets 

When an entity neither transfers nor retains substantially 

all the risks and rew ards of ow nership of the transferred 

asset, recognize the transferred asset to extent of 

continuing involvement, w hich is the extent to w hich the 

entity is exposed to changes in the value of the 

transferred asset (IFRS 9.3.2.16). The transferred asset is 

measured at the basis that reflects the rights and 

obligations that the entity has retained (IFRS 9.3.2.17). 

The transferor and transferee account for a transfer as a 

secured borrow ing w ith pledge of collateral in either of 

the follow ing (ASC 860-30-25-2): 

¶ Transfer of entire f inancial asset, or group of entire 

f inancial assets, or a participating interest in entire 

f inancial asset does not meet condition for sale in 

ASC 860-10-40-5 

¶ Transfer of a portion of an entire f inancial asset 

does not meet the definition of a participating 

interest 

The transferor continues to report the transferred 

f inancial asset in its statement of f inancial position w ith 

no change in the assetôs measurement. 

For assets recognized due to continuing involvement, also 

recognize the associated liability at the basis that reflects 

the rights and obligations that the entity has retained 

(IFRS 9.3.2.17). 

See guidance above on accounting for secured 

borrow ings. 

Continue to recognize income on the transferred asset to 

extent of continuing involvement and recognize any 

expense related to the associated liability (IFRS 9.3.2.18). 

See guidance above on accounting for secured 

borrow ings. 

Impairment ï Prior to the adoption of ASU 2016-13 (ASC 326) 

Apply impairment requirements in IFRS 9 Section 5.5 to 

f inancial assets measured at amortized cost or fair value 

through other comprehensive income (IFRS 9.5.2.2). 

Although the scope for applying the impairment 

requirements are similar under IFRS Standards to U.S. 

GAAP, there are some differences. 

For available-for-sale and held-to-maturity debt 

securities, if  an entity determines that a decline in fair 

value below  the amortized cost basis is other than 

temporary (ASC 320-10-35-18): 

¶ The cost basis of the individual security is w ritten 

dow n to fair value and the w rite-dow n is included in 
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Recognize a loss allow ance for expected credit losses on 

a f inancial asset measured at amortized cost or fair value 

through other comprehensive income, a lease receivable, 

a contract asset, or a loan commitment and a f inancial 

guarantee contract in accordance w ith IFRS 9.2.1(g), 

9.4.2.1(c), or 9.4.2.1(d) (IFRS 9.5.5.1). 

For f inancial assets measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income, recognize loss allow ance in OCI 

rather than reducing the carrying amount of the f inancial 

asset (IFRS 9.5.5.2). 

Maximum period to consider w hen measuring expected 

credit losses is maximum contractual period (including 

extension options) over w hich entity is exposed to credit 

risk and not a longer period, even if longer period is 

consistent w ith business practice (IFRS 9.5.5.19). 

Measure expected credit losses of a f inancial instrument 

to reflect (IFRS 9.5.5.17): 

¶ An unbiased and probability-w eighted amount 

determined by evaluating a range of possible 

outcomes 

¶ The time value of money 

Reasonable and supportable information available w ithout 

undue cost or effort about past events, current conditions, 

and forecasts of future economic conditions 

earnings for debt securities for w hich the entity 

determines that it intends to sell the debt security or 

the entity determines that it is more likely than not 

w ill be required to sell the debt security before 

recovery of its amortized cost basis (ASC 320-10-

35-30 through 35-33I and ASC 320-10-35-34 

through 34B) 

¶ If  the entity does not intend to sell the debt security, 

or it is not more likely than not that it w ill be required 

to sell the debt security before recovery of its 

amortized cost basis, then it separates the 

impairment into tw o components and recognizes 

any impairment related to credit loss in earnings 

w hile the other component is recognized in OCI, net 

of tax  

(ASC 320-10-35-34C through 35-34D) 

Note 1: The amendments in ASU 2016-01 removed the 

inclusion of equity securities in this guidance. The 

guidance on investments in equity securities is included 

in ASC 321. Except for certain securities, equity 

securities w ill be subsequently measured at fair value 

w ith unrealized gains and losses reported in earnings. 

Note 2: The guidance is superseded w ith the effective 

date of ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments ī Credit 

Losses: Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial 

Instruments. Some of the guidance w as moved to  

ASC 326. 

A loan is impaired w hen, based on current information 

and events, it is probable that a creditor w ill be unable to 

collect all amounts due according to the contractual 

terms of the loan agreement (ASC 310-10-35-16). 

IFRS 9 applies a single credit loss model to all f inancial 

assets. 

Unlike IFRS, U.S. GAAP has a different approach for 

available for sale debt securities. 

Impairment ï After the adoption of ASU 2016-13 (ASC 326) 

Apply impairment requirements in IFRS 9 Section 5.5 to 

f inancial assets measured at amortized cost or fair value 

through other comprehensive income (IFRS 9.5.2.2).  

Although the scope for implying the impairment 

requirements are similar under IFRS Standards to U.S. 

GAAP, there are some differences. 

Apply applicable impairment requirements to (ASC 326-

20-15-2 and ASC 326-30-15-2): 

¶ Financial assets measured at amortized cost 

¶ Net investments in leases recognized by a lesser 

under ASC 842 

¶ Off balance sheet credit exposures not accounted 

for as insurance (Off balance sheet loan 

commitments, standby letters of credit, f inancial 

guarantees not accounted for as insurance and 

other similar instruments except for instruments w ith 

ASC 815) 

¶ Debt securities classif ied as available-for-sale 

securities, including loans classif ied as such 
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Recognize a loss allow ance for expected credit losses on 

a f inancial asset measured at amortized cost or fair value 

through other comprehensive income, a lease receivable, 

a contract asset, or a loan commitment and a f inancial 

guarantee contract in accordance w ith IFRS 9.2.1(g), 

9.4.2.1(c), or 9.4.2.1(d) (IFRS 9.5.5.1). 

For f inancial assets measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income, recognize loss allow ance in OCI 

rather than reducing the carrying amount of the f inancial 

asset (IFRS 9.5.5.2). 

Maximum period to consider w hen measuring expected 

credit losses is maximum contractual period (including 

extension options) over w hich entity is exposed to credit 

risk and not a longer period, even if longer period is 

consistent w ith business practice (IFRS 9.5.5.19). 

Measure expected credit losses of a f inancial instrument 

to reflect (IFRS 9.5.5.17): 

¶ An unbiased and probability-w eighted amount 

determined by evaluating a range of possible 

outcomes 

¶ The time value of money 

Reasonable and supportable information available w ithout 

undue cost or effort about past events, current conditions, 

and forecasts of future economic conditions 

For f inancial assets noted above, except debt securities 

classif ied as available-for-sale: 

¶ Deduct the allow ance for credit losses from the 

amortized cost and present the net amount 

expected to be collected (ASC 326-20-30-1) 

¶ Measure expected credit losses on a collective 

(pool) basis w hen similar risk characteristics exist 

otherw ise evaluate expected credit losses on an 

individual basis, determined through various 

methods such as discounted cash f low , loss-rate, 

roll-rate, probability of default or methods that utilize 

an aging schedule (ASC 326-20-30-2 and 30-3)  

¶ When estimate of expected credit losses is based 

on a discounted cash f low  method, discount the 

expected cash f low s at the f inancial assets effective 

interest rate (ASC 326-20-30-4). If  another method 

is used, allow ance for credit losses reflects the 

entityôs expected credit losses of the amortized cost 

basis of the f inancial asset as of the reporting date 

over the contractual term of the f inancial asset (ASC 

326-20-30-5 and 30-6). Under IFRS Standards an 

entity is permitted to apply either the effective 

interest rate or an approximation of that rate w hen 

calculating expected credit losses. 

¶ Historical credit loss experience of f inancial assets 

w ith similar risk characteristics provides a basis for 

assessment, adjusted for current asset specif ic risk 

characteristics and extent management expects 

current conditions and reasonable and supportable 

forecasts to differ (ASC 326-20-30-8 and 30-9). 

Consider how  credit enhancements mitigate 

expected credit losses, including consideration of 

f inancial condition of guarantor, w illingness of 

guarantor to pay and w hether any subordinated 

interests are expected to be capable of absorbing 

credit losses (ASC 326-20-30-12). 

For off-balance sheet credit exposures, estimate 

expected credit losses in a similar manner as noted 

above, over the contractual period the entity is exposed 

to credit risk via a present contractual obligation to 

extend credit, unless obligation is unconditionally 

cancellable by the issuer (ASC 326-20-30-11). Under 

IFRS Standards, a f inancial asset that contains both a 

loan and an undraw n commitment, expected credit 

losses are measured over the period an entity is 

exposed to credit risk and expected credit losses are not 

mitigated by credit risk management actions, even if that 

period extends beyond the maximum contractual period 

(IFRS 9.5.5.20). 



Comparison between U.S. GAAP and IFRS
 
Standards                                                                 137 

Financial instruments ï Recognition and measurement of financial assets 

 

 

 

© 2019 Grant Thornton LLP 
All rights reserved 
U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 
 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

For purchased financial assets w ith credit deterioration 

(including purchased debt securities), add the allow ance 

for credit losses at the date of acquisition to the 

purchase price to determine the initial amortized cost 

basis (ASC 326-20-30-13). Subsequent measurement of 

the allow ance for credit losses is based on the guidance 

above (ASC 326-20-35-1). 

For available for sale debt securities, an investment is 

impaired if fair value of the investment is less than its 

amortized cost basis (ASC 326-30-35-1). See additional 

guidance below . 

Also, the time value of money is considered under U.S. 

GAAP in determining expected credit losses using 

amortized cost information but is not specif ically 

required. The current expected credit loss (CECL) under 

U.S. GAAP requires the collative evaluation of credit 

losses for f inancial instruments, w hich is allow ed under 

IFRS 9. How ever, IFRS 9 requires that an evaluation of 

credit losses also requires probability w eighted 

outcomes to be considered. 

At each reporting period, measure the loss allow ance for a 

f inancial instrument at the lifetime expected credit losses if 

credit risk has increased signif icantly since initial 

recognition (IFRS 9.5.5.3). The assessment is made on 

either an individual or collective basis, considering all 

reasonable and supportable information, including 

forw ard-looking information (IFRS 9.5.5.4). 

If  loss allow ance based on lifetime expected credit losses 

in previous period but in the current reporting period, 

those conditions are no longer met, measure loss 

allow ance at amount equal to 12 month expected credit 

losses (IFRS 9.5.5.7). 

For purchased or originated credit-impaired f inancial 

assets recognize the cumulative changes in lifetime 

expected credit losses since initial recognition as a loss 

allow ance, w ith certain exceptions (IFRS 9.5.5.13). 

In measuring expected credit losses, estimate of expected 

cash shortfalls reflects cash f low s expected from collateral 

and other credit enhancements that are part of the 

contractual terms and not recognized separately. The 

estimate of expected cash f low s considers the probability 

of a foreclosure and the cash f low s that w ould result from 

it (IFRS 9.B5.5.55). 

IFRS 9 applies a single credit loss model to all f inancial 

assets w hile U.S. GAAP has a different approach for 

available for sale debt securities. 

At each reporting date, record allow ance for credit losses 

on f inancial assets, including purchased financial asset 

w ith credit deterioration by comparing the current 

estimate of expected credit losses w ith estimate 

previously recorded. Report in net income amount 

necessary to adjust the allow ance for credit losses (ASC 

326-20-35-1). 

Evaluate w hether a f inancial asset in a pool continues to 

exhibit similar risk characteristics w ith other f inancial 

assets in the pool (ASC 326-20-35-2). 

Adjust at each reporting period estimate of expected 

credit losses on off -balance sheet credit exposures and 

report in net income the amount of the adjustment (ASC 

326-20-35-3). 

Regardless of initial measurement method, measure 

expected credit losses based on the fair value of the 

collateral w hen foreclosure is probable. Consider any 

credit enhancements that meet criteria in ASC 326-20-

30-12. (ASC 326-20-35-4). 

Entity may use fair value of collateral at reporting date 

for recording net carrying amount of asset and 

determining allow ance for credit losses for f inancial 

asset for w hich repayment is expected to be 

substantially through operation or sale of collateral w hen 

the borrow er is experience f inancial diff iculty. Adjust the 

fair value of the collateral for estimated costs to sell 

unless repayment depends on the operation and not the 

sale of the collateral (ASC 326-20-35-5). 
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For loans transferred to held-for-sale, measure a 

valuation allow ance equal to the amount by w hich the 

amortized cost basis, reduced by any previous w rite-offs 

but excluding the allow ance for credit losses, exceeds 

the fair value (ASC 326-20-35-7). 

Full or partial w rite-offs are deducted from the allow ance 

and recorded in the period f inancial assets are deemed 

uncollectible. Recoveries of amounts previously w ritten 

off are recorded w hen received (ASC 326-20-35-8). 

For debt securities classif ied as available-for-sale, 

including loans classif ied as such (ASC 326-30-15-2): 

¶ Measure the allow ance for credit losses for 

purchased financial assets w ith credit deterioration 

at the individual security level based on the 

guidance in ASC 326-30-30-3 through 30-10. The 

amortized cost is the purchase price and any 

allow ance for credit losses. Estimated credit losses 

are discounted at the present value of the 

purchaserôs estimate of the securityôs future cash 

flow s w ith the purchase price of the asset. An 

holding gain or loss is included in OCI, net of tax 

(ASC 326-30-30-2 through 30-4) 

¶ Investment is impaired if the fair value is less than 

its amortized cost basis (ASC 326-30-35-1). 

¶ Determine if decline in fair value below  amortized 

cost basis is the result of a credit loss or other 

factors. Record any impairment as an allow ance for 

credit losses. The allow ance is limited to the amount 

that fair value is less than the amortized cost basis. 

Impairment not included in the allow ance for credit 

losses is included in OCI, net of tax (ASC 326-30-

35-2). 

¶ If  entity intends to sell the security or more likely 

than not w ill be required to sell the security before 

recovery of its amortized cost basis, allow ance is 

w ritten off and amortized cost basis is w ritten dow n 

to fair value at reporting date w ith any incremental 

impairment reported in earnings (ASC 326-30-35-

10). Subsequent recoveries in fair value are not 

recorded (ASC 326-30-35-14). For securities w here 

impairment w as w ritten off, the difference betw een 

the new  amortized cost basis and cash f low s 

expected to be collected is accreted as interest 

income except for those securities accounting for 

under ASC 325-40. Signif icant increases in cash 

f low s expected to be collected or if  actual cash f lows 

are signif icantly greater than cash f low s previously 

expected, the changes are recorded as a 

prospective adjustment to yield. Subsequent 
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increases in fair value after a w rite dow n are 

recorded in OCI (ASC 326-30-35-15). 

For f inancial instruments w here the credit risk has not 

increased signif icantly since initial recognition, measure 

loss allow ance at an amount equal to the 12 month 

expected credit losses (IFRS 9.5.5.5). 

See guidance above. Although both methods for 

estimating expected credit losses under IFRS Standards 

and U.S. use an expected loss model, U.S. GAAP only 

recognizes the full amount of expected credit losses 

rather than the dual measurement of credit losses based 

on the level of credit deterioration under IFRS 

Standards. 

To measure signif icant increases in credit risk compare 

the risk of default occurring on the f inancial instrument at 

the reporting date w ith risk of default occurring as of the 

date of initial recognition and based on reasonable and 

supportable information available w ithout undue cost or 

effort (IFRS 9.5.5.9). 

See guidance above. 

If the contractual cash f low s on a f inancial asset have 

been renegotiated or modif ied and the f inancial asset is 

not derecognized, assess w hether there is a signif icant 

increase in the credit risk of the f inancial instrument 

(IFRS 9.5.5.12). 

An entity does not extend the contractual term for 

expected extensions, renew als, and modif ications unless 

it has reasonable expectations at the reporting date that 

it w ill execute a troubled debt restructuring w ith the 

borrow er (ASC 326-20-30-6). The concept of a troubled 

debt restructuring is not contemplated under IFRS 

Standards. 

Measure loss allow ance at amount equal to lifetime 

expected credit losses for (IFRS 9.5.5.15): 

¶ Trade receivables or contractual assets from 

transactions accounted for under IFRS 15, and that 

meet other criteria 

¶ Lease receivables from transactions accounted for 

under IAS 17 (or IFRS 16), under certain conditions 

See guidance above. 
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7.2  Recognition and measurement of financial liabilities and equity  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IFRS 9; IAS 32 and 39; IFRIC 17 and 

19  

Relevant guidance : ASC 210, 310, 405, 470, 480, 505, 

718, 815, 825, 835, and 845 

Introduction 

Financial liabilities include (IAS 32.11): 

¶ Contractual obligations to deliver cash or another 

f inancial asset to another entity or to exchange 

financial assets or f inancial liabilities w ith another 

entity under conditions that are potentially unfavorable 

to the entity 

¶ A contract that will or may be settled in the entityôs 

ow n equity instruments and meets certain other 

conditions 

A f inancial liability is a contract that imposes on one 

entity an obligation to do either of the follow ing: 

¶ Deliver cash or another f inancial instrument to a 

second entity 

¶ Exchange other f inancial instruments on potentially 

unfavorable terms w ith the second entity (ASC 

Master Glossary, ñFinancial liabilityò) 

A financial instrument, other than an outstanding share, 

that embodies an obligation to repurchase the issuerôs 

equity shares, or is indexed to such an obligation, and 

requires or may require the issuer to settle the 

obligation by transferring assets is classif ied as a 

liability (ASC 480-10-25-8). 

A f inancial instrument that embodies an unconditional 

obligation, or a f inancial instrument other than an 

outstanding share that embodies a conditional 

obligation, that the issuer must or may settle by issuing 

a variable number of its equity shares is classif ied as a 

liability if , at inception, the monetary value of the 

obligation is based solely or predominantly on one of 

the follow ing (ASC 480-10-25-14): 

¶ A f ixed monetary amount 

¶ Variations in something other than the fair value of 

the issuerôs equity 

¶ Variations inversely related to changes in the fair 

value of the issuerôs equity shares 

Initial recognition, measurement and classification 

Recognize a f inancial liability w hen and only w hen the 

entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. Classify the f inancial liability on initial 

recognition as indicated below  (IFRS 9.3.1.1). 

Most f inancial liabilities are measured initially at fair 
value (ASC 480-10-25). 

When a f inancial liability is recognized initially, an entity 

measures it at its fair value plus, in the case of a f inancial 

liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction 

costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 

f inancial liability (IFRS 9.5.1.1). 

Liabilities and equity instruments are recorded initially at 

the fair value of the property, goods, services, or other 

consideration received or at the fair value of the 

f inancial instrument issued, w hichever is more clearly 

determinable (ASC 835-30-25-10, ASC 505-50-30-6, 

and ASC 718-10-30-2 and 30-3). 

Debt issuance costs are reported in the balance sheet 

as a direct deduction from the face amount of the note, 

consistent w ith IFRS. Amortization of discount or 

premium is reported as interest expense for liabilities or 
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interest income for assets. Amortization of debt 

issuance costs are reported as interest expense (ASC 

835-30-45-1A, 45-3 and S45-1). Public entities may 

continue to defer and present debt issuance costs as an 

asset and subsequently amortize those debt issuance 

costs ratably over the term of line-of-credit 

arrangements regardless of w hether an amount is 

outstanding under the line-of-credit arrangement 

(ASC 835-30-S45-1). 

At initial recognition, an entity may irrevocably designate to 

measure a f inancial liability at fair value through profit or 

loss if the criteria in IFRS 9 are met (IFRS 9.4.2.2). 

An entity may elect to measure eligible f inancial 

liabilities at fair value ï fair value option (ASC 825-10-

15-4). 

Transition of financial liabilities  

At the date of initial application of IFRS 9, an entity based 

on the facts and circumstances in existence at the date of 

initial application (IFRS 9.7.2.9): 

¶ May designate a f inancial liability at fair value through 

profit or loss if the conditions below  are met 

¶ Revokes its previous designation of a f inancial liability 

measured at fair value through profit or loss if the 

conditions above are no longer met 

¶ May revoke its previous designation of a f inancial 

liability at fair value through profit or loss if conditions 

above w ere met 

No similar requirement. 

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities and equity 

All f inancial liabilities are classif ied and measured 

subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method, except for (IFRS 9.4.2.1): 

¶ Financial liabilities measured or designated at fair 

value through profit or loss 

¶ Financial liabilities from a transfer of a f inancial asset 

that does not quality for derecognition or there is 

continuing involvement 

¶ Financial guarantee contracts as defined in IFRS 9 

¶ Commitments to provide a loan at below -market 

interest rate 

¶ Contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business 

combination to w hich IFRS 3 applies as it is 

subsequently measured at fair value 

When a derivative f inancial instrument gives one party a 

choice over how  it is settled (e.g. the issuer or the holder 

can choose settlement net in cash or by exchanging 

shares for cash), it is a f inancial asset or a f inancial liability 

unless all of the settlement alternatives w ould result in it 

being an equity instrument (IAS 32.26). 

The follow ing liabilities are subsequently accounted for 

at fair value through earnings: 

¶ Derivatives classif ied as liabilities (see Section 7.3, 

ñRecognition and measurement of derivativesò) 

¶ Financial liabilities that are hybrid f inancial 

instruments that w ould be required to be bifurcated 

into a host and derivative component (ASC 815-15-

25-1) w hich the entity has irrevocably elected to 

measure at fair value (ASC 815-15-25-4) 

¶ Financial liabilities w ithin the scope of ASC 480 that 

are not covered by the guidance in ASC 480-10-35-

3 

Forw ard contracts that require physical settlement by 

repurchase of a fixed number of the issuerôs equity 

shares in exchange for cash and mandatorily 

redeemable f inancial instruments are subsequently 

measured in one of the follow ing tw o w ays (ASC 480-

10-35-3): 

¶ If  both the amount to be paid and the settlement 

date are f ixed, at the present value of the amount to 

be paid at settlement, accruing interest cost using 

the rate implicit at inception 



Comparison between U.S. GAAP and IFRS
 
Standards                                                                 142 

Financial instruments ï Recognition and measurement of financial liabilities and equity 

 

 

 

© 2019 Grant Thornton LLP 
All rights reserved 
U.S. member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd 
 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

¶ If  either the amount to be paid or the settlement 

date varies based on specif ied conditions, at the 

amount of cash that w ould be paid under the 

conditions specif ied in the contract if  settlement 

occurred at the reporting date, recognizing the 

resulting change in that amount from the previous 

reporting date as interest cost 

Any amounts paid or to be paid to holders of those 

contracts in excess of the initial measurement amount 

are reflected in interest cost (ASC 480-10-45-3). 

All other liabilities are subsequently carried at amortized 

cost. 

Redeemable preference shares are generally accounted 

for as liabilities w here they provide for mandatory 

redemption for a f ixed or determinable amount or give the 

holder the right to require the issuer to redeem 

(IAS 32.18). 

A mandatorily redeemable f inancial instrument is 

classif ied as a liability unless the redemption is required 

to occur only upon the liquidation or termination of the 

reporting entity (ASC 480-10-25-4). 

Recognize the gain or loss on f inancial liability designated 

at fair value through profit or loss (IFRS 9.5.7.7) as follow s: 

¶ Amount of change in fair value of f inancial liability 

attributable to changes in ow n credit risk of that 

liability in OCI (unless it creates an accounting 

mismatch and then include in profit or loss 

(IFRS 9.5.7.8) 

¶ The remaining amount of change in profit or loss 

If the accounting mismatch w ould be created or enlarged, 

present all changes in fair value, including the effects of 

changes in the credit risk of the liability in profit or loss. If  

the mismatch is not created or enlarged, present the 

effects of changes in the liabilityôs credit risk in OCI 

(IFRS 9.B5.7.8). 

Report unrealized gains and losses for items for w hich 

fair value option has been elected, in earnings  

(ASC 825-10-45-4). 

Recognize gains and losses on loan commitments and 

f inancial guarantees designated at fair value through profit 

or loss, in profit or loss (IFRS 9.5.7.9). 

Report unrealized gains and losses for items for w hich 

fair value option has been elected, in earnings  

(ASC 825-10-45-4). 

Split accounting is applied to compound instruments (such 

as convertible debt) that contain both a liability and an 

equity element. For convertible debt, the debt element is 

accounted for as a liability and the option to convert to 

equity is treated as an equity instrument (as long as option 

embedded is for a f ixed number of shares) (IAS 32.28-32). 

Generally, convertible debt w ith a nondetachable 

conversion feature is accounted for completely as debt. 

How ever, w hen convertible debt is issued at a 

substantial premium, the premium is treated as paid-in 

capital (ASC 470-20-25-3 and 25-13). In addition, w hen 

a nondetachable conversion feature is in the money at 

the commitment date, the embedded beneficial 

conversion feature is recognized and measured by 

allocating a portion of the proceeds equal to the intrinsic 

value of that feature to additional paid-in capital 

(ASC 470-20-25-4 through 25-7). 

Also, the issuer accounts separately for the liability and 

equity components of convertible debt instruments that 

have stated terms permitting settlement on conversion 
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either w holly or partially in cash or other assets in a 

manner similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 470-20-25). 

When the nondetachable conversion feature meets the 

definitions of a derivative (ASC 815-10-15-83 through  

15-139) and does not qualify for any exceptions  

(ASC 815-10-15-13 through 15-82) the embedded 

conversion feature is treated as a derivative liability 

(asset) (see Section 7.3, ñRecognition and 

measurement of derivativesò). 

Apply hedge accounting guidance in IFRS 9.6.5.8-.14 (or 

IAS 39.89-.94 for fair value hedge accounting for a 

portfolio hedge of interest rate risk) to a f inancial liability 

designated as a hedged item (IFRS 9.5.3.2). (See Section 

7.4, ñHedge accountingò if IFRS 9 is applied or Section 7.5, 

ñHedge accountingò if IAS 39 is applied). 

See Section 7.4 ñHedge accountingò. 

Offsetting 

A financial asset is offset against a f inancial liability w hen 

and only w hen an entity (IAS 32.42): 

¶ Currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the 

recognized amounts, and 

¶ Intends either to settle on a net basis or realize the 

asset and settle the liability simultaneously 

Offsetting of f inancial assets and f inancial liabilities is 

permitted only w hen (ASC 210-20-45-1 and 45-8 

through 45-9): 

¶ The parties ow e each other determinable amounts 

¶ There is a right and intention to set-off 

¶ The right of set-off is enforceable by law  

Effective interest method and distributions 

The effective interest rate is based on estimated cash 

f low s through the expected life of the instrument  

(IFRS 9 Appendix A). 

Similar to IFRS Standards, how ever, the effective 

interest rate is typically based on contractual cash f low s 

through the contractual life of the instrument (ASC 

Master Glossary ñEffective interest rateò). 

Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to f inancial 

instruments or a component that is a f inancial liability are 

reported in profit or loss (IAS 32.35A). 

Similar to IFRS Standards. 

Distributions to holders of a f inancial instrument classif ied 

as an equity instrument are recognized directly to equity 

net of any income tax benefit (IAS 32.35). 

For distributions of assets other than cash as dividends to 

ow ners, an entity measures a liability to distribute non-

cash assets as a dividend to its ow ners at the fair value of 

the assets to be distributed and recognizes in profit or loss 

any difference betw een the carrying amount of the assets 

distributed and the carrying amount of the dividend 

payable. The carrying amount of the dividend payable is 

adjusted at the end of each reporting period and at 

settlement and recognized as a change in equity 

(IFRIC 17.11 and.14). 

Similar to IFRS Standards. A distribution of 

nonmonetary assets to equity holders in a spin-off or 

other form of reorganization is based on the recorded 

amount of the nonmonetary assets distributed 

(ASC 845-10-30-10). 

A non-pro-rata split-off of a business segment is 

accounted for at fair value (ASC 845-10-30-12). Other 

non-reciprocal transfers of nonmonetary assets to 

ow ners is accounted for at fair value if fair value is 

objectively measureable and w ould be clearly realizable 

to the distributing entity in an outright sale at or near the 

time of the distribution (ASC 845-10-30-10). 
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Subsequent measurement 

The gain or loss on a f inancial liability measured at fair 

value is recognized in profit or loss unless  

(IFRS 9.5.7.1): 

¶ It is part of a hedging relationship 

¶ It is an investment in an equity instrument for w hich 

entity has elected to present gains and losses in OCI 

¶ It is a f inancial liability measured at fair value through 

profit or loss and the entity is required to present the 

effects of changes in the liabilityôs credit risk in OCI 

¶ It is a f inancial asset measured at fair value through 

OCI and the entity is required to recognize some 

changes in fair value in OCI based on the guidance in 

IFRS 9.5.7.10 

The gain or loss on a f inancial liability measured at 

amortized cost and not part of a hedging relationship is 

recognized in profit or loss w hen the f inancial liability is 

derecognized, impaired or reclassif ied under IFRS 9.5.6.2 

and through the amortization process (IFRS 9.5.7.2). 

The gain or loss on f inancial assets or f inancial liabilities 

that are hedged items in a hedging relationship are 

recognized under IFRS 9.6.5.8-.14 or IAS 39.89-.94 for the 

fair value hedge accounting for a portfolio hedge of interest 

rate risk (IFRS 9.5.7.3). 

The follow ing liabilities are subsequently accounted for 

at fair value through earnings: 

¶ Derivatives classif ied as liabilities (see Section 7.3, 

ñRecognition and measurement of derivativesò) 

¶ Financial liabilities that are hybrid f inancial 

instruments that w ould be required to be bifurcated 

into a host and derivative component (ASC 815-15-

25-1) w hich the entity has irrevocably elected to 

measure at fair value (ASC 815-15-25-4) 

¶ Financial liabilities w ithin the scope of ASC 480 that 

are not covered by the guidance in ASC 480-10-35-

3 

Forw ard contracts that require physical settlement by 

repurchase of a fixed number of the issuerôs equity 

shares in exchange for cash and mandatorily 

redeemable f inancial instruments are subsequently 

measured in one of the follow ing tw o w ays (ASC 480-

10-35-3): 

¶ If  both the amount to be paid and the settlement 

date are f ixed, at the present value of the amount to 

be paid at settlement, accruing interest cost using 

the rate implicit at inception 

¶ If  either the amount to be paid or the settlement 

date varies based on specif ied conditions, at the 

amount of cash that w ould be paid under the 

conditions specif ied in the contract if  settlement 

occurred at the reporting date, recognizing the 

resulting change in that amount from the previous 

reporting date as interest cost 

Any amounts paid or to be paid to holders of those 

contracts in excess of the initial measurement amount 

are reflected in interest cost (ASC 480-10-45-3). 

All other liabilities are subsequently carried at amortized 

cost. 

Derecognition  

Financial liabilities (or part of a f inancial liability) are 

derecognized w hen the obligation is extinguished, that is, 

w hen the obligation specif ied in the contract is discharged 

or cancelled or expires (IFRS 9.3.3.1). 

IFRIC 19 clarif ies the requirements for extinguishing 

f inancial liabilities w ith equity (debt for equity sw aps). 

A debtor derecognizes a liability if  and only if  it has been 

extinguished. A liability has been extinguished if either 

of the follow ing conditions is met (ASC 405-20-40-1): 

¶ The debtor pays the creditor and is relieved of its 

obligation for the liability. Paying the creditor 

includes delivery of cash, other f inancial assets, 

goods or services, or reacquisition by the debtor of 

its outstanding debt securities w hether the 

securities are canceled or held as so-called 

treasury bonds. 
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¶ The debtor is legally released from being the 

primary obligor under the liability, either judicially or 

by the creditor. 

No similar requirement. Prepaid stored-value products are products in physical 

and digital forms w ith stored monetary values that are 

issued for the purpose of being commonly accepted as 

payment for goods or services (ASC 405-20-40-3). For 

liabilities related to certain prepaid stored-value 

products (405-20-40-4) 

¶ If  an entity expects to be entitled to a breakage 

amount, the entity derecognizes the amount 

related to the expected breakage in proportion 

to the expected pattern of exercise of the 

product holderôs rights, limited to the extent 

that it is probable that a signif icant reversal of 

the recognized breakage amount w ill not 

subsequently occur.  

¶ If  an entity does not expect to be entitled to a 

breakage amount, the entity derecognizes the 

amount related to breakage w hen the 

likelihood that the product holder w ill exercise 

its remaining rights becomes remote.  

Both an exchange of debt instruments betw een an existing 

borrow er and lender of debt instruments w ith substantially 

different terms and the substantial modif ication of the 

terms of an existing liability, w hether or not attributed to the 

f inancial diff iculty of the debtor, are accounted for as an 

extinguishment of the original liability and the recognition 

of a new  liability (IFRS 9.3.3.2). 

If  the terms of the new  loan resulting from a loan 

refinancing or restructuring in w hich the refinancing is 

not itself a troubled debt restructuring are at least as 

favorable to the lender as the terms for comparable 

loans to other customers w ith similar collection risks 

w ho are not refinancing or restructuring a loan w ith the 

lender, the refinanced loan is a new  loan. This condition 

is met if  the new  loan's effective yield is at least equal to 

the effective yield for such loans and modif ications of 

the original debt instrument are more than minor. Any 

unamortized net fees or costs and any prepayment 

penalties from the original loan are recognized in 

interest income w hen the new  loan is granted 

(ASC 310-20-35-9). 

The difference betw een the carrying amount of the liability 

extinguished and the amount of consideration paid, 

including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 

assumed is recognized in profit or loss (IFRS 9.3.3.3). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 470-50-40-2). 

Treasury shares 

Under IAS 32, treasury shares are presented in the 

statement of f inancial position as a deduction from equity. 

Acquisition of treasury shares is presented as a change in 

equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the 

sale, issuance, or cancellation of treasury shares. 

Consideration paid or received is presented as a change in 

equity (IAS 32.33). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 505-30-45-1). 

How ever, any price paid in excess of the amount 

accounted for as the cost of treasury shares are 

attributed to the other elements of the transaction and 

accounted for according to their substance (ASC 505-

30-30-7 through 30-10). 
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7.3  Recog nition and measurement of derivatives  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance : IFRS 9 Relevant guidance : ASC 815 

Characteristics of derivatives 

A derivative instrument is a f inancial instrument or other 

contract w ith all of the follow ing characteristics  

(IFRS 9, Appendix A): 

¶ Its value changes in response to changes in a 

specif ied underlying 

¶ Requires no initial net investment or an initial 

investment that is smaller than w ould be required for 

other types of contracts w ith similar responses to 

changes in market factors 

¶ Settled at a future date (not required under U.S. 

GAAP) 

A derivative instrument is a f inancial instrument or other 

contract w ith all of the follow ing characteristics  

(ASC 815-10-15-83): 

¶ One or more underlyings and one or more notional 

amounts or payment provisions or both 

¶ Requires no initial net investment or an initial 

investment that is smaller than w ould be required for 

other types of contracts w ith similar responses to 

changes in market factors 

¶ The contract can be settled net (see below ) 

Under IFRS 9 the characteristics of a derivative do not 

require net settlement or notional amounts. Given the 

added U.S. GAAP requirements not found in IFRS 9, 

certain f inancial instruments may meet the definition of a 

derivative under IFRS Standards but not under U.S. 

GAAP. 

Under U.S. GAAP, one of the characteristics of a 

derivative is net settlement; specif ically that 

(ASC 815-10-15-83): 

¶ Its terms require or permit net settlement 

¶ It can readily be settled net by a means outside the 

contract, or 

¶ It provides for delivery of an asset that puts the 

recipient in a position not substantially different from 

net settlement 

Basic accounting requirements 

A financial asset is measured at fair value unless 

measured at amortized cost or fair value through other 

comprehensive income. Permitted to make irrevocable 

election at initial recognition to measure certain equity 

instruments to present changes in fair value in other 

comprehensive income (IFRS 9.4.1.4). Derivatives are 

classif ied at fair value through profit or loss. 

Derivative instruments are classif ied as assets and 

liabilities at fair value, except those designated as 

hedging instruments (ASC 815-10-25-1). 

One exception to measuring a f inancial liability at 

amortized cost is for f inancial liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss. Such liabilities, including derivatives 

that are liabilities, are measured at fair value (IFRS 

9.4.2.1). (See Section 7.1, ñRecognition and measurement 

of financial assetsò and Section 7.2, ñRecognition and 

measurement of financial liabilities and equityò for more on 

accounting for f inancial assets and liabilities at fair value 

through profit or loss.) 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 815-10-30-1, 35-1 and 

35-2). 

Embedded derivatives 

An embedded derivative is a hybrid contract that includes 

both a non-derivative host, w ith the effect that some of the 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 815-15-05-1 and ASC 

Master Glossary ñEmbedded Derivativeò). 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

cash f low s of the combined instrument vary in a similar 

w ay to a stand-alone derivative (IFRS 9.4.3.1). 

If  the hybrid contract includes a host contract that is not an 

asset w ithin the scope of IFRS 9, separate the embedded 

derivative from the host contract and account for it as a 

derivative if  (IFRS 9.4.3.3): 

¶ The economic characteristics and risks of the 

embedded derivative are not closely related to the 

economic characteristics and risks of the host 

¶ A separate instrument w ith the same terms w ould 

meet the definition of a derivative 

¶ The hybrid contract is not measured at fair value w ith 

changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss 

If a hybrid contract includes a host that is an asset w ithin 

the scope of IFRS 9, the requirements for classif ication 

are applied to the entire contract (IFRS 9.4.3.2). 

If  the embedded derivative is separated, the host contract 

is accounted for in accordance w ith other applicable IFRS 

Standards (IFRS 9.4.3.4). 

An embedded derivative is separated from the host 

contract and accounted for as a derivative if all of the 

follow ing met (ASC 815-15-25-1): 

¶ The economic characteristics and risks of the 

embedded derivative are not clearly and closely 

related to the economic characteristics and risks of 

the host contract, and 

¶ A separate instrument w ith the same terms as the 

embedded derivative is a derivative instrument 

¶ The hybrid instrument is not remeasured at fair 

value under GAAP w ith changes in fair value 

reported in earnings 

Although the criteria to separate an embedded derivative 

from a host contract if  the economic characteristics and 

risk of the embedded derivative feature are not closely 

related to the economic characteristics and risk of the 

host contacts are similar under IFRS Standards, IFRS 

Standards does not include descriptive guidance on the 

appropriate method to apply in determining w hether that 

criteria applies. Also, under IFRS 9 there is no longer a 

requirement to separate embedded derivative features 

from financial assets. 

If a contract includes one or more embedded derivatives 

and the host is not an asset w ithin the scope of IFRS 9, an 

entity may designate the entire hybrid contract at fair value 

through profit or loss, except under certain conditions 

(IFRS 9.4.3.5). 

Financial liabilities that are hybrid f inancial instruments 

that w ould be required to be bifurcated into a host and 

derivative component (ASC 815-15-25-1) that the entity 

has irrevocably elected to measure at fair value are 

accounted for at fair value through earnings  

(ASC 815-15-25-4). 

When an embedded derivative is required to be separated 

from the host but the embedded derivative cannot be 

measured separately either at acquisition or the end of the 

subsequent f inancial reporting period, designate the entire 

hybrid contract at fair value through profit or loss (IFRS 

9.4.3.6). 

The guidance and examples in ASC 815 are considered 

in determining w hether embedded derivatives need to be 

separated and carried at fair value through profit or loss. 

IFRS 9 and ASC 815 apply the criteria for determining 

w hether a f inancial instrument contains an embedded 

derivative differently. IFRS 9 Appendix B contains 

authoritative application guidance and examples that are 

to be considered in determining w hether embedded 

derivatives need to be separated and carried at fair value 

through profit or loss. The guidance and examples in 

ASC 815 are to be considered in determining w hether 

embedded derivatives need to be separated and carried 

at fair value through profit or loss. 

Although the criteria to separate an embedded derivative 

from a host contract if  the economic characteristics and 

risk of the embedded derivative feature are not closely 

related to the economic characteristics and risk of the 

host contacts are similar under IFRS Standards. IFRS 

Standards do not include descriptive guidance on the 
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IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

appropriate method to apply in determining w hether that 

criteria applies. 

Note: In July 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-11, 

Earnings Per Share (Topic 260), Distinguishing Liabilities 

from Equity (Topic 480), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 

815):I ï Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments 

with Down Round Features, II ï Replacement of the 

Indefinite Deferral for Mandatorily Redeemable Financial 

Instruments of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain 

Mandatorily Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests with a 

Scope Exception.  

Part I of the standard affects all entities that issue certain 

equity-linked instruments (or embedded features) that 

include dow n round features.  An entity does not 

consider the dow n round feature w hen assessing 

w hether the instrument is indexed to its ow n stock, but 

instead recognizes the effect of the feature on earnings 

per share, w hen it is triggered. 

The indefinite deferral in ASC 480-10 is changed to a 

scope exception. These previously deferred provisions 

relate to mandatorily redeemable f inancial instruments of 

certain nonpublic entities and certain mandatorily 

redeemable noncontrolling interests. The amendments in 

Part I of the update are effective for public business 

entities for f iscal years, and interim periods in those f iscal 

years, beginning after December 15, 2018. For all other 

entities, the amendments of Part I are effective for f iscal 

years beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim 

periods w ithin the follow ing year. Early adoption is 

permitted. 
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7.4  Hedge accounting  

Board project 

In 2018, the Board added a research project to its agenda on the interbank offered rate (IBOR) reform and its effects 

on f inancial reporting. The project w ill prioritize the analysis of accounting issues impacting f inancial reporting leading 

up to and after IBOR reform is enacted.  

FASB Projects  

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted Improvements to 

Accounting for Hedging Activities. The objective of the ASU is to better portray the economic results of an 

organizationôs hedging activities in the financial statements. In addition, the ASU simplifies the application of hedge 

accounting guidance in areas w here practice issues exist. Differences betw een U.S. GAAP and IFRS for hedge 

accounting remain. The amendments are effective for public business entities for f iscal years beginning after 

December 15, 2018. For all other entities the amendments are effective for f iscal years beginning after December 15, 

2019 and interim periods w ithin the follow ing year. Early adoption is permitted.  

In March 2018, the FASB added a narrow -scope project to its agenda to address issues raised by stakeholders 

related to the last-of-layer method added in ASU 2017-12. 

In October 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-16, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Inclusion of the Overnight 

Index Swap (OIS) Rate based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR) as a Benchmark Interest Rate for 

Hedge Accounting Purposes. The amendments permit all entities that elect to apply hedge accounting to benchmark 

interest rate hedges under ASC 815, to use the OIS rate based on SOFR as a U.S. benchmark interest rate in 

addition to the four eligible U.S. benchmark interest rates. The amendments are effective for entities that have not yet 

adopted ASU 2017-12 at the same time as the amendments in ASU 2017-02 are required to be applied. For public 

business entities that have adopted ASU 2017-12 the guidance in ASU 2018-06 is effective, in f iscal years beginning 

after December 15, 2018 and in interim periods w ithin those f iscal years. All other entities that have adopted ASU 

2017-12 should adopt the amendments in ASU 2018-16 in f iscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and in 

interim periods w ithin those f iscal years. Early adoption is permitted in any interim period upon issuance of ASU 

2018-16 if an entity already has adopted ASU 2017-12. Also in 2018, the FASB added a project to its agenda to 

consider changes to GAAP that might be necessary based on the market-w ide transition aw ay from LIBOR, including 

existing hedging relationships referencing LIBOR. 

Note: IFRS 9 allow s an entity to make an accounting policy election to either continue to apply the guidance in IAS 

39 or to apply the new  guidance in IFRS 9 for all of its hedge accounting. Therefore, w e have included the guidance 

in IAS 39 as compared to ASC 815 in Section 7.5 for entities that have made the election to continue to apply this 

guidance.  

 

IFRS Standards U.S. GAAP 

Relevant guidance: IFRS 9 and IAS 39  Relevant guidance: ASC 815 

Objective 

To present in the f inancial statements the effect of an 

entityôs risk management activities that use financial 

instruments to manage exposures from particular risks 

that could affect profit or loss (or OCI for investments in 

equity instruments under the fair value option)  

(IFRS 9.6.1.1). 

Special accounting for items designated as being 

hedged is provided only for qualifying items (ASC 815-

20-10-1). 

Scope 

Hedge accounting is purely optional but is only available 

to entities that have applied all of the requirements  

(IFRS 9.6.1.2). 

Similar to IFRS Standards (ASC 815-20). 

Note: In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, 

Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Targeted 

Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities. The 












































































































































































